# The European Identity crisis: Territoriality and the Self/Other Dichotomy

\*

A comparison of EU and Italian populist discursive practices







Vittoria di Canzio 14036908 ES3-3A

The Hague University of Applied Sciences Faculty of Management and Organisation European Studies Dissertation supervision: A. Grebner 6 January 2017





On title page: MoVimento 5 Stelle logo, n.d.; Lega Nord logo, n.d.

# **Executive Summary**

Post-structuralist theory has frequently been discarded because of its theoretical character, extremely pluralist approach and lack of problem-solving attitude (Edkins, 1999; Campbell, 2013; Harcourt, 2007). Indeed, the main claim of post-structuralism is that reality is a socially-constructed artefact which is shaped by discursive practices. That is how the powerful, which are themselves elusive and multiple, naturalise certain dichotomic orders and values through which reality is discerned. As a result, the relationship between the Self and the Other is vital for the affirmation of any identity. Starting from such premise, this paper attempted to answer the question: "How can the post-structuralist theory of the Self/Other dichotomy explain the European Union's current identity crisis?".

In order to provide a comprehensive answer, this paper first clarified how European Identity came to be conceived the way it is. This was done through critical discourse analysis and Foucault's genealogical method. As a result, this dissertation found out that the discursive construction of European identity is based on three main themes which have been iterated over the years: Christian roots, the Illuminist value of rationality and the idea of a free market. Moreover, the EU has been carrying out othering practices to affirm its identity by targeting the Balkans and its own past at first and, most recently, Turkey and the "new Islamic reality" (Andre, 2015, p.188).

Subsequently, the focus was brought on the definition and causes of the identity crisis the EU seems to be currently experiencing. It was found that six factors play a major role in this regard: the lack of a compelling common culture among Member States, the hybrid nature of the EU which determines its incapacity to act in certain crucial policy areas, the enlargement project, migrant flows, the sovereign debt crisis and, most importantly, citizens' retreat to nationalism and populism. Especially the latter proved to be an engaging development as populist parties are currently on the rise and opposing the EU in what seems to be a 'virtuous EU/extremist populism' dichotomy.

For such purpose, a case study on two Italian populist parties was created, namely Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle. It was found that both parties seem to use discourse to achieve territoriality through active citizenship. The same strive was retrieved in European elites' discourse, especially in relation to the project of enlargement. As a result, the EU's set of values and strategies proved to be comparable to its populist opponents. Indeed, though the EU and populists can be placed at two extremes of a dichotomic order, they are each other's fundamental components and neither can be rightfully attributed greater value without compelling discursive efforts to substantiate such choice.

# **Table of Contents**

xecutive Summaryll	11
ntroduction	1
Chapter 1 - Post-structuralism: identity construction as a game of power	4
1.1 The relevance of language and meaning	4
1.2 The discursive construction of reality	5
1.3 Power	6
1.4 Identity construction and subject positions	7
1.5 Binary oppositions	9
1.6 Deconstruction, archaeology and genealogy1	0
1.6.1 Deconstruction	0
1.6.2 Archaeology and genealogy	2
Chapter 2 - Methodology	4
2.1 Desk research: sources and reliability	4
2.2 Case study on Italian populism	6
2.2.1 Subject and sampling	7
2.2.2 Operationalisation and critical discourse analysis	7
Chapter 3 - The genealogy of European identity1	9
3.1 The "origins" of European Identity1	9
3.2 The discursive development of European integration	1
3.3 Who is Europe's Other?	3
3.3.1 The Balkans as the Other	3
3.3.2 Europe's own past as the Other24	4

	3.3.3 Turkey as the perfect Other and the EU as a normative power	24
	3.3.4 The "new Islamic reality" (Andre, 2015, p.188)	25
Cl	napter 4 - The European identity crisis	27
	4.1 The lack of compelling common culture and values	27
	4.2 The hybrid nature of the EU	29
	4.3 EU enlargement	31
	4.4 Migrant flows	32
	4.5 The sovereign debt crisis	34
	4.6 Detachment, nationalism, populism and Euroscepticism	36
	4.7 European discourse: the need for territoriality to strengthen identity markers	38
Cl	napter 5 - Case study: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle as reversed discourse	40
	5.1 Lega Nord	40
	5.1.1 Common history, rituals and symbols and their discursive construction	41
	5.1.2 The 'Padanian' identity	42
	5.1.2.1 Federalist Lega Nord	43
	5.1.2.2 Secessionist Lega Nord	44
	5.1.2.3 Padania nowadays	45
	5.1.3 Target electorate	46
	5.1.4 Lega Nord's political programme	48
	5.1.4.1 Anti-Immigrant, anti-Islam	48
	6.1.4.2 Euroscepticism	49
	6.1.4.3 Nationalism	50
	5.1.5 Strategies for success	50

5.2 MoVimento 5 Stelle	52
5.2.1 Context	53
5.2.2 M5S's populism	54
5.2.3 The Web as an identity marker	56
5.2.4 Electorate, values and innovations	57
5.2.4.1 Target electorate	57
6.2.4.2 The values of M5S	58
6.2.4.3 The party's innovation	60
5.2.5 M5S's political programme: the 2014 European Elections	61
5.2.6 Strategies for success	63
5.3 Lega Nord and M5S: old forms of territoriality in a globalized world	64
Chapter 6 - Territoriality and identity markers: the battlefield of contemporary Europe	66
6.1 The North-South divide	66
6.2 Cross-border cooperation and influence	68
6.3 Territoriality: enlargement and localism as moral duties	69
6.4 Racism and othering practices	70
6.5 Territoriality through values	73
6.5.1 Mobility in the EU	73
6.5.2 Christian conservativism as active citizenship for Lega Nord	74
6.5.3 Web communities as active citizenship for M5S	74
6.6 The "emotional power of territory" (Penrose, 2002, p.288)	75
6.7 The relevance of identity markers	76
6.7.1 Politics	76

6.7.2 Culture and mutual trust	77
6.7.3 Common history	78
6.8 New media to renew identity markers	78
Conclusions	80
References	84

#### Introduction

The aim of the European Union (EU), ever since the dawn of the European Coal and Steel Community (ECSC), has always been to create a unified territory of prosperity and peace (Buonanno & Nugent, 2013). In order to achieve such goal, as Green Cowles stresses, each Member State is bound to pool part of its sovereignty and allow the Union to harmonise legislation (Green Cowles, 2011). The European Union has therefore managed to create a complex system which unifies its states through common policies and still grants each member enough freedom to affirm its identity. However, states undoubtedly find themselves in particular relationships with each other, not necessarily dictated by trust and cooperation. This fosters phenomena such as Euroscepticism and nationalism (Bührmann, 2014).

It is enough to think about immigration policy which, in the wake of the refugee crisis, is currently sparkling debate among Member States which, as Bührmann highlights, resort to Other-oriented discourse (Bührmann, 2014). More recently, with Brexit, the threat of populism and nationalism has become concrete and led both states and citizens to question the legitimacy of the European project (Crisp, 2016). Indeed, As Weedon affirmed a little over 10 years ago, it is the rise of extreme parties that has brought identity issues back on the global political agenda (Weedon, 2004). Accordingly, populist parties in Europe have found the strength to create a common front and grow as a threatening Other to the identity of the EU.

Given the aforementioned premises, the central research question that this dissertation aims to answer is: "How can the post-structuralist theory of the Self/Other dichotomy explain the European Union's current identity crisis?". In order to provide a comprehensive answer, it is necessary to introduce three auxiliary sub-questions:

- According to post-structuralism, what is the importance of the Self/Other dichotomy for identity and sovereignty?
- 2. What do scholars mean by 'European Union's identity crisis' and what are thought to be its causes?
- 3. What phenomena does the EU's identity crisis generate on national level?

This paper will follow the post-structuralist approach for a variety of reasons. Firstly, post-structuralist theory stands for a critical means to question themes such as power and identity which is precisely the

objective of this dissertation (Finlayson & Valentine, 2005). In fact, as Campbell points out, post-structuralism engages in extensive criticism of identities, conceiving them as the product of dichotomising practices of social construction (Campbell, 2013). Secondly, despite the highly theoretical character of the approach, this dissertation aims to create renewed awareness of some assumptions that permeate the European political landscape (Edkins, 1999; Campbell, 2013; Harcourt, 2007). Thirdly, though this paper does not offer a problem-solving outlook per se, it presents itself as a tool to bring the attention on issues of identity and, possibly, stimulate further research to define more inclusive policies at all levels of governance (Borg & Diez, 2016).

The main findings deriving from such approach will be addressed throughout the following chapters which will aim to juxtapose European and populist identity building dynamics. This will be done to ultimately prove their similarities and guide the reader through a process of deconstruction. Such process will show that, indeed, the EU and populism can be placed at two sides of a socially-constructed 'Self-Other' dichotomic order in which the EU is attributed a higher value. However, populism is gaining a stronger grip among citizens and setting itself as their point of reference. Such order, as will be seen, is mainly built on values, identity markers and is generally permeated by the theme of territoriality which acts as this dissertation's red thread.

The prominence of discursive practices within the established dichotomic order will be proved as this paper will present critical discourse analysis (CDA) of both European and populist practices on themes such as immigration, the financial crisis, democratic legitimacy and, undoubtedly, the Other. Populist practices will be analysed in relation to two Italian populist parties: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle (M5S). The decision was made on the basis of their interpretation of the theme of territoriality which proves particularly of interest for this dissertation. In fact, Lega Nord has always based its political programmes on territoriality, to the extent that it created a strong community based on a fictitious country, Padania, which has been constantly re-territorialising. On the contrary, MoVimento 5 Stelle has built a strong common identity among its followers in a web-based extra-territorial space. This paper will show that such efforts can be compared to the European enlargement process while many of the arguments and othering practices put forward by populist parties are similar to the EU's.

In order to present the findings, this paper will firstly review the tenets of post-structuralism with a particular focus on power dynamics, binary oppositions, deconstruction and genealogy. Subsequently, the overall research methodology will be laid out. Afterwards, the genealogy of European identity will

be presented, which will be followed by an observation of the meaning and causes of the European identity crisis. This will be followed by a case study of Lega Nord and M5S's discursive practices and strategies. The subsequent chapter will bring European elites' and the populist parties' discourse together to compare it and retrieve similarities that will lead to this paper's conclusion.

# Chapter 1 - Post-structuralism: identity construction as a game of power

Post-structuralism is a critical approach that presents a peculiar standpoint on the relevance of language and meaning in the discursive construction of reality by the powerful (Reed, 2013). Though ascribing to the same premises, it constitutes a detachment from structuralism. In fact, whereas structuralism focuses on identifying patterns of behaviour, post-structuralism stresses the contingency of identities and their dependence on "signification" and "the big Other" (Belsey, 2002, p.66). From the latter depends the construction of identities, subject positions and binary oppositions, which poststructuralist analysis focuses on uncovering by means of deconstruction, archaeology and genealogy. By doing so, Krause Dornelles points out that post-structuralism aims to be "more realistic than realism" (Krause Dornelles, 2002, p.8). Each concept will be further developed in the following sections with the intent of determining the relevance of this approach to International Relations (IR) theories.

# 1.1 The relevance of language and meaning

As previously stated, post-structuralism owes much of its premises to structuralism. In fact, as stated by Belsey, it is from Swiss linguist Ferdinand de Saussure that the poststructuralist conception of language and meaning arises (Belsey, 2002). Saussure's work on semiotics focused much on the relationship between the "signified" and the "signifier", which, as remarked by Edkins, is thought to be purely discretionary (Edkins, 1999, p.24). According to Saussure, the relationship between the sound or the appearance of a text and its meaning does not stem from what Belsey defines as "referential" linguistic practices (Belsey, 2002, p.10). It is, on the contrary, the iteration of societal exclusionary practices that produces meaning (Finlayson & Valentine, 2005). This paper will return on this point further below.

Belsey stresses that such approach is also useful to determine how culture is generated through the establishment and iteration of meanings (Belsey, 2002). In fact, as stated by Derrida, "there is no event worthy of its name" (Thomassen, 2010, p.49). Language and meaning determine what things are and what they are not, in a system of values that is highly dependent upon the environment where meaning itself is developed (Edkins, 1999). Such environment, in Foucauldian terms, goes under the name of "episteme" and allows the organisation of speech and the production of "objects of knowledge" (Danaher et al., 2000, p.22-23). Given the arbitrariness of language and its constructive character, it

follows that, as remarked by Carta and Morin, meaning is accordingly "volatile, contingent, (...), and elusive" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.8). This, Weedon highlights, generates room for subjectivity, which, according to Belsey, is in contrast with the Cartesian and Enlightenment tradition of objective language originating from the subject (Weedon, 2004; Belsey, 2002).

As observed so far, language and meaning have an active role in shaping the perception of reality. The following section will bring a closer focus on the centrality of discourse in the construction of reality.

### 1.2 The discursive construction of reality

Danaher et al. define discourse as "language in action" (Danaher et al., 2000, p.31). Its productive character entails providing the subject with value-laden perceptions of reality (Danaher et al. 2000). This view is shared by Campbell, who stresses the "performative" aspect of discourse, as well as by Carta and Morin who, recalling Foucault, highlight how "rhetorical strategies" shape our perception of "social facts" (Campell, 2013, p.235 & Carta & Morin, 2013, p.2). In a similar way, Mihas highlights Foucault's belief according to which, as speech is uttered, values are attributed and reality is shaped (Mihas, n.d.). As a result, discourse can be seen as what Diaz describes as "replicated agency", the "only point of access to the real world" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.2). In fact, according to Carta and Morin, there is no distinction between the realm of thought and that of factuality because it is only through discourse that subjects can make sense of reality (Carta & Morin, 2013). Essentially, discourse can be seen as a practice through which meanings and identities are built and put in relation to each other (Campbell, 2013).

Given the above-mentioned premises, Smith affirms that the discursive construction of reality is far from mere theoretical exercise because discourse has a decisive function: to set exclusionary criteria against which actions and knowledge can be evaluated (Smith, 2002). Accordingly, Bialasiewicz and his colleagues shift the focus to IR. They point out that, thanks to discursive practices, states and institutions legitimise their strategies to their citizens in order to generate consensus on "social relations" as they are or want them to be (Bialasiewicz et al., 2007, p.406). Campbell highlights that, in present days, such task is delegated to the media that constantly establish social classifications to reinforce certain identities at the expense of others (Campbell, 2013).

According to Smith, the goal of discursive practices is to create "collective cultural identit[ies]". Through these, citizens will feel bound by shared memories from the past as well as by a sense of facing a

"common fate" (Smith, 1992, p.58). This is what Judith Butler defines as "performativity" (Weedon, 2004, p.6). Indeed, discourse can instil certain assumptions as natural truths through iteration and "citational practice" (Weedon, 2004, p.7). Nowadays, Peters remarks in Lyotard's words, capitalist discourse presents itself as the dominant discourse in the West. It has turned language into a "productive commodity", the latest expression of which is to be found in the development and naming of new technologies (Peters, 2001, p.48). The following section will explore how dominant discourse is established and how power is wielded in poststructuralist terms.

#### 1.3 Power

Post-structuralism, as stated by Mihas, constitutes a critique to "the pervasive Western metaphor that knowledge is power" which perpetrates the general Enlightenment idea of objectivity as the utmost principle in science and social studies (Mihas, n.d, p.133). However, Caterino argues, post-structuralism offers a perspective according to which "subjects [...] are formed by regimes of knowledge" (Caterino, 2008, para.15). In fact, Harcourt highlights, poststructuralist accounts bring a very close focus on what he calls the "'power/knowledge' critique" (Harcourt, 2007, p.22). Indeed, authors such as Foucault and Deleuze conceive dominance as the capacity to construct new meanings and have them rooted in society as an apparent natural order of things (Caterino, 2008).

Foucault based much of his work on the relationship between power and knowledge which he defines as "biopolitics" (Finkelde, 2013, p.1247). His main contribution revolves around the conception of power as "productive" (Edkins, 1999, p.53). Edkins and Reed remark that, according to Foucault, power should not be intended as repressive: instead, it must be regarded as the force that produces "rituals of truth" through discourse (Edkins, 1999, p.53; Reed, 2013). Campbell highlights that from this perspective, power is "disciplinary" because it imposes limitations on subjects through exclusive discourse (Campbell, 2013, p. 234). It dictates what one is and what one is not, thus favouring the production of consensus (Campbell, 2013). Carta and Morin argue that such idea of power is closely related to Gramsci's concept of hegemony in the sense that they both conceive power as a tool to ensure "organisation of consent" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.8).

The power attributed to discursive practices by Foucault may recall tyranny at first glance. However, Foucault's idea is not that of power wielded by an identifiable person. On the contrary, as Reed points out, Foucault repeatedly stressed his conception of "power as diffuse and anonymous" (Reed, 2013,

p.197). Moreover, Danaher et al. characterise power as "mobile and contingent" (Danaher et al., 2000, p.71). Carta and Morin highlight that according to Foucault, power is not complete as such, it is an "ongoing productive creation of shared knowledge" which, in turn, generates identities (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.5).

Schmidt affirms that it is of utmost importance to acknowledge that power only exists in relation to difference and to each stratum of society. In fact, not only elites and political actors engage in discursive practices among themselves, but also in relation to their public in order to create what Mihas names "master narratives" (Schmidt, 2010; Mihas, n.d., p.126). The environment in which such practices take place is what Finlayson and Valentine call the "sphere of culture" (Finlayson & Valentine, 2005, p.6). In such sphere, political legitimation is defined (Finlayson & Valentine, 2005; Carta & Morin, 2013).

The poststructuralist conception of power recalls Habermas's idea of "language as 'medium of domination and social force'" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.6). However, multiple times Foucault highlighted the dependent nature of power on struggle and resistance (Weedon, 2004). Moreover, Belsey points out that power, in poststructuralist terms, is easy to transfer. This is so because subjects are free to alter the mainstream system of meanings by establishing a more compelling narrative (Belsey, 2002). This can happen through what Foucault calls "reversed discourses": a way to defeat oppression by the dominant group through opposing discourse (Weedon, 2004, p.17). Reversed discourses, according to Slavoj Žižek, empower the subject to subvert the order of the "established political doxa" and to produce new fields of knowledge and perceptions of reality (Finkelde, 2013, p.1247; Danaher et al., 2000).

# 1.4 Identity construction and subject positions

This paper has previously made reference to identity and subject positions. These are produced by discursive practices and struggles of power (Weedon, 2004). This section of the paper will lay out in detail poststructuralist accounts in relation to current debates on the concept of identity. In fact, as stressed by Weedon, identity issues are crucial in the West, both when it comes to dealing with the aftermath of colonialism and when societies are faced with migration inflows (Weedon, 2004). In this context, Belsey agrees, people's need for belonging and identification rises as a consequence of general confusion (Belsey, 2002; Weedon, 2004).

Both Belsey and Weedon suggest a certain uniqueness to identity, Belsey asserting that "identity implies sameness" and Weedon affirming that, through identification, subjects can find their "stable core" (Belsey, p. 2002; Weedon, 2004, p.1). This is exactly what post-structuralism rejects: as Caterino points out, in poststructuralist terms, identity is constituted by difference (Caterino, 2008). As Belsey remarks, post-structuralism places the construction of the subject outside of the subject itself (Belsey 2002). This, Harcourt argues, directly contrasts phenomenological existentialism, according to which it is the subject that lays down the criteria for his understanding of the world (Harcourt, 2007).

Poststructuralist identity is "fluid, dynamic, shifting and variant" as well as "multiple" and "multidimensional", based on certain categories that discern the "Self" from the "Other" (a point that will be highlighted in the next section) (Kouhpaeenejad & Gholaminejad, 2014, p.200). Dolan also remarks the divided nature of poststructuralist identity since he considers it to be the "site of struggle" where competing discourses take place and shape the subject (Dolan, 1989, p.60). As a result, Belsey points out, "the subject of poststructuralism is neither unified nor an origin", clearly representing a break from the Western philosophical tradition (Belsey, 2002, p.65).

Campbell relates poststructuralist accounts of identity to IR. He affirms that identity construction is necessary for the survival of a state: it can be achieved through the iteration of discursive practices (Bteddini, 2008). Such practices, Weedon points out, can involve "education, the media, sport and state rituals" with the aim of building a "temporary fixing" and give subjects something to identify with (Weedon, 2004, p.155 & p.19). In this regard, Bteddini sees in nationalism the goal of successful political discourse (Bteddini, 2008). In fact, nationalism, he follows up, generates strong feelings in an "imagined political community" which is nothing but a "cultural artefact" (Bteddini, 2008, p.115).

Peterson and Hellström argue that political actors do not hesitate to refer to a common past binding the nation together, thus making history become "the centrepiece of identity" (Petersson & Hellström, 2003, p.238). This corroborates the thesis according to which "ideology leads to identity" (Kouhpaeenejad & Gholaminejad, 2014, p.199). Given the fluid character of identities, politically speaking, post-structuralism leans towards what Chueh defines as "politics of difference" in acknowledging the plurality of societal structures (Chueh, 2000, p.149). In fact, even national identities are by no means stable and attached to a geographical territory anymore. Instead, they are "a kind of becoming" and a "global interplay" (Kouhpaeenejad & Gholaminejad, 2014, p.200).

Breakwell points out that views similar to the poststructuralist one have been endorsed by the "Identity Process Theory" according to which identity is a product of social interaction (Breakwell, 2004, p.28). In fact, poststructuralist accounts conceive the subject as a product of discursive practices which take place in society. These shape categories that enable subjects to identify themselves as well as to differentiate themselves from the outside (Borg & Diez, 2016). The next section will elaborate on the formation of such categories.

# 1.5 Binary oppositions

Hansen remarks that identity, in poststructuralist terms, is a concept based on difference, the so called "self-other oppositions" (Hansen, 2002). In fact, Caterino acknowledges, poststructuralist accounts are charged with what he defines as "ethics of otherness" through the writings of Derrida, Nancy, Lyotard and Levinas (Caterino, 2008, para.7). All of these thinkers, Fagan highlights, have focused their work on underlining the essential relation between the subject and the Other, in which the first depends on and retains a certain responsibility towards the Other (Fagan, 2013). As for depending on the Other, Belsey affirms, the objective wields a certain amount of power on the subjective because it contributes to shape its identity (Belsey, 2002). As for retaining a responsibility to the Other, Der Derian points out that the subject's task is to acknowledge the diversity of and necessity for the Other in order to find his or her own identity (Fagan, 2013).

As Caterino points out, identity needs difference to be meaningful (Caterino, 2008). Campbell concurs that identity is based on "rendering the unfamiliar in the terms of the familiar" (Campbell, 2013, p.238). The inevitable result of this, as Belsey remarks, is the creation of categories with which the subject can identify (Belsey, 2002). Such categories form a dichotomic system of binary oppositions that Foucault defines as "regulatory ideals" (Chueh, 2000). These categories, according to Jacques Lacan, besides being a result of discursive practices, are embedded in language itself: they are pre-existing and independent from the subject (Belsey, 2002). In fact, Edkins remarks, language and discourse attribute value (Edkins, 1999). More practically, Diez highlights that one cannot identify oneself as European without acknowledging the difference between Europe and Asia. Moreover, Diez continues, in poststructuralist terms, the Other is present every time one identifies him or herself (Diez, 2004).

The interdependence between the Self and the Other is further explained by highlighting that, in order to strengthen itself, identity always needs to convert the Other into a threat, a view also shared by

Deleuze (Peters, 2001). This creates a system of "oppressive hierarchy" (*Identity Politics*, 2016, para.7). This view is adopted by Derrida who conceives binary oppositions to be "always hierarchic" (Belsey, 2002, p.75). Derrida called this process of establishing dichotomies as an apparently obvious order "logocentrism" (Krause Dornelles, 2002, p.9). In fact, as Edkins remarks, discourse, hence "identity", "sutures the subject into the structure" (Edkins, 1999, p.22).

Levinas points out that categories form labels with a "rhetorical force" (Bernasconi, 2005, p.200). This, Bernasconi continues, allows traditions to be established and unites identities into communities (Bernasconi, 2005). The production of labels through the identification of Self/Other dichotomies has been brought into the realm of IR by Campbell who defined it as "rhetoric of insecurity" (Bteddini, 2008, p.114). Through this, states justify their choices and legitimise their actions to ultimately shape national identity (Bteddini, 2008). Therefore, Borg and Diez argue, othering practices are a state's absolute need that may never be fulfilled because of their very nature (Borg & Diez, 2016).

States are capable of bringing othering practices to an extreme. Edkins calls this "securitisation" and Diez defines it as constructing the "Other as an existential threat" (Edkins, 1999, p.11; Diez, 2006, p.16). Such phenomenon, Levinas argues, is generated by contact with outer cultures which hold different systems of values that upset our "complacency" (Bernasconi, 2005, p.149). The encounter with other cultural systems is described by Foucault as an "exotic charm" to highlight how such opposition is vital for identity formation (Danaher et al., 2000, p.13). Acknowledging this, according to Žižek, is the key to reaching political balance because it prevents totalitarian forces from gaining power as well as Western democracy's endo-colonizing strives from homogenising all cultures (Belsey, 2002).

Hansen points out that binary oppositions might suggest the existence of antagonist relations according to the poststructuralist standpoint. However, the focus of post-structuralism is to uncover the oppositions and investigate the ways in which they come into being (Hansen, 2002). It does so through deconstruction, archaeology and genealogy which will be explained in the following section.

# 1.6 Deconstruction, archaeology and genealogy

#### 1.6.1 Deconstruction

Much scholarly speculation as well as criticism have been dedicated to the poststructuralist technique of deconstruction. Strong supporter and theorizer of deconstruction is Jaques Derrida who, according to Finkelde, was inspired by Heidegger's "destruction of philosophy's tradition" (Finkelde, 2013,

p.1245). However, Nazer remarks that deconstruction is much closer to analysis than destruction (Nazer, n.d). In fact, deconstructive practices focus on the analysis of taken-for-granted texts to identify the binary oppositions that shape reality (Campbell, 2013). The outcome of this is a better understanding of the world which, in turn, will lead to the acceptance of the boundaries that make us who we are, hence a renewed respect towards the Other (Borg & Diez, 2016). Moreover, Levinas argues that deconstructive practices allow subjects to become conscious of their innate othering mechanisms (Bernasconi, 2005).

As Campbell and other authors highlight, deconstruction is a sort of reversed process in which the analyst overturns the binary oppositions that constitute his or her conception of reality. In order to do so, the analyst must first acknowledge the value that is attached to each side of the binary opposition in question, and subsequently demonstrate the interdependence of the two terms, thus the fragility of the exclusive hierarchical order on which reality is based (Campbell, 2013; Finlayson & Valentine, 2005; Mann, 1994). Deconstruction, in short, aims to prove how the Self is pervaded by the Other (Belsey, 2002).

For the purpose of giving deconstruction a concrete dimension, Derrida introduced the concept of *Differance*. Based on the Western prioritisation of spoken word as more virtuous than written text, Derrida explains how the spoken word 'differance' presents no dissimilarities with the word 'difference'. Only when written, the subject can indeed see a difference in the two words (Belsey, 2002). Derrida's conclusion is that the written constitutes the spoken and the hierarchies established by the West are nothing but constructed (Belsey, 2002; Edkins, 1999).

Through deconstruction, it is possible to understand how certain discourses became dominant, whose interests were involved and how certain historical constructions have come to be regarded as natural (Belsey, 2002; Harcourt, 2007; Aydın-Düzgit, 2014). Moreover, Dolan argues that it is possible to establish a link between deconstructive practices and the political realm. The ways in which meanings came to be attributed and power structures were formed "are intensely political projects" (Dolan, 1989, p.64). This view is sided by Critchley who sees an ethical aspect to deconstruction. In fact, Critchley argues, deconstruction helps subjects question the legitimacy of their cultural, social and political systems leading to resistance and reversed discourse (Fagan, 2013).

Following such arguments, Carta and Morin point out that "society becomes a totally open discursive field" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.8). Deconstruction, in fact, does not aim to deprive reality of all meanings. Rather it must be regarded as a tool to acknowledge the processes through which "myth converts history into nature" (Belsey, 2002, p.31).

#### 1.6.2 Archaeology and genealogy

Deconstruction is a theme which was also developed by Foucault through his concepts of *archaeology* and *genealogy*. The aim of these approaches is to find out how "history is universalized" to establish certain beliefs as natural conditions (Belsey, 2002, p.29). Through archaeology, Foucault's goal is to explore society's historical background to discover what discursive practices have been imposed in the past that make present reality acceptable to subjects (Danaher et al., 2000). Foucault highlights that archaeology is basically about "exposing [...] networks of interacting relationships" which have brought subjects to accept a certain discourse as undeniable truth (Finkelde, 2013, p.1247).

Harcourt highlights that archaeology helps subjects become conscious of the irrationality of reality. Once that assumption is established, it is possible to proceed with genealogy (Harcourt, 2007). According to Danaher and his colleagues, like archaeology, genealogy involves discovering those previous power struggles that have currently brought certain values and forms of knowledge to the forefront (Danaher et al., 2000). However, Foucault's aim in this context is to reveal the inconclusive nature of history, without any claim to provide an explanation (Foucault, 1974).

Foucault opposes the discursive construction of history as a causal continuous flow. On the contrary, he argues, history is "a process of rupture, deviation and contingency" (Finkelde, 2013, p.1246). Discourse, Finkelde affirms, is the only force that steers the advancement of history and the construction of subjects (Finkelde, 2013). History, consequently, is the product of power struggles among discourses that gain and lose their dominant positions (Krause Dornelles, 2002). In the end, historical heritage is just a "narrative" and an "an assemblage of faults" with no identifiable beginning (Chueh, 2000).

The genealogical approach has been frequently accused because of its lack of concreteness in asking questions about "meta-theory" (Campbell, 2013, p.227). However, Manners explains that it has been increasingly considered in IR analysis during the past two decades (Manners, 2006). This is so, Borg and Diez argue, because it is useful to account for states' "desire for bounded identities" and the violent

political consequences deriving from it (Borg & Diez, 2016, p.138). In the end, Campbell argues, genealogy represents an awareness-raising tool to question power/knowledge relations (Campbell, 2013).

In order to bring a more concrete focus, Chapter 3 will apply genealogy, and the ideas discussed so far, to the much discussed concept of European Identity. The following chapter will lay out in detail the research methodology adopted for this paper.

# **Chapter 2 - Methodology**

Research was conducted to apply the post-structuralist theory of the Self/Other dichotomy and investigate whether the EU's identity crisis is linked to its Member States' changing self-perception. Firstly, for the sake of clarity, scholarly views on the meaning, causes and consequences of the 'European identity crisis' were investigated. Subsequently, it was attempted to find out the extent to which nationalist discursive practices set aside Member States' self-perception as integral parts of the EU's bigger whole. In order to narrow down a research focus that would otherwise prove inconclusive, it was decided to build a case study to explore the discursive practices of two Italian populist parties: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle. A particular focus was brought on their impact on Italian national politics. Finally ,their discourse was compared to the practices carried out by the EU. This was done in order to investigate whether a link can be established between the overall EU's identity crisis and populist rhetoric.

More precisely, the following sections will firstly lay out how desk research was conducted. Secondly, the criteria and rationale adopted to build this dissertation's case study will be reviewed. Finally, a particular focus will be brought on discourse analysis.

#### 2.1 Desk research: sources and reliability

Overall, given the theoretical approach of the dissertation, extensive qualitative research was conducted. Namely, for the purpose of establishing a solid theoretical framework, books were consulted and documentary research was conducted through online and offline resources. Mainly secondary documents were consulted, which, as Mogalakwe remarks, build on existing primary sources by commenting, citing and elaborating (Mogalakwe, 2006). More specifically, academic documents were considered such as papers and journal articles, following proper evaluation, as suggested by Macdonald (Macdonald, 2001). Research featured works by prominent post-structuralist scholars (such as Foucault and Campbell) as well as later thinkers and commentators. The aim of this was to gather in-depth information on the post-structural conceptualization of 'identity', with related arguments and counterarguments, and ultimately provide an analysis of the EU's identity crisis in the light of such theories.

Specifically, in order to answer sub-question 1 and 2, a wide range of journal articles, books and academic papers were consulted. The articles elaborated on the theme of European identity. More in

detail, the subjects addressed were: the factors that challenged the EU's stability over the past decade, general mechanisms of identity politics, theoretical speculations on how national identity coexists with European identity, European symbols and their meaning for European identity, EU enlargement and the overall impact of Euroscepticism. The books that were consulted approximately covered similar topic areas with a further accent on migration issues and territoriality brought by authors such as professor Anna Triadafyllidou and sociologist Willfried Spohn. Finally, academic papers ranged from working papers, lecture transcripts and PhD theses which complement, with a critical approach and a fresh outlook, pre-existing literature on themes of European identity.

At that stage of research, primary sources were scarcely used. However, some newspaper articles, reports from the European Commission and a speech transcript were well-suited to elaborate on European discourse concerning its self-perception. Instead, a larger use of primary sources was made in order to build the case study on populist movements and answer sub-question 3. Such sources include the parties' statutes, social media posts, videos of Lega Nord's speeches at the European Parliament, Lega Nord's 'chronicles', the movements' website pages and political programmes. Consulting such sources was essential in order to retrieve information on the parties' discursive practices. To complement this set of sources, research also focused on a number of newspaper articles reporting on Lega Nord's and M5S's statements as well as on one academic paper by Sinan Celiksu based on first-hand experience within Lega Nord. Such paper proved particularly helpful to investigate Lega Nord's structure and racist attitude.

All sources for this dissertation were retrieved in physical libraries, online databases and websites. Assessing the reliability of books and journal articles did not constitute a challenge as journals were peer reviewed and books were either published by university press (eg. Oxford University Press, Cambridge University Press and Open University Press) or by highly reliable publishing houses such as Routledge, Rowman & Littlefield, the Copenhagen Peace Research Institute and Giangiacomo Feltrinelli Editore. The publications that were considered for this dissertation mostly date from 2002 onwards as research presented a close focus on the EU as it is nowadays, with an emphasis on post-enlargement dynamics. However, sources dating back to previous years were not discarded in the process of investigating the theoretical aspects of identity building. In fact, it was found that most of contemporary research on identity building is strongly rooted in previous accounts.

As far as websites and newspaper articles are concerned, a distinction is to be made between the sources employed in the case study and those mentioned throughout the rest of the dissertation. Generally, close attention has been paid in assessing the reliability of websites and the reputation of news outlets. As a result, sources consulted range from The Stanford Encyclopaedia of Philosophy and the Cise (Italian Centre for Electoral Studies) to The Guardian, The Independent, La Repubblica and CNBC. However, exclusively in the case study, some sources were consulted which might have presented biased information. These were the movements' political programmes, social media statements and website pages. Such sources, as Yin highlights, are particularly suitable in order to build case studies as they represent primary sources (Yin, n.d.). These sources were not excluded because research aimed to measure citizens' perception and support of the discursive practices promoted by populist parties. As a result, bias and one-sidedness expressing clear approval of populist arguments were deemed acceptable and addressed critically.

#### 2.2 Case study on Italian populism

Given the broad scope of this dissertation, it was deemed appropriate to concretise its results through a case study which would investigate populist discursive practices as opposed to the ones carried out by European elites. Case study was preferred as a methodology for a variety of reasons: firstly, as Rowley remarks, case studies allow to conduct a "deeper and more detailed investigation" (Rowley, 2002, p.17). Indeed, as will be specified in the following section, one of the objectives of this dissertation was to perform critical discourse analysis (CDA) in order to study the successful strategy of populism. This necessarily required gathering in-depth qualitative information.

Moreover, as Yin and Rowley remarked, though frequently associated with less valuable research methods, case studies, if conducted critically, represent an adequate tool in order to answer "how or why question[s]" (Rowley, 2002, p.17). This is exactly the aim of this paper, as its main research question specifies. Finally, as Zainal points out, case studies are useful research tools when it comes to researching the behaviour of certain subjects, especially if part of a large sample (Zainal, 2007). Indeed, as previously mentioned, a case study was conducted in order to bring a narrower and more concrete focus to this dissertation.

One could argue that by narrowing down the research focus, opportunities for generalisation would be equally reduced (Zainal, 2007). However, the aim of this dissertation is not to retrieve a universal

pattern among populists. The objective is to verify the application of the post-structuralist Self-Other dichotomy to a crisis situation within the EU. A case study, in this regard, is purely instrumental.

# 2.2.1 Subject and sampling

As expressed above, the subjects that were chosen for the case study are two Italian populist parties: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle. The first is an extreme right party characterised by a strong xenophobic and anti-European component that has undergone changes over the years which prove particularly interesting for the developments of this paper. The latter, instead, is an extreme left party which, however, refuses to position itself on the left-right political spectrum. Because of its innovative take on Italian politics, its wide consensus and its approach to territoriality, M5S was chosen to side Lega Nord in the case study.

The decision to focus on Italian politics stemmed from various considerations among which is the author's cultural and linguistic background which is more suited to retrieve nuances of meaning in discourse. However, the parties were also deemed as fitting the overall research design as they constitute a strong, highly supported, anti-European front with a widening public engaged in promoting their worldview. These are exactly the strengths that, research highlighted, place populism in the limelight. As a result, in can be stated that the case study was based on "purposeful sampling" (Luborsky & Rubinstein, 1995, para.42).

In solely choosing two populist parties, this paper applied what Guetterman names "critical case sampling" in order to retrieve and provide more in-depth information (Guetterman, 2015, para.3). Moreover, Lega Nord and M5S constitute the strongest foothold of populism in Italy thus having a substantive influence on national politics and holding seats in the European Parliament. Finally, the parties were chosen as they position themselves at two opposite, equally interesting sides with similarities and divergences which prove stimulating for discourse analysis.

#### 2.2.2 Operationalisation and critical discourse analysis

CDA was chosen as an approach to prove what Rowley calls the "internal validity" of the case study (Rowley, 2002, p.20). Indeed, the aim, as seen in this paper's concluding chapter, was to establish a relationship in which "certain conditions" (the European identity crisis) "lead to other conditions" (populist reversed discourse) (Rowley, 2002, p.20). In order to successfully accomplish this, proper

operationalisation was carried out. The objective of this was to retrieve identity markers and main themes in anti-establishment discursive practices.

As suggested by Wodak and Meyer, this paper's CDA focused on "lexical style (...), topic choice, speech acts (...), rhetorical figures" (Wodak & Meyer, 2001, p.26). Once such goals were established, CDA was initiated. Wodak and Meyer report that such method is highly "eclectic" (Wodak & Meyer, 2001, p.29). This allows authors to select the preferred themes and procedures in order to achieve results, as long as these are sound (Wodak & Meyer, 2001). Accordingly, this paper combined some of the approaches that were suggested by Wodak and Meyer and Wodak et al.

Firstly, a broad focus was brought on what Wodak and Meyer name the "semantic macrostructures", hence the main topics addressed (Wodak & Meyer, 2001, p.26). Subsequently, meanings were analysed in order to discover "implications, presuppositions (...), omissions", keeping in mind the context in which they were expressed (Wodak & Meyer, 2001, p.26). Indeed, such approach can be synthetized in three steps which this paper has followed. Following Wodak et al., such steps are: content analysis, the analysis of discursive "strategies" and "the forms of linguistic realisation" (Wodak et al., 2009, p.188). Such steps were not considered individually but integrated.

CDA was not limited to the case study: it was also used to retrieve patterns of discursive practices concerning European elites. Such patterns were compared to the ones retrieved in the populist parties considered. However, this was performed by paying attention to chronological and thematic consistency.

# **Chapter 3 - The genealogy of European identity**

Much debate has concerned issues of European Identity, however this section will bring a closer focus on its discursive construction according to poststructuralist principles, without exploring all sides of scholarly interpretation.

Firstly, it is relevant to begin with Diez's remark according to which the European Union has grown to be identified with 'Europe' despite the lack of geographical correspondence between the polity and the continent (Diez, 2004). In particular, Diez mentions the case of Switzerland and Russia. Russia is a country that is seen as European up until the Urals, which represent themselves historically-constructed borders, but that presents no membership to the EU (Diez, 2004). In the same way, Pinto affirms, "European identity is being increasingly associated with the European Union" (Pinto, 2006, p.723).

Secondly, the above mentioned identifying practice, Cinpoes argues, is the result of a top-down elitist effort and represents a landmark for the construction of European identity by political actors. In fact, it helps create "myths of common descent" that present noticeable affinities with the ways national identities are shaped (Cinpoes, 2008, p.5). Borg and Diez lay out a similar argument and put national and European identity construction on the same level in poststructuralist analysis (Borg & Diez, 2016).

Thirdly, Petersson and Hellström affirm Commissioners should be regarded as the creators of the master narrative of European identity (Petersson & Hellström, 2003). However, the discursive construction of the "historical myths" of European Identity can be retrieved in the speech and text of national politicians, as well as media and education (Cinpoes, 2008, p.6).

Once the above premises have been laid out, the following sections will proceed to highlight the genealogy of European Identity. The sections will retrieve the discursive practices concerning the origins and development of European Identity that led to present-day perceptions of the EU.

# 3.1 The "origins" of European Identity

Though considered a weak bond for effective identity construction, Cinpoes, Smith and Winn agree that the discursive production of European Identity is rooted in Christian ethics (Cinpoes, 2008; Smith, 1992; Winn, 2000). This, reflects in a variety of acts such as the 1975 "Tindermans Report" which remarks the importance of solidarity among European citizens (Öner, n.d., p.6). Consequently,

Ntampoudi highlights how various "normative and regulatory practices" in the EU have aimed to create "equal opportunities for all" and "solidarity with weakest members" (Ntampoudi, 2014, p.5). Furthermore, solidarity has been enclosed in the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union which recites: "the Union is founded on the indivisible, universal values of human dignity, freedom, equality and solidarity " (Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union, 2000, Art.21, para.1). Finally, as Checkel and Katzenstein point out, Christian Democratic political ideals have had a major role in shaping "the continental European welfare state" (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009, p.15).

Enlightenment is one more trope that recurs in European discourse. Cinpoes points out that "civil right tradition, democracy and the rule of law" are all principles which are iterated in European identity discourse (Cinpoes, 2008, p.9). In fact, Winn argues, Enlightenment is a phenomenon which influenced Europe as a whole and that therefore represents a commonality in the vastness of the European cultural tradition (Winn, 2000). This, for example, is mirrored in President of the European Commission Romano Prodi's statement in 2003 according to which European principles were "inherited from the Age of Enlightenment" (Kølvraa, 2010, p.11). This, he affirmed, would represent a strength for the EU's position in an ever globalized world (Kølvraa, 2010). The aim was to construct a reality in which Member States would not feel threatened by the supranational character of the EU. On the contrary, references to a "Golden Age" would sparkle faith in the European project as a "better whole" (Petersson & Hellström, 2003, p.243-244).

Finally, as highlighted by Sidaway and Pryke, ideals related to the Free Market have permeated the construction of the EU as a polity and its identity. In fact, they continue, as early as in 1776, Adam Smith affirmed the "market model" can be considered an identity marker in Western cultures (Sidaway & Pryke, 2001). Andre therefore points to the Founding Fathers of the European Community and their strive to assemble a union of nations bound by a common market (Andre, 2015). Through the establishment of the ECSC, Monnet and Schuman managed to construct "peace and stability" (Petersson & Hellström, 2003, p.242). Such idea has been echoing in European discourse throughout the years. This is stressed by Kølvraa through Commissioner Margot Wallström's words. In 2007, she expressed gratitude to the Founding Fathers of the European Communities as those who managed to transform Europe from a theatre of war to a place where states would "cooperate [..] to settle their divergences in a consensual way" (Kølvraa, 2010, p.9).

The aforementioned themes seem to meet scholarly consensus on the most recurring arguments constituting the discourse on European Identity. The following section will highlight the development of discourse concerning European Identity over the years.

#### 3.2 The discursive development of European integration

In the attempt to draw up a timeline of the discursive practices linked to the process of European integration, Cinpoes, Held and McNally identify three major turning points: World War II, the Cold War and the 1990s return to a democratic balance. Cinpoes and Delanty agree on the post-war construction of the European Economic Community (EEC) as a form of cooperation among sovereign states in response to the disastrous consequences brought about by the world conflict (Cinpoes, 2008; Held & McNally, 2015). Öner, in Bruter's words, sees the EEC in such period as an "international cooperation" project (Öner, n.d., p.4). In this context, the construction of the EEC resulted to be a sole political effort. In fact, as Andreatta highlights, reasons for unification were linked to a renewed sense of trust among Member States and to an urgent need for a functioning welfare state (Andreatta, 2011). As Robert Cooper puts it, the signing of the Treaty of Rome in 1956 sanctioned "a highly developed system for interference in each other's domestic affairs" (Andreatta, 2011, p.37).

The second turning point was identified by Held and McNally with the Cold war, while more specifically, Cinpoes refers to the 1980s (Held & McNally, 2015; Cinpoes, 2008). According to Cinpoes, the most relevant development in European discursive practices coincides with the elimination of the adjective "economic" from the denomination of the European Community (EC) (Cinpoes, 2008). The tangible consequences of this, he continues, were a shift from "cooperation to interdependence" among Member States, as well further integration and the introduction of new policies (Cinpoes, 2008, p.6). Checkel and Katzenstein convene that such policies, combined with the tension brought about by the Cold war, fostered negative integration, hence the further reduction of barriers to movement of goods and services (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). As a result, Öner sees the EC during such period as a "policy making project" and an "institutionally consolidated system" (Öner, n.d., p.3).

With regards to the previously discussed timeframe, Biegon expresses the development of two discursive modes within the European Union: the first took place between 1973 and 1984, while the second evolved between 1985 and 1990. As for the first period, Biegon refers to "the narrative of functionalist Europe" in which discourse was mainly focused on the "economic and social challenges"

of a globalized world, primarily addressing political elites (Biegon, 2013, p.202). Subsequently, Biegon continues, there was a focus on what she calls "the narrative of European Identity". The discursive practices that developed involved the establishment of symbols (i.e. the European Flag, European Anthem and academic exchange programmes) in order to create a sense of cohesion among the people of Europe as well as a "cultural community" (Biegon, 2013, p.204). Furthermore, references to the USA as characterised by a "poor cultural tradition" were frequent in order to strengthen the more solid history of Europe (Biegon, 2013, p.205).

As Ntampoudi points out, it is during the 1980s that the issue of a European Identity started to concern elites and their discursive practices (Ntampoudi, 2014). As a result, the involvement of the European people started to be seen as necessary for the establishment of a European Identity. Consequently, the concept of "European Social Model" was firstly introduced by Jaques Delors, even though efforts to build a European Identity date back to the 1973 Declaration on European Identity (Ntampoudi, 2014, p.5). This provided a strong contrast with other political systems (such as the USA and the EC's own past) in which market-based policies were predominant (Ntampoudi, 2014).

At the same time, Kølvraa argues, the Community witnessed the death of Jean Monnet in 1979. This established discursive practices based on what he calls "EU's 'symbolic politics'" which brought the Founding Fathers of the European project to the forefront in the construction of European identities (Kølvraa, 2010, p.9). As Petersson and Hellström highlight, the Founding fathers have often been exploited for rhetorical purposes in order to generate history and "legitimise and guide the EU in the present". (Kølvraa, 2010; Petersson & Hellström, 2003, p.237).

From the 1990's, Cinpoes, Held and Mc Nally, and Biegon argue, one more shift in discursive practices took place. This coincided with the Maastricht Treaty's redefinition of the EC as the European Union (Cinpoes, 2008). A closer focus was brought on the democratic legitimacy of the European project through what Biegon calls the "narrative of democratic Europe" (Biegon, 2013, p.205). The consequences of this were the introduction of the concept of European citizenship, as highlighted by Cinpoes, as well as the popularization of new themes such as "citizenship" and "communication" (Biegon, 2013, p.206).

While Cinpoes holds that in this period more social policies were established, Held and McNally argue that the EU did not effectively respond to the growing issues concerning the economy as well as society

itself (Held & McNally, 2015). Finally, Manners highlights, the introduction of the Common Foreign and Security Policy by the Treaty on the European Union, contributed to establish the EU's international identity as a polity based on values of "democratic conditionality" and the respect of human rights (Manners, 2001, p.15).

#### 3.3 Who is Europe's Other?

From a poststructuralist point of view, the EU is the field in which discursive practices compete to shape perceptions of European identity within and without the polity (Manners, 2006a). As a result, all the above mentioned ways in which the European Union has identified itself necessarily entail carrying out othering practices. In fact, as remarked by Derrida, European integration could be seen as a "journey towards the other" (Manners, 2006, p.86). Scholarly contribution to the debate is vast, however the most recurring theories will be illustrated.

#### 3.3.1 The Balkans as the Other

As mentioned in the previous section, the atmosphere of the Cold War had a noticeable effect on the development of the European Community by placing the USSR at the other side of the dichotomic order (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). However, Checkel and Katzenstein argue, once the Cold War ceased, so did the binding force that would keep Europe together (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). On the contrary, according to Kratochvíl, Russia kept constituting a valid Other for Europe because of the country's position in the discourse of its "partner countries" (Kratochvíl, 2009, p.6). It is, in fact, European discursive efforts towards such states that, according to Smith shaped European Identity after 1989 (Smith, 2002).

Smith specifies that through the establishment of the 1993 Copenhagen Criteria for accession, the EU's efforts have aimed to establish the Balkans as the Other by remarking their communist past and economic backwardness against the Western "functioning market economy" (Smith, 2002, p.654). The result of this was a dichotomic order in which Eastern Europe stood for the "repository of negative characteristics" while Western Europe built its "self-congratulatory image" (Smith, 2002, p.654 & p.664).

#### 3.3.2 Europe's own past as the Other

Once the focus shifted to social policies and identity issues, there were frequent references to Europe's own past as the Other (Biegon, 2013). This thesis finds broad acceptance among Manners, Weedon, Kølvraa and Diez. These authors see a certain self-reflexive character to this approach and acknowledge the strength of such othering practice (Manners, 2001; Weedon, 2004; Kølvraa, 2010; Diez, 2004). According to Ole Wæver, Manners points out, continuous reference to a European past full of violence and bloodshed constitutes a strong force that could bind the EU into a powerful "European international identity" (Manners, 2001, p.4). Accordingly, Weedon highlights, history provides current political speech with a variety of powerful symbols (Weedon, 2004). Discourse linked to history, according to Wæver, creates "fragmentation/integration dichotomies" that naturalise the idea that European integration is only destined to advance while fragmentation will necessarily bring Europe back to the horrors of the Holocaust (Kølvraa, 2010, p.10).

#### 3.3.3 Turkey as the perfect Other and the EU as a normative power

Opposed to the self-reflexive othering practices laid out above, scholarly also focuses on exclusionary practices aimed at building the EU as a normative power, domestically and internationally. One of the cases that are made in this regard is the relationship between the EU and Turkey (Diez, 2006; Öner, n.d). Diez defines this kind of othering as "geopolitical" (Diez, 2004, p.320). In fact, he stresses how Cyprus's accession to the EU was characterised by discursive practices which highlighted the country as "the cradle of European civilization" and "the birthplace of Aphrodite" with no emphasis on its broad Muslim community (Diez, 2004, p.328). On the other hand, Diez reports, Turkey has been at the centre of exclusionary practices because of its geographical position and because of its cultural tradition. Diez remarks that Turkey therefore constitutes the perfect Other, "constructed as the Muslim enemy in front of the gates of Europe" (Diez, 2006, p.21).

More instances in which the EU has been constructed as a normative power include, according to Manners, the Union's close attention to human rights and the deriving acts such as the European Convention of Human Rights and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. These have placed the EU at the forefront in the defence of human rights globally (Manners, 2006). Moreover, Borg and Diez point out, the various association agreements that the EU has been stipulating can also be seen as the result

of an effort to constitute the Union as a normative power. In fact, such agreements are forged with the promise of contributing to the creation of more stable and democratic regimes (Borg & Diez, 2016).

#### 3.3.4 The "new Islamic reality" (Andre, 2015, p.188)

Most recently, Petersson and Hellström suggest, a new trend is rising that addresses othering practices towards Muslim communities within and without the EU (Petersson & Hellström, 2003). Such change, Andre argues, was brought about by globalisation and migration flows which have enriched Europe with a new cultural background. However, Andre continues, such background has met the resistance of a society which shares the tradition of Christianity and "secular democracy" promulgated by the Founding Fathers of the EU (Andre, 2015, p.183). Manners, through Dider Bigo's words, highlights that the institutional response of the EU to such threat is to be found in the Schengen agreement and the Dublin regulations which connected migration issues to the field of security (Manners, 2006). Such securitising trend, Borg and Diez point out, was already detected in the 1990's by Delanty who affirmed European identity was being constructed on populist anti-Islam premises (Borg & Diez, 2016).

Diez points out how, according to Campbell, constructing Islam as the Other has proved to be a successful move in legitimising European identity, especially after 9/11 and the terrorist attacks in Madrid (Diez, 2004). In fact, Muslims came to be regarded as a threat located outside of European borders, despite the numerous Muslim population living within the Union itself (Diez, 2004). Weedon highlights that media coverage of Muslim minorities is undoubtedly fostering the creation of a dichotomic order in which Islamic communities are represented as "extreme, fundamentalist, often violent and more primitive" (Weedon, 2004, p.16). In short, Andre points out, Europe is faced with "a new Islamic reality" which is generating questions and causing governments and EU institutions to search new ways of legitimising their identity (Andre, 2015, p.188).

In the light of the latest developments, the EU is faced with what Checkel and Katzenstein describe as a generally perceived lack of identity in which dominant discursive practices are shifting from elitist efforts to build a cohesive and peaceful union to populist arguments of "Europe for Europeans" (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). Moreover, they point out, elites are starting to acknowledge the issues revolving around the construction of European identity based on arguments of common history (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). Smith remarks that growing consciousness is developing around the

actual diversity that pervades the European people and that differentiates them from the Other placed both inside and outside of the Union (Smith, 1992).

Despite the ongoing hostile context, the Commission does not seem to drop the project of a European identity, like Pinto remarks. On the contrary, educational programmes are being set up with the aim of teaching young generations how to handle "discrimination, exclusion, racism and xenophobia" (Pinto, 2006, p.727). Finally, Winn speculates, European identity should neither be sought in discursive practices that look up to Europe's golden age, nor in discriminating arguments. Instead, the focus should be on the EU's common fate in a globalised world characterised by "multi-tiered power centres" (Winn, 2000, p.33). Yet, what seems to prevail is a general notion of European identity crisis which will be reviewed in the following chapter.

# **Chapter 4 - The European identity crisis**

In 2012, Francis Fukuyama stated: "The EU is undergoing a life-threatening crisis" (Fukuyama, 2012, para.2). According to him, just as relevant as the financial crisis that was hitting Europe at that time, was a fundamental loss of purpose and objectives throughout Europe, a view also held by Ntampoudi (Fukuyama, 2012; Ntampoudi, 2014). This, Fukuyama continues, represented a meaningful defeat as Europeans shifted their focus away from values of solidarity and mutual support which are at the basis of the EU's system of beliefs (Fukuyama, 2012). Such phenomenon can also be observed in a view held by Jean-François Lyotard according to whom postmodern societies are plunged in a "crisis of narratives" deriving from the iteration of Enlightenment ideals of "meaning, truth, emancipation" (Peters, 2001, p.42).

According to Lyotard, as a result of societal development, transformations are occurring which question such ideals as well as the status of knowledge and the activities linked to it (i.e. analysis and communication) (Peters, 2001). Bteddini remarks that current developments are causing a shift in how values and threats are defined within European society. In fact, he concurs, national identities are not the sole repositories of identity construction anymore and 'the foreigner' does not determine otherness per se. On the contrary, identity is increasingly shaped in relation to an Other that threatens "within and across" the national territory (Bteddini, 2008, p.116) Such feelings of precariousness raise debate around the meaning of European identity and the causes that led to its crisis (Weedon, 2004).

As far as European identity is concerned, various arguments are put forward. For instance, Ntampoudi attributes the crisis to enlargement policies, changes in the institutional outlook of the EU, society's discontent with the functioning of the polity and the financial crisis (Ntampoudi, 2014). Held and McNally attribute the European crisis to Greek financial weakness, migration flows and Islamic fundamentalism (Held & McNally, 2015). The following sections highlight the most recurrent themes in current scholarly debates.

#### 4.1 The lack of compelling common culture and values

According to Breakwell, a degree of sameness is a prerequisite for effective identity and community construction (Breakwell, 2004). Foucault highlights that discourse can construct categories through which culture and norms are created and subjects can identify themselves (Belsey, 2002). Following

the same line of thought, Fukuyama indicates a failure by the EU to create a cohesive community with consequent Member States' retreat to their national sphere (Fukuyama, 2012). This, Cinpoes argues, would not necessarily represent a threat because European citizens could simultaneously hold a national and a post-national identity. The issue, he continues, lies in the fact that Member States and supranational institutions are in a situation of rivalry over the same symbols and practices. In this context, the EU cannot establish a compelling narrative (Cinpoes, 2008).

Kovacev points out that, according to Erik Fossum, the project of creating a comprehensive European identity should not focus on building "cultural markers" because each Member State is bound to retain a strong national culture despite all efforts (Kovacev, 2006, p.3). On the contrary, the aim should be to build "postnational markers" that are common to all citizens (Kovacev, 2006, p.3). He specifies that such aspects could be "rights and values" (Kovacev, 2006, p.3). However, Svitych holds that such efforts are unlikely to be pursued unless EU elites engage in identifying a plausible significant Other located outside of the Union while promoting an identity based on "solidarity, equality and justice" (Svitych, 2013, para.7).

The role of elites is a recurring theme when discussing European culture or the lack thereof. Fukuyama, Ntampoudi, Held and McNally agree that ever since the establishment of the ECSC, the EU grew as a result of elitist efforts towards economic cooperation as well as at the establishment of an "antinational identity" (Fukuyama, 2012, para.21; Ntampoudi, 2014; Held & McNally, 2015). Fukuyama points out that the direct result of this is a growing disengagement of European citizens from their rights and obligations as foreseen by the various European treaties (Fukuyama, 2012). Similarly, Held and McNally highlight that the grandeur of the European project, as laid out by the Founding Fathers of the EU, is weakening because of the lack of "thicker ideals" which impede effective political and social integration (Held & McNally, 2015, para.19).

Breakwell sees a potential asset in the weak and unclear set of categories that determine the existence of European identities. In fact, he argues, had the EU a stronger character, it would be perceived as a menacing institutional apparatus. This, in turn, would favour Member States' irreversible retreat into their ivory towers (Breakwell, 2004). However, Ntampoudi argues, such phenomenon can already be witnessed in some practices carried out by national politicians and citizens alike. These are, for instance, the creation of "stereotypes" and "narratives of blaming" which, in the wake of events such

as economic issues and migrant flows, often turn Northern and Southern European states against each other (Ntampoudi, 2014, p.6). This, Schmidt suggests, is due to the multiplicity of cultures that coexist within the EU, each of which conceives European identity according to its own national standards and objectives (Schmidt, 2010).

European elites do not disregard the EU's fundamental diversity, however what characterises their discourse is a positive outlook.

"A case in point is European Central Bank president Jean-Claude Trichet's speech in 2009. He remarked that European identity is characterised by diversity as well as a – just as strong – spiritual nature based on Husserl's idea of a "community (...) which extends beyond nations" (Europe – Cultural Identity, 2009, pt.II, para.7). What stands out in Trichet's remark is the acknowledgment of Europe's "cultural diversity" as a strength denoting openness, acceptance and complexity (Europe – Cultural Identity, 2009, pt.V, para.3). As a result, as expressed by Trichet, European cultural identity is a "tightly woven fabric" that combines the distinctiveness of national cultures and languages with cross-border forms of cooperation and influence (Europe – Cultural Identity, 2009, pt.II, para.10)." (Di Canzio, 2016, p.4)

Belsey highlights that cultural and linguistic diversities can constitute a serious obstacle for the creation of a cohesive identity (Belsey, 2002). However, Kovacev points out, the EU has been trying to create an "identity based upon (...) existing diversity" (Kovacev, 2006, p.1). This, he continues, goes against Europeans' attachment to their own cultural background. Nevertheless, Kovacev identifies the need for a common language policy. This, he argues, is an option that had already been explored in the 1990s with the introduction of European policies, such as the "Lingua programme", that diversified the variety of languages offered by European educational institutions (Kovacev, 2006, p.6). Nowadays, he highlights, the establishment of such policies could be furtherly complicated by the introduction of new languages, such as Turkish and Arabic, brought in the EU by immigration flows (Kovacev, 2006).

# 4.2 The hybrid nature of the EU

Large scholarly views agree in conceptualising the EU as a hybrid system with little efficiency in some crucial identity-shaping policy areas. Manners convenes that the EU cannot be seen as a state of any nature but it also does not resemble an international organisation (Manners, 2001). This, he continues, has considerable repercussions on the EU's international identity which is indeed characterised by

undecidedness and a multi-perspective approach (Manners, 2001). Schmidt convenes that the "EU is a quasi-pluralist system of governance" whose policy outcomes have scarce political relevance (Schmidt, 1999, p.156). This, she argues, mainly has a direct effect on Member States that, due to divergences between the national and supranational level, are not able to make efficient decisions (Schmidt, 1999).

Diez, in accordance with Ole Wæver, points out that the EU can be seen as a "postmodern polity" in which identity is present and absent at the same time in a struggle to fill in the void of its incompletion (Diez, 2004). Such void, Wæver argues, is "due to the presence of the outside in the inside" (Diez, 2004). Breakwell agrees that the EU is faced with difficulties in shaping its own identity markers. However, he argues, such issue is bound to be solved with the passing of time. In fact, he points out, the EU has had a short existence so far which has not yet determined compelling categories to make up its identity (Breakwell, 2004). Although Smith puts forward a similar argument, he remarks that the EU "lacks a pre-modern past" which has not raised binding Romantic ideals in its population. As a result, the creation of effective identity markers is deemed unlikely (Smith, 1992, p.62).

The hybrid and multi-faced nature of the EU characterises its internal composition as well as its attitude towards the outside. Carta and Morin argue that the variety of EU institutions, processes and policies has multiplied the amount of agents that act on EU level. This, in turn, generated a cluster of interpretations and views on how the EU should position itself (Carta & Morin, 2013). The authors point out that this also reflects in elites' discursive practices who, for instance, see the EU as "a technocratic edifice" as well as a "Family of nations" (Carta & Morin, 2013, p.10). This subsequently has repercussions on the EU's attitude towards foreign policy (Carta & Morin, 2013).

Bteddini points out that a state's foreign policy is based on guaranteeing security for the territory, citizens and political apparatus against a threatening Other situated outside of the 'virtuous' national soil (Bteddini, 2008). Kratochvíl points out that, in this regard, the EU's approach is rather mild. As a result, because of fragmentation and undecidedness, the EU tends to base its foreign policy on its "benign identity", without strong political positions or direct involvement in conflictual situations (Kratochvíl, 2009, p.20). This, Schmidt highlights, has allowed Member States to build up a variety of arguments in the sole interest of national politicians (Schmidt, 2010). Closely related is the theme of EU enlargement which has fostered strong national responses. The next section lays out its relevance to the current identity crisis.

# 4.3 EU enlargement

Ganeshalingam defines the EU enlargement, through commissioner Romano Prodi's (1999-2000) words, as the final move towards lifting the barriers that were created by the Cold War (Ganeshalingam, n.d.). However, Checkel and Katzenstein remark that there have been multiple attempts to bring politics of exclusion to the forefront by means of debates surrounding the establishment of a European Constitution. The focus, they continue, has been increasingly brought on the downsides related to enlargement with a subsequent impasse in the process of European identity construction (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009). Ganeshalingam ascribes such process to endemic causes among which are French feelings of mistrust towards Eastern European citizens and the country's 2005 consequent retreat to protective rhetoric. Such discourse, the author points out, mainly targeted Poles and Hungarians who were consequently depicted as raiders of the French job market (Ganeshalingam, n.d.).

Maier and Rittberger indeed agree that the general European attitude towards enlargement is aimed at creating what they call "symbolic boundaries" which, they argue, are highly shaped by the way media present information regarding a given country or area (Maier & Rittberger, 2008, p.249). Moreover, they point out how the establishment of the 1993 Copenhagen criteria has influenced citizens' acceptance or rejection of European enlargement efforts. In fact, they prove, the more EU citizens perceive a high "level of democracy" within a candidate for accession, the more they are willing to assume a proactive attitude towards it, national identity still retaining strong power over opinion formation (Maier & Rittberger, 2008, p.261). Fukuyama also highlights that, consequent to enlargement, solidarity and sharing of responsibilities are not principles that guide relations among European citizens who, on the contrary, engage in suspicion and blaming discourse (Fukuyama, 2012).

Vobruba ascribes the Union's identity crisis to the very nature of the enlargement process and its legitimation strategies. He argues that enlargement procedures were created and executed in the interest of a core area – Western Europe – with the aim of establishing concentric circles of influence (Vobruba, 2003). He points out that the sole legitimation strategies for carrying out such practices were "pacification and prosperity", both of which have currently lost their effectiveness and appeal, the first due to its economic and political costs and the latter because of its long-term character (Vobruba, 2003, p.44). Moreover, he remarks, Eastern enlargement was presented by the core as a "moral

necessity", a strategy that has backfired and created an economic and social divide between the West and the East (Vobruba, 2003, p.43).

Pellerin-Carlin argues that enlargement is not a failure per se, however the European project was too ambitious, trying to conciliate Eastern orthodox-based culture and Western Catholicism-laden culture (Pellerin-Carlin, 2014). In such way, he continues, the "project of non-domination" envisaged by the EU was jeopardized, leading to an identity crisis (Pellerin-Carlin, 2014, p.80). However, he suggests, there is room for future development as he envisions two scenarios: "Europe 2.0" - which foresees closer political cooperation among a shrinking European Union - or "EFTA 2.0" based on less binding agreements in a multi-cultural, multi-perspective union (Pellerin-Carlin, 2014, p.80).

Archick raises the question of whether the EU deepening (in the form of integration) and widening (enlargement) can co-occur. The answers, according to him, lays in a very much needed streamlining of decision making procedures which necessarily cannot keep pursuing consensus among the broad variety of Member States (Archick, 2016). For the same reason, Archick suggests that solving the EU's identity crisis is a feasible undertaking as long as deepening is prioritised over widening and some states, such as Greece and the United Kingdom, are left behind (Archick, 2016). However, he observes, the EU seems to feel what he calls a "historic pledge" to pursue further enlargement towards the Balkan area (Archick, 2016, p.4).

# **4.4 Migrant flows**

Because of its various enlargement waves, Blanco Sío-López points out that the EU presents a strong tradition of exclusionary practices which have often remoulded European geopolitics and mindsets (Blanco Sío-López, 2016). As a result, Triandafyllidou and Spohn concur, the presence of an "immigrant other" is vital as far as identity construction is concerned (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003). In fact, they explain, the immigrant upsets taken-for-granted values and practices, thus generating a situation of crisis. Similarly, within the EU, the same mechanisms take place with a tendency to elaborate a hierarchy of 'Others' which separate Member States' and North American immigrants from groups with a more 'threatening' background (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003).

In 2003, the EU's threatening Other according to Triandafyllidou and Spohn was "labourers coming from outside the EU, notably Asia, Africa and Latin America" (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003). This was so because the 2002 wave of enlargement declassed Eastern Europeans to a lower level in the

hierarchy of otherness. Citizens of the former USSR, in fact, had been previously subject to discriminating practices within EU member states which, after accession to the EU, adopted more welcoming attitudes. Moreover, othering practices within the EU undoubtedly put migrants in uncomfortable positions of non-belonging to either their country of origin or their host country (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003). As a result, the authors argue, what is needed is a "re-organisation" of European national identities (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003, p.13).

McLaren highlights that, indeed, hierarchical othering practices take place within the EU which are animated by different reasons (McLaren, 1999). In fact, she continues, EU citizens tend to perceive no substantial distinction between European migrants and "extra-communitarians" by rejecting both kinds (McLaren, 1999, p.10). At the same time, national elites are increasingly fostering discourse based on a classification that distinguishes 'worthy' internal migrants - who share EU-wide rights - and "external immigrants" (McLaren, 1999, p.10). Such distinction, McLaren concludes, stems from nationalist feelings and racism, the first prevailing in relation to internal migrants and the latter having a strong impact on the way external immigrants are depicted (McLaren, 1999). In this regard, "behaviors, beliefs, and self-understandings are increasingly pathologized as syndromes and disorders" (*Identity Politics*, 2016, pt.7, para.11).

Nougayrède reports that ascribing the European identity crisis to migrants and refugees is a feeble argument as the EU is instead increasingly affected by a toxic debate between "liberal internationalists" who strongly support the project of a "borderless world" and "xenophobic fence-builders" who treat immigrants as the threatening Other (Nougayrède, 2016, para.3). Such debate, Nougayrède continues, has given room for theories such as the "great replacement", most prominent in France, which fosters citizens' fears by associating migrant flows to rising unemployment rates (Nougayrède, 2016, para.5). Instead, she agrees with Benjamin Stora, by coming in contact with migrants, Europeans are faced with "the challenge of knowing the other" which can only be overcome with the establishment of an inclusive "positive narrative" (Nougayrède, 2016, para.6).

Martiniello points out that the European identity crisis has been, to some extent, the result of the EU's efforts to establish European citizenship under erroneous premises. In fact, he remarks, the Maastricht treaty closely linked Member State citizenship to European citizenship, thus leaving extracommunitarians out of the equation in a top-down approach that allows no room for "mobilization of

the grassroots citizens" (Martiniello, 1995). A similar argument is put forward by Kohli who remarks the need to diverge from typical accounts of national identity in favour of the formation of "hybrid identities" whose bearers are, indeed, migrants (Kohli, 2000, p.131).

Kohli also refers to a certain conflict that generates between migrants (especially if external) and Member State citizens which in turn can easily pave the way to radicalisation. The solution for such conflict, he speculates, lies in the elaboration of policies aimed at fostering inclusion and welfare that can ensure migrants are treated with dignity and granted decent economic standards (Kohli, 2000). Albassam concurs that the EU has been adopting policies which have proved untrue to its core value of solidarity. He mentions the Common Asylum Policy and the establishment of Frontex which, he argues, have not been as successful as other national initiatives in solving issues linked to the ongoing refugee crisis (Albassam, 2015).

Geddes remarks that rights and freedoms within the EU are benefits that only Member States citizens can enjoy, with a general elitist discourse that "places far more emphasis on the responsibilities of individuals and far less on the rights of groups" (Geddes, 2003, p.83). Such practices, he argues, generate an "integration problem" which, he highlights, is tackled by a variety of pro-migrant movements that cooperate with the European Commission by providing legitimisation to what would otherwise be highly controversial policies (Geddes, 2003, p.83).

Finally, Belsey mentions Julia Kristeva's line of thought according to which identity is so volatile that it is impossible to know oneself. Yet, intruders are feared as they prove "that there are alternative ways to be" which upset what is conceived as normal (Belsey, 2002). Spohn, in a case study of German-Polish relationships, concretises such mechanism by highlighting German and Polish mutual concerns prior to Polish accession to the EU. Hostility and stereotypes were central to both German and Polish discourse which faded as the two peoples got acquainted with each other as parts of the same union. As a result, Spohn points out, othering practices can be mitigated through "increasing cultural exchange" with a positive outcome for the future of the EU (Spohn, 2003, p.140).

## 4.5 The sovereign debt crisis

The European Commission states that the Euro, as the Eurozone common currency, has a twofold function: economically, it fosters a conscious management of Member States' balance sheets and better resistance to economic crunches (European Commission, 2014). Socially, the Euro plays a

fundamental role in European identity building: it represents the synthesis of the European motto "United in Diversity" by combining national and European symbols (European Commission, 2013). As Risse remarks, money has historically been a key "symbolic marker" in the construction of national identities, a pattern of "entitativity" that can also be retrieved on EU level (Risse, 2002, p.8). Similarly, Kaelber argues, the Euro represents an effort to build European identity which, he remarks, implies the development of "social relation(s)" of conditionality based on mutual trust (Kaelber, 2004, p.177).

Lichfield points out that, with regards to the Euro, 2012 represented an "economic ice-age" in which many discrepancies came to the surface such as the lack of a unitary economic or political strategy to support the monetary union (Lichfield, 2012, para.3). This, he continues, led to a European "existential crisis" because the narrative of the benefits linked with the adoption of a single currency lost its compelling character in the wake of pan-European economic difficulties (Lichfield, 2012, para.11). Such crisis, he argues, was furtherly exacerbated by internal conflicts regarding the approach the Union should follow. For instance, France was tendentially advocating for increased solidarity among Member States and Germany was underscoring the need for a German-led European federation (Lichfield, 2012).

Galpin argues that that the financial crisis that hit Europe was transformed into an identity crisis by media coverage and political elites which have identified a "window of opportunity" to reinforce existing national identities. In such way, a dichotomy was established between Northern Europe as a "community of economically virtuous" and Southern Europe as the "profligate" (Galpin, 2014, p.106 & p.118). Alternatively, Prentoulis points out that the North-South rupture is the result of the EU's fundamental failure to react to the financial crisis which subsequently led to further recession on the Southern side (Prentoulis, 2016). Finally, Fligstein concurs that the division between Northern and Southern Europe is existing and has undermined the importance of solidarity and mutual help among the citizens of Member States (Fligstein, 2014).

Prentoulis and Buttonwood remark that poorly elaborated measures to counter the European economic crisis have also exposed the lack of democratic legitimacy of European institutions (Prentoulis, 2016; Buttonwood, 2015). Buttonwood takes the Greek bailout as an example by showing how the Greek were imposed austerity measures from technocratic Brussels despite voting against them. At the same time, creditor Member States did not hold referenda that would allow citizens to

dissent on their tax money being devolved to Greece (Buttonwood, 2015). Borg and Diez echo that the economic crisis has generated a "crisis of legitimate governance" with a general retreat to national identities or, on the contrary, demands for further EU involvement (Borg & Diez, 2016, p.147)

Polyakova and Kligstein suggest that the general retreat to national identity might be due to the fact that EU institutions and the European Central Bank have been promoting austerity over "social protection" (Polyakova & Fligstein, 2013, p.32). This had deleterious effects on the economically weaker members of the Union which found no room for domestic manoeuvre (Polyakova & Fligstein, 2013). Indeed, Alessi and McBride highlight, the economic crisis showed the implications of European interconnectedness and simultaneous division on fiscal and monetary policy. Moreover, they point out, the crisis uncovered how the convergence criteria, as envisioned by the Maastricht treaty, were applied selectively and inappropriately, thus generating recession even in the three most productive Member States: Germany, France and Italy (Alessi & McBride, 2015).

Pettinger argues that the European economic crisis represented a failure of social cohesion because there was no appropriate strategy to tackle issues in a coherent way (Pettinger, 2014). Held and McNally convene that various measures adopted by the EU under those circumstances did not take into account the EU's fundamental "moral vision" in favour of "punitive" solutions (Held and McNally, 2015, para.7). However, Janse highlights that the EU's approach to the economic crisis represents a successful story that made Europe stronger and capable of more future cooperation (Janse, 2016). Nevertheless, Watt asserts, "policy makers' self-satisfaction" is unjustified because "European fiscal solidarity" failed (Watt, 2009, p.19). Hall argues that such solidarity can be built through discursive practices by political elites and is the key to approach the Eurozone crisis while respecting Member States' single economic models in a "trans-European response to the crisis" (Hall, 2012,p. 367).

# 4.6 Detachment, nationalism, populism and Euroscepticism

Hansen ascribes the EU identity crisis to the inadequacy of the polity's institutional framework which, he argues, generated a "legitimacy crisis" (Hansen, 2002). This, he continues, contributed to create a split on EU citizens level with their subsequent detachment from the Union's values, despite governments' rising willingness to pool their sovereignty to the supranational level (Hansen, 2002). Checkel and Katzenstein concur that there is an evident discrepancy between citizens and political elites. In fact, the latter, as creators of the EU's "institutional machinery", seem to be blind in front of

the evident legitimacy issues the polity has faced (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009, p.1). This is so, Fligstein argues, because only certain strata of European society have been able to fully enjoy the benefits provided by the Union, while radical Left and Right parties have been depicting the EU as a "capitalist plot" or "an attack on the nation-state" (Fligstein, 2014; Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009, p.23).

In order to solve the issue of citizens' detachment from the EU, Schmidt recommends further politicisation of the Union which could guarantee the people's "engagement" in elections and debate practices (Schmidt, 2010, p.22). This, in turn, could generate stronger feelings of European identity (Schmidt, 2010). However, Trenz argues, European citizens are already involved in the EU through "popular referenda" which constitute a tool to impede further integration through what he calls "constraining dissensus" (Trenz, 2012, p.3). The issue, Schmidt argues lays in the fact that political elites have not put enough effort in constructing feelings of European identity through communication "about what the EU has been doing" unless they were faced with a crisis situation (Schmidt, 2010, p.2). Politicians, in fact, tend to be more focused on national level discourse, thus generating citizens' detachment themselves (Schmidt, 2010).

Prentoulis highlights that "new media technologies and social media" represent a valid tool to improve communication among citizens and facilitate the creation of groups to contrast what she calls "the European dystopia" (Prentoulis, 2016, para.10). However, "disembodied communications technologies" have also fostered the creation of new identity markers which have favoured the rise of "new forms of identity politics" (*Identity Politics*, 2016, pt.7, para.10). This is particularly relevant as a variety of nationalist movements rise throughout the EU concurrently with growing disillusion towards the European project (Fligstein, 2014).

Weedon argues that it is indeed the rise of extreme right parties in the EU that has brought identity issues back on the political agenda (Weedon, 2004). This, Andre highlights, has mainly happened as Europeans were faced with massive immigration which brought about individuals with various 'threatening' cultural background. This generated a "loss of identity" and a retreat to nationalism and populism (Andre, 2015, p.191). Held and McNally concur that the rise of various populist movements throughout Europe is citizens' response to growing immigration. This, they continue, highlighted the EU as a "fragile system of social integration" (Held & McNally, 2015, para.8). Within such system, Andre

highlights, there is strong correlation between "Islamist extremism and far-right extremism", both constituting a vigorous response to a deep identity crisis (Andre, 2015, p.195).

Ntampoudi highlights that the European identity crisis has brought about wide "solidarity gaps" (Ntampoudi, 2014, p.7). However, Cinpoes argues, a retreat to national identities is not an issue by and of itself, it is nationalism which represents a challenge to the EU's legitimacy and future (Cinpoes, 2008). In order to contrast such phenomenon, Pinto points out that the EU is "re-invent(ing) and redefin(ing) its identity" (Pinto, 2006, p.721). In the meantime, Hooghe remarks, right wing parties within the EU are constituting the "largest reservoir of Euroscepticism", each Member State clinging to different arguments that resonate effectively among its population (Hooghe, 2004, p.6).

Trenz argues that Euroscepticism fills a gap between elites and citizens that the EU still needs to counter with constructive discourse. That is why it should not be considered as "marginal" or "irrational" (Trenz, 2012,p.550). In fact, he explains, Euroscepticism is an attitude of contestation - against the EU's legitimacy, development and policies - that contrasts "pro-European discourse" (Trenz, 2012,p.550). Its strength lies in the mediatic attention it receives that allows certain arguments to spread quickly among masses, thus constituting a threat to the European project (Trenz, 2012). Euroscepticism, Trenz continues, constitutes an "identity marker" and its tools are the "approved interpretations of truth and value" within a society (Trenz, 2012, p.544). This is why Euroscepticism is present in a variety of forms, depending on the environment in which it develops (Trenz, 2012).

Alessi and McBride remark that the EU has not given enough attention to Euroscepticism as a rising threat because while populism and nationalism rose, the institutions were engaged in developing policies that could stabilise the European economic and financial situation in a moment of severe crisis (Alessi & McBride, 2015). Moreover, Prentoulis adds, the rise of such movements is due a paradox: while EU citizens were granted freedom of movements, they are still fundamentally unaware of their fellow citizens' "history, politics and culture" as well as of the workings of EU institutions (Prentoulis, 2016, para.8). Raising awareness on such themes could indeed boost a more cohesive Union (Prentoulis, 2016).

# 4.7 European discourse: the need for territoriality to strengthen identity markers

As pointed out throughout chapters 3 and 4, both scholars and European elites themselves have been selecting the EU's identity markers in order to clarify the polity's response to current developments.

Indeed, some highlight the EU's fundamentally economic purpose as its strongest identity marker by highlighting its "market model" or common currency (Sidaway & Pryke, 2001; European Commission, 2014; Risse, 2002). Others seek identity markers in the cultural realm by looking back at the Enlightenment and Christianity's heyday (Cinpoes, 2008; Kølvraa, 2010; Petersson & Hellström; Smith, 1992; Winn, 2000). Finally, a third group of thinkers points out the EU's fundamental incapability to shape its own identity markers due to its short existence and erroneous practices (Breakwell, 2004; Smith, 1992).

However, one goal that seems to underlie all European discursive efforts seems to be territoriality: a wish by the EU to exert power on its geographical territory. Indeed, all aspects mentioned in the previous chapters point towards it: from enlargement and othering practices to migrant flows and the financial crisis. Each theme is characterised by discourse related to territory: from Prodi's wanting to lift the barriers created by the Cold War, to Vobruba's division of the EU in a concentric system of "core" and "periphery" (Vobruba, 2003, p.43). Even the Euro was presented by the Commission as a common currency to bind peoples, and effectively Member States, together in a free market area (European Commission, 2013).

More instances of European territoriality discourse will be discussed in Chapter 6. However, as previously mentioned, populism and nationalism are rising within the EU, which are themselves important instances of territoriality. For this purpose, the next chapter will present a case study of two Italian populist parties (Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle). Such parties present two different ideas of territoriality but the same Euroscepticism and capacity to mobilise masses. As a result, they constitute a source of reversed discourse worth exploring.

# Chapter 5 - Case study: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle as reversed discourse

As mentioned in the previous chapter, the EU seems to be facing a moment of identity crisis as it strives to create identity markers to contrast citizens' insecurity (Fukuyama, 2012). While it responds to migration emergencies and financial crunches with further policy making, populist parties are fostering feelings of mistrust among citizens and promoting Euroscepticism as an identity marker (Alessi & McBride, 2015). Indeed, populism is currently tapping exactly into those issues that are putting the EU in a crisis situation, namely: financial issues, migrant flows, cultural differences and democratic legitimacy. The sections below will analyse the discursive efforts of two Italian populist parties whose aim is to build two very distinctive views of reality: Lega Nord and MoVimento 5 Stelle. The reason for such choice is straightforward: they are swimming upstream, binding citizens in strong communities, bringing them out to the polls and back in action on a local level.

# 5.1 Lega Nord

"Immigrants have rights only in their homeland." ("Fini: «Suicidio negare diritti ai migranti»", 2009, para.3). This statement summarises the stance of Italian party Lega Nord in the words of its historic leader Umberto Bossi. Over the years, the party has received media and scholarly attention ad was attributed a variety of labels ranging from "populist", "ethno-nationalist" and "a subculture" to "protest party" with a "regionalist" and "radical right" attitude (Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001, p.1; Zaslove, 2011, p.4). Giordano provides a synthesis by stating that, because of the party's strong attachment to territory and self-determination, Lega Nord stands for an example of "autonomist regionalism" similar to its Flemish extinct counterpart, the Vlaams Blok (Giordano, 2000, p.448).

The Lega's roots are relatively recent: while its birth was undoubtedly influenced by the 1970s European rise of "Progress parties", national dynamics certainly constituted the biggest influence for the significant growth of the 1990s (Zaslove, 2011, p.5; Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Indeed, Cento Bull and Gilbert specify, Lega Nord's success is embedded in the rise of small and middle businesses in the North-East of Italy during the 1960s. During the 1980s, these same businesses would encounter a hostile competitive environment as a result of the completion of the European Single Market. Simultaneously, Democrazia Cristiana, the Italian Christian Democratic party, failed to respond to the needs of its electorate after representing Italian entrepreneurs during the Cold War as an opposition to the Communist party (Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001; Balocco & Maggiora, 2014).

In such context, Lega Nord, which had since 1979 developed as a very local movement, saw a window of opportunity to raise as an anti-establishment, "pro-business" party that could represent Northerners' interests against governmental nepotism, strict fiscal regulations and Southern Italians (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d.; Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001, p.4). Within less than a decade, in the early 1990s, Lega Nord positioned itself on the Italian political landscape and started to develop a set of symbols, traditions and rhetorical features that would come to forge a common identity among its supporters and justify the party's political agenda (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014).

Along the years, leaders such as Umberto Bossi, Roberto Maroni, Roberto Calderoli and Roberto Formigoni would foster arguments such as the need for a federalist turn in Italy and looser fiscal policy. This, according to their narrative, could allow Northern Italy to raise as a nation state characterised by a loose bureaucratic structure, a strong autochthonous component, a neo-liberal approach to taxation and, ultimately, political autonomy from the central state (Celiksu, 2014; Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001). Such arguments would be constantly wielded until the early 2000s, despite many turns, only to undergo a significant change in 2004 with the movement's shift from regionalism to nationalism and anti-Europeanism. The causes for such shift might lay in growing immigration and the European enlargement process which determined an equal shift in othering practices. This was furtherly exacerbated in 2013 by Matteo Salvini's leadership.

## 5.1.1 Common history, rituals and symbols and their discursive construction

Lega Nord attributes the beginning of its common history to the 1158 invasion of Padanian soil by Frederick I which, in 1176, caused Padanian people to take an oath (the Oath of Pontida) and rise against his imperial power. According to the party, such union has only strengthened over the years until today when "leaders have different names but determination and aspiration to be free has remained unchanged" (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d, p.4). The party, through the words of Padanian writer Gilberto Oneto, consecrates Padania as the "most ancient community in Europe" with a "Celtic descent" that clearly separates Northerners from other Italians (Bussoletti, 2009, p.87).

Such premises are at the basis of Lega Nord's political programmes and legitimacy. Therefore, the party has dedicated much attention to the establishment of rituals and symbols that could bind the electorate in a compelling cultural community. Among them are symbols such as the 1996 commemoration of the Oath of Pontida where Padanians in folkloristic attire cried: "Undo Italy or die!" (Dematteo, 2011; Balocco & Maggiora, 2014, p.78). In the same year, rituals developed such as the

adoption of an anthem (interestingly, Giuseppe Verdi's 'the Chorus of the Hebrew Slaves'), uniform (green shirts), national hero and flag (with the invented green Sun of the Alps).

Relevant is also the creation of an apparatus of ideals that featured "Founding Fathers", Padanian "militants" and intellectuals (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d, p.6; Statuto della Lega Nord, n.d, p.2). Finally, on 15 September 1996, Padania was declared "sovereign and independent" by the party in a ritual that celebrated the Po River as "the lifeblood of Padania" (Giordano, 2000, p.457). The cultivation of the above mentioned symbols and traditions and the strength of their appeal is, however, no fluke. Discursive practices have been fundamental to determine the values and dichotomic orders that have brought Lega Nord to gather consensus and make its way up from a very local movement to a party capable of gaining seats in the national and European parliaments in 1994 (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014).

Such practices have varied over the years and can be ascribed to four distinguished phases: a Federalist phase, a Secessionist phase, a return to Federalism and an ongoing phase of openness to broader nationalism. Each is characterised by a set of values, strategies and othering practices: a brief overview of the first three will be presented while the fourth will be analysed in more depth for the purpose of this case study.

## 5.1.2 The 'Padanian' identity

Central to 'leghista' rhetoric have always been territorialism and populism, the prime example of which, Giordano reports, is the construction of "an imagined geographical and cultural community" named Padania: a territory that originally extended from the Alpes to the Po valley and is home to the Padanian people (Giordano, 2000). Such construction, Giordano highlights, was successfully established in very few years and, as Fernandes remarks, quickly established itself as Northern Italians' refuge from the mismanaged and unconvincing Italian government (Giordano, 2000; Fernandes, 2009). The Lega's success was that of establishing what Cento Bull and Gilbert call a "regional collective identity" based on popular values, rituals and symbols which embraced people's longing for past times in front of the threat of globalisation and immigration (Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001, p,4).

Lega Nord positioned itself as the pioneer of morality and spirituality (Fernandes, 2009). This should not be considered as striking given the party's relentless efforts towards fostering Northerners' participation and sense of belonging to the so called "Republic of the North" (Balocco & Maggiora,

2014). This was achieved by constructing legitimacy through common history, rituals, symbols, values and, most importantly, enemies. As will be noted below, the creation of a Padanian identity is a crucial, flexible and often contradictory process that caused the movement to espouse and drop political positions as quickly as the electorate's wishes changed.

## 5.1.2.1 Federalist Lega Nord

From its creation up until 1995, Lega Nord advocated for a federal reform on Italian soil which would allow Northern Italy to become an independent and sovereign republic, separate from the Italian central state and based on "peaceful co-existence" of peoples (Statuto della Lega Nord, n.d.; Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d., p.33). Such claim was substantiated by the Lega's first political programme in 1982 which foresaw the "re-affirmation of (...) culture, history, Lombard language, social and moral values against the attack on Lombard national identity" (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d., p.33). Indeed, Padania was yet to be associated with Lega Nord which, at that point in time was still laying the groundwork for the unification of various independentism movements across Northern Italy (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014).

In 1992, Lega Nord had become a cohesive movement that was able to take advantage of the numerous scandals pervading the Italian government. This allowed the party to easily identify Rome and the South as an 'Other' to juxtapose to the Northern "bulwark of fairness and respect" (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Typical of this period were slogans such as "Roma ladrona" (Robber Rome) (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014) as well as contrasts between "the gigantic Northern fist" and "the government's paunch" (Dematteo, 2011, p.25). Dematteo remarks that attitudes of discrimination against the South, which was seen as the cause of all evils as millions of Southerners moved to Northern Italy in search of fortune, could be compared to anti-Semite behaviour (Dematteo, 2011).

Nevertheless, within such context, Lega Nord presented itself as a strongly Europeanist party by manifesting great support for the principle of subsidiarity and the creation of a supranational institution (Bussoletti, 2009). The Lega itself was proud to call the European Community "the Federalist European Alternative" (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d, p.36). Tarchi points out that such enthusiasm is explained by the slogan "Farther from Rome, closer to Europe" as Lega Nord saw in European integration an opportunity to drift away from centralism and affirm its independence or, at least, strengthen Northern economy (Tarchi, 2016, p.190). In fact, small business owners from the North were the core of its electorate (Tarchi, 2016).

#### 5.1.2.2 Secessionist Lega Nord

Starting from 1995, the leadership of Umberto Bossi paved the way for the "secession of Padania from Rome", a concept that would be iterated for years to come (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Padania came to mean the territory of Northern Italy developing by the Po river (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Cento Bull and Gilbert remark that the discursive construction of Padania was necessary for Lega Nord to retain its legitimacy over a target electorate that was, by that time, threatened by Silvio Berlusconi's rising popularity (Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001). Moreover, the Lega leveraged the strict economic policies that had been imposed on Italy in order to meet the Maastricht criteria by proposing itself as a party that cared about "the sufferings of the people during the harshly forced integration of the economy" (Celiksu, 2014, p.227).

Indeed, it is after 1996, when Padanian identity started to gain consensus especially among the young electorate, that Lega Nord raised as an anticlerical pro-homosexuality party with a strong anti-European stance (Bussoletti, 2009). The EU started to be seen as a "Euromenace" incapable of reforming the political landscape (Tarchi, 2016, p.192). This was so because Europe, as envisaged by Lega Nord, was what Bussoletti calls "Europe of the people" whereas, with its highly technocratic character, the EU was becoming "Europe of finance and institutions" (Bussoletti, 2009). At the same time, paradoxically enough, Lega Nord had managed to get six seats at the European Parliament (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Nevertheless, anti-European discourse, combined with rising immigration, pushed the Lega to campaign strongly for Padanian secession from Italy in 1998.

Consensus was gathered among masses by focusing on heavily exclusionary practices that opened the way for the party's radicalisation and recurring episodes of racist discourse (Bussoletti, 2009). Biorcio and Vitale argue that xenophobia helped Lega Nord further root Padanian identity but also gain visibility on national level (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Lega Nord is remembered for supporting a policy that foresaw the obligatory display of crucifixes in public offices and educational institutions as a response to the "arrogance and intolerance" of Muslim immigrants. Moreover, under Calderoli's leadership, the Lega strived to oppose Western "civilization" to Middle Eastern "camels" and "apes" (Betz, 2016, p.45).

A switch from anti-meridionalism to anti-Islamism took place that would characterise Lega Nord for the following years and open the movement to a nationalist stance capable of including Southerners in a constructive way against the immigrant 'Other'. This represented a significant change but it also highlights a relevant point. Padania is a clear example of a postmodern identity, characterised by fluidity and heavily "de-territorialised" thanks to compelling discursive practices that transcend even the incoherence of the movement's affiliations (Fernandes, 2009, p.274). As we shall see in the following section, Padanian identity has furtherly parted from its original purpose and has now, implicitly, come to include a wider electorate scattered along the Italian territory and social classes.

# 5.1.2.3 Padania nowadays

Starting from 2010, Lega Nord witnessed a variety of structural changes that reformed the movement, its values and political relationships. Even though in September 2010, the party's Federal Secretary Umberto Bossi went on stage in Venice declaring that "Nobody can stop the Padanian people!", the movement's nationalist turn was right around the corner (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale , n.d.a, p.7). Such turn would shift the Lega's political discourse away from its typical regionalist stance to endorse Italian radical parties such as Fratelli d'Italia, Forza Nuova and neo-fascist CasaPound with the aim of building a consistent anti-European force (Celiksu, 2014).

In 2010, Lega Nord's target voters were young poorly educated men with an anti-establishment attitude exacerbated by the global financial crisis and migration issues (Zaslove, 2011). When, in 2011, Italy underwent austerity measures dictated by the EU, the Lega found the grounds for expansion to a wider audience beyond Padanian borders. In fact, Celiksu remarks, the party started to characterise the EU as an "imperial power" that was "stripping [Italy's] sovereignty" (Celiksu, 2014, p.234-235). As austerity led to increased taxation, Lega Nord took a chance to strategically gather its followers in openair conventions where the electorate was addressed as "brothers". This brought a particular focus on farmers who were being imposed restrictions on milk production (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d.a).

In order to broaden its consensus, Biorcio and Vitale point out, Lega Nord also leveraged Northern and Southern factory workers, large families and retired people as these were the strata of society that were particularly damaged by economic and fiscal reforms (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Biorcio and Vitale remark that during this period, media coverage was essential: immigration and petty crime were largely covered by newspapers and television programmes. As a result, the Lega managed to affirm a "causal, rational and metaphoric" relationship that tightly linked immigrants and Roma people to criminality, unemployment, moral decay and the diffusion of new diseases (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010, p.186). Such

construction of reality was substantiated by anti-Islamic campaigns such as demonstrations and public readings against the construction of mosques on Italian soil (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010).

By 2012, Lega Nord had become a proudly nationalist and xenophobic party. As Celiksu reports, an exponent of the party clearly stated: "Yes, we are racist (...), if desiring a civil life is racism!" (Celiksu,2014, p.237). Moreover, as Bussoletti states, the movement experienced an anti-Communist, pro-American shift which, however, quickly underwent a turn of tide due to Italians' discontent regarding the costs related to the deployment of arms in the Middle East (Bussoletti, 2009). The result was that Lega Nord slowly embraced Berlusconi's pro-Putin stance with many of the Lega's militants proclaiming the Russian president as their own in public demonstrations.

2012 is also referred to as the "Padanian Spring" as the movement witnessed a change in internal dynamics which resulted in a change in leadership (Celiksu, 2014, p.244). The typical hierarchical structure of the party had allowed Umberto Bossi to be its Federal Secretary for over 20 years. In 2012/2013, the introduction of internal elections crowned young and charismatic Matteo Salvini as the movement's leader with consequent repercussions on the party's identity (Porcellato & Rombi, 2014). Salvini embraced Bossi's legacy but made significant changes to open up the movement to a wider electorate and international influences, notably Le Pen's, Wilders's and Putin's (Riva, 2015).

## 5.1.3 Target electorate

Within three years, Salvini's leadership has already witnessed the rise of two important groups within the Lega's electorate: younger generations (which had lost interest in the movement after a first wave of excitement) and women ("Carta dei Valori", n.d.; Emanuele & Maggini, 2014). The first were attracted by the construction of a new identity, the "Young Padanian" ("Carta dei Valori", n.d., para.1). Such figure is depicted by the movement as a lone voice, a "noble incarnation" of traditional values such as faithfulness, honesty, brotherhood, coherence and respect of previous generations' hard work ("Carta dei Valori", n.d., para.1).

Biorcio and Vitale remark that Lega Nord, with its conservative set of values, has shown affinities with Southerners' civic sense and social attitudes (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Indeed, a growing number of Southerners (22% of Lega Nord voters) are espousing the arguments brought forward by Lega Nord, especially since Salvini has managed to construct the Italian government as the cause of Southern economic backwardness (Emanuele & Maggini, 2014; Marraccini, n.d.). The Lega's leader has, in fact,

brought Federalist arguments back into his discourse by affirming that Rome's centralisation has damaged Southern Italy by hindering its economic development and autonomy (Marraccini, n.d.).

Salvini concretised such arguments by mainly fighting the import of oranges and lemons, typically Sicilian products, in campaigns that emphasise themes such as the future of Italian children and the hard work of Italian farmers. In this way, not only does he oppose extra-European imports but also intra-communitarian ones which substantiates his opposition to the European single market, a point that will be highlighted further in this paper.

One more strength of Salvini's leadership is his charisma which he has used while receiving regular media exposure, especially in television and social media. He presents himself as a chivalrous man whose priorities are children, the ill, the unemployed and the mourning, against the immigrant, the European technocrats and bankers (Bussoletti, 2009). This allowed him to win 57% of low-educated Catholic women's votes, an electorate that had typically been on Berlusconi's side (Emanuele & Maggini, 2014). The result was the creation of social media communities of women who, all over the country, consider the leader as a pioneer of freedom and fairness ("Noi Con Salvini Comitato Donne", n.d.).

Dematteo remarks that bringing a focus on people's everydayness has allowed Lega Nord to depoliticise itself in front of a target electorate who engages in volunteering and Church-related activities (Dematteo, 2011). Nevertheless, Salvini does not hesitate to identify the Catholic Church as the principal responsible for immigration (Zapperi, 2016). Seemingly a paradox, Salvini has used such argument to bring himself even closer to the people. "I am a Catholic, even though I am a big sinner" was his public statement, a move that humanised him and therefore helped him win the consensus of large strata of his electorate (*Salvini: "Sono cattolico, anche se un gran peccatore ", 2015*).

As Lega Nord has opened up to a broader public, Padanian identity has grown beyond its borders to not only include the inhabitants of an alleged Republic of the North. It has taken under its wing all those Italians who feel threatened and weakened by globalisation, economic issues and migrant flows, especially in the lowest strata of society (Palmieri, 2015). As a result, the party's political programme has grown articulated on a variety of points which all aim to bring Italy back in an idyllic pre-EU past of harmony. Such points will be highlighted in the following section.

## 5.1.4 Lega Nord's political programme

#### 5.1.4.1 Anti-Immigrant, anti-Islam

As previously mentioned, Lega Nord has always had a protective attitude of ethnicity and traditional values. Because of such attachment, the movement has repeatedly targeted immigrants, an attitude that has become increasingly popular under Salvini's leadership. What he accomplished was to link the immigrant to Islam by highlighting Italians' Christian roots (Bussoletti, 2009). That is when the party started with its invectives against the Church and "the Left" as partners in a "conspiracy (...) to allow the Muslim invasion of Europe" (Celiksu, 2014, p.242).

Cento Bull and Gilbert argue that what affects Lega Nord is an "invasion syndrome" (Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001, p.174). However, Betz argues, this is a classic move of Lega Nord's. Such victimhood has always brought them closer to the oppressed of Italian society and has ensured the successful outcome of initiatives such as the celebration of the "Christian victory against the Turks in Lepanto" that had allegedly "saved Europe from the horrors of Muslim invasion" (Betz, 2016, p.44). Indeed, Lega Nord has always managed to mobilise crowds to re-affirm the 'Christian/Muslim' dichotomy. The latest expression of this has been Salvini's fight against laic schools that would refuse to display the nativity scene as a sign of respect towards children from other cultures (Di Marzio, 2014).

Social media campaigns followed against "shameful (...) ANTI-CHRISTMAS school principals" who tell "the nice fairy tale about European culture being the result of many more influences" (Salvini, 2014c). Beside the media support he gathered, his success was sealed by his statement: "I will bring the nativity scene to school myself", a promise that he proudly kept.

In order to further foster Italian identity against the threatening Muslim, Lega Nord insinuates doubt in its followers, a move that has brought the movement to connect Muslim migrants with diseases such as Ebola and scabies. The party mobilised people and not only defined a 'healthy Italian/sick Muslim' dichotomy but also exploited it to foment masses against the Italian government, especially its Minister of Internal Affairs, Angelino Alfano. ("Centomila in piazza", 2014).

At the same time, Salvini engaged in extensive campaigning for the violent destruction of migrant and Roma camps on Italian soil. His proposal to enter migrant camps with scrapes to destroy everything and everyone has been embraced by a surprising amount of people and even led to the creation of

merchandise. Moreover, buzzwords such as "scrapes" and "invasion" were iterated on social media and during television appearances normalising the attitude in the eyes of many.

#### 6.1.4.2 Euroscepticism

As Celiksu, Porcellato, Rombi, Emanuele and Maggini remark, Lega Nord has turned into a highly Eurosceptic party by affirming that Italy has never benefited from EU membership (Celiksu, 2014; Porcellato & Rombi, 2014; Emanuele & Maggini, 2014). Such attitude has brought to the deployment of arguments in favour of Italy's exit from the Eurozone with a consequent return to the Lira as the Italian national currency (Emanuele & Maggini, 2014). This is called by the party "the Lega's economic revolution" within the "Basta Euro" (tr. Stop Euro) campaign ("Basta Euro Tour", n.d.). With this campaign, in order to get followers to vote for the 2014 European elections, Lega Nord has also been opposing Angela Merkel and constructing a link between Italians' voting preferences and her political leadership. According to Lega Nord, "If you vote for the others, you vote for her" ("Basta Euro", n.d.).

During the 2014 campaign, Lega Nord has put effort in diminishing the Euro and Italy's Eurozone membership. Among the tools that were used were simple videos with infographics and a triumphant tone in which Salvini himself states his party is fighting a "battle to bring words of truth to our people" (Salvini, 2014a). The Euro, he argues has brought "unfair competition from a mass of immigrants that are used as blackmail. They have killed our enterprises, destroyed 50 years of European social and economic conquers". As a result, the "Euro is a criminal currency" and a "poverty tool" which must be abandoned as a "moral duty towards all those workers who committed suicide because of the economic crisis" (Salvini, 2014a).

Biorcio and Vitale remark that Lega Nord has also repeatedly opposed the European Single Market and the freedoms attached to it. This has given rise to policy proposals suggesting the imposition of custom duties and barriers to movement to protect Italian workers (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Indeed, Emanuele and Maggini convene, especially the party's opposition to the Schengen agreement has helped Salvini achieve a considerable amount of followers, with 55% of Leghisti in favour of a "nationalist closure" (Emanuele & Maggini, 2014, para. 10). Especially such argument has brought Lega Nord closer to the French National Front with Salvini and Le Pen jointly affirming that "Schengen is over" (Fiammeri, 2016, para.1).

As remarked in some of Salvini's interventions at the European Parliament, Lega Nord believes the EU is an "anti-democratic cage" that does not work in favour of European citizens but pays attention to the interests of "multinationals, bankers and financiers" (Salvini, 2014b; Salvini, 2015). He also repeatedly stressed the "shame" that should pervade the European Parliament as it engages in "thinking and reflecting" while workers need to be defended against extra-communitarian competition (Salvini, 2015). According to Salvini's rhetoric, Europe deprives its citizens of hopes and aspirations in clear opposition with the "Erasmus generation" it aimed to build (Canale Italia, 2016). Finally, he remarks, Europe is "frightening", sick and filthy and not worth leaving children's future to (Salvini, 2014b).

#### 6.1.4.3 Nationalism

As an alternative to European integration Lega Nord proposes a retreat to local identities through "fiscal federalism" (Marraccini, n.d, p.8). In fact, Marraccini argues, the party believes not only supranational but also national identities have lost their appeal because globalisation has brought about a bureaucratic crisis that has forced nation states to join together and miserably fail (Marraccini, n.d). Fiscal federalism, on the contrary, is depicted as the solution to the "economic dualism between North and South" and a viable solution to implement "subsidiarity from below" (Marraccini, n.d, p.9).

Nationally, Lega Nord does not hesitate to use its anti-European stance to oppose the political establishment. A recurring target is the Italian President of the Chamber of Deputies, Laura Boldrini. Her pro-refugees, pro-European stance brings her at the centre of much of the party's political discourse. She is usually depicted as a "hypocrite", "racist against Italians" and compared to an "inflatable doll" (Pucciarelli, 2016). Her political position is usually used by Lega Nord to persuade its followers to vote against her will, thus reducing people's right to vote to a simple spite. As a result, Lega Nord has been presenting itself as anti-gay, anti-immigrant, pro-securitisation party (Emanuele & Maggini, 2014; Porcellato & Rombi, 2014). Its strategies for success will be reviewed in the following section.

## 5.1.5 Strategies for success

As a movement, Lega Nord undoubtedly presents a strong character and, despite what could look like incoherent efforts to gain the support of as many people as possible, its strategy is very much rooted in its leaders' charisma and bold political statements (Giordano, 2000). Giordano and Lerner remark

that the party's strength is the use of "strong symbols" (Giordano, 2000; Lerner, 2011). According to Giordano, Lega Nord is capable of providing its followers with an effective range of slogans (Giordano, 2000). Lerner argues that the social symbols that the movement has established are just as relevant. Among these are the adoption of green shirts as uniforms and the introduction of the National Padanian Guards as opposed to the Italian police system (Lerner, 2011).

Lerner also points out that Lega Nord's triumphant style has determined the movement's tendency to make symbols sacred by pioneering for traditional values (Lerner, 2011). Fernandes remarks that values such as "hard work, civic practices and economic entrepreneurship" are in fact proudly opposed to the "rational, impersonal, bureaucratic and mercantilist models" that characterise the Italian government and the EU (Fernandes, 2009, p.274). Such values are supported by a media and intellectual apparatus that include the movement's own newspaper, radio station, television channel, writers and thinkers (Bussoletti, 2009). Moreover, especially under Salvini's leadership, social media such as Facebook and Twitter are increasingly used as tools to reach for an ever wider audience. Posting frequent and controversial visual content yields the movement a faithful group of followers as well as increased visibility among those users that contest Lega Nord's position.

Lega Nord does not only rely on media attention but, as Dematteo and Fernandes point out, the movement's strategy is largely based on face-to-face interaction to stimulate "fellowship among activists" (Dematteo, 2011; Fernandes, 2009, p.274). Dematteo highlights that Lega Nord frequently gathers in squares, without overlooking even the smallest village. This is accompanied by a down-to-earth attitude characterised by simple gestures, language and attire to resemble the average "self-made man from the Alps" (Dematteo, 2011, p.51). This combination allows Lega Nord to have considerable influence on its followers who tend to regard the party leaders as men who do what they promise.

Indeed Lega Nord's strength mainly resides in its leaders who, Zaslove argues, are seen as men "of the people" (Zaslove, 2011, p.3). These speak simply and avoid building their speeches on rules of rhetoric, preferring a style that is much closer to an anger outburst (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d.; Dematteo, 2011). Characteristics of the party's speeches range from violent language and insults to philosophical considerations and concrete language to appeal to the average Italian (Dematteo, 2011). Lerner also remarks that Lega Nord's leaders have a tendency to play "idiot" by filling their speeches with "irony and fury" while depicting parodies of their enemies and "wearing the mask of the average

person against the powerful" (Lerner, 2011, p.9). Indeed, Lerner argues that such strategy has always allowed Lega Nord the "iterated abuse of verbal violence and mockery" without consequences (Lerner, 2011, p.10).

With Lega Nord, Lerner argues, politics quickly becomes a show characterised by strong tones and gestures (Lerner, 2011). Yet, the party has managed to gather followers and create "emotional attachment" to its leaders. This, Celiksu argues, has been made possible by the fact that Lega Nord pays close attention to citizens' concerns and transform their feelings into "legitimacy" (Celiksu, 2014, p.247). This, in turn, she continues has determined the creation of an effective Padanian identity capable of uniting followers in a "common vision,(...) future and fate" (Celiksu, 2014,p.247).

Porcellato and Rombi argue that Lega Nord has been experiencing less cohesiveness ever since another populist party has risen in Italy with similar discursive practices and anti-establishment attitude: MoVimento 5 Stelle (Porcellato & Rombi, 2014). Its features will be reviewed in the following sections.

#### **5.2 MoVimento 5 Stelle**

MoVimento 5 Stelle (M5S) is an Italian political party that witnessed a remarkable escalation over the last decade. Though sharing an anti-establishment attitude with Lega Nord, its approach to politics is interesting to consider as it presents features that are completely innovative to the Italian political landscape. In fact, the movement puts forward a political identity that is not confined to any geographical area and is not built on any idea of common history. Identity, within the party is only built on a largely utopian vision of the future that binds citizens together through the internet and IT technologies, under the supervision of the party's charismatic leader and "megaphone" (as he defines himself), Beppe Grillo (Biorcio, 2015, p.24). Further below, this paper will elaborate on these points.

Though active in national politics, the movement may even be considered a 'non-party'. In fact, as Corbetta and Vignati remark, it oddly conciliates "neoliberal and anti-capitalistic, centralist and federalist, libertarian and reactionary" stances which yet make M5S a strong voice (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013, p.54). As Beppe Grillo himself repeatedly stated, the movement does not aim to position itself along the left-right political spectrum or North-South geographical axis because it refuses to engage in compartmentalising and labelling reality (Tronconi, 2013). However, inadvertently or not, as will be seen below, what Grillo does is exactly the opposite thus reducing his movement's dynamics to typical dichotomic exercise.

Beppe Grillo proudly stated "I do not want to found a party, an apparatus, a structure of intermediation." (Bartlett et al., 2013, p.13). By simply asserting so, he immediately set himself and his movement at one side of a dichotomic order that pioneers for direct democracy against the ills of representative democracy as it is currently administered and mediated (Floridia & Vignati, 2014). Floridia and Vignati highlight that Grillo and his party co-founder, Gianroberto Casaleggio, envisaged a quasi-Marxist view of the future. Accordingly, after a long struggle and a dictatorial phase, parties and political intermediation would be swept away by increased faith in direct democracy (Floridia & Vignati, 2014)

Biorcio and Natale argue that the figure of Grillo as well as his party are a characterised by great divergences between what they advocate for and what they do. In fact, he continues, M5S can be seen as Grillo's "personal movement" as he exercises his regulatory power on all party members and dictates his political views to his followers via his successful blog (Biorcio & Natale, 2013, p.23; Biorcio, 2015). Nevertheless, Biorcio and Natale continue, Grillo gathers his followers' concerns and gives them a voice, thus fostering the idea that M5S is an "amplifier of popular protest" and a supporter of bottom-up political processes (Biorcio & Natale, 2013, p.16)

### 5.2.1 Context

The Movement's stance would not gain much support, strength and visibility if there were not ideal premises for it to develop. In fact, M5S was founded in October 2009 and, within three years, established itself as a major political actor in the Italian landscape (Biorcio, 2015). In 2012, M5S had an unexpectedly successful turnout in municipal elections which was followed by significant growth in 2013 leading to the party's participation to Italy's general elections (Maggini, 2012; Biorcio, 2015). In 2014, the movement gained seats at the European Parliament, in coalition with UKIP, advocating for themes such as "neo-environmentalism", "moralisation of politics" and a general hostile attitude against political elites and their misuse of public revenues (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014; Salvati, 2016, para.2). Finally, in 2016, M5S furtherly strengthen their position with the election of M5S mayors in Rome and Turin (Navarria, 2016).

The root of such sudden success has been at the centre of some scholarly discussion: Bordignon and Ceccarini undoubtedly see the economic crisis that hit Italy in the late 2000s as a factor that incentivised the movement's popularity (Bordignon, & Ceccarini, 2013, p.431). However, they

continue, what was crucial was a general drop in Italians' trust towards institutional actors caused by Mario Monti's technocratic government and austerity measures. This gave M5S a chance to focus its discourse on the "mismanagement of economic and financial resources" (Bordignon, & Ceccarini, 2013, p.441). As a result, Floridia and Vignati report, M5S presented itself as a solution to destabilise the oligarchic order and recover "citizens' direct role" (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.1).

Within such context, as highlighted by Floridia, Vignat, Biorcio and Natale, M5S took a radical position and exploited the diffuse feelings of mistrust that pervaded the Italian society. As a result, the movement rose as a "collective actor" that would give prominence to citizens' questions in a way that traditional politics could not (Floridia & Vignati, 2014; Biorcio & Natale, 2013, p.10). In fact, as Art.1 of the Movement's non-statute points out, M5S proposed itself as a platform to stimulate the exchange of ideas on Beppe Grillo's blog (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2016). Because of its non-party self-portrait, accessing the movement was made as easy as signing up on Grillo's website, free of charge, a notable innovation in Italian politics (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2016). The result was a growing amount of followers and voters who saw in voting a fair opportunity to express their protest in a way that was not abstention (Biorcio & Natale, 2013).

# 5.2.2 M5S's populism

Salvati highlights that M5S constitutes a relevant turning point in Italian political history because it caused what he calls the "tri-polarization" of a system that, for 20 years, was characterised by the bipolar struggle between the Democratic Party and Berlusconi's various party formations (Salvati, 2016, para.2). Moreover, the movement's future, according to Navarria, looks promising as the party plans to participate to the Italian 2018 national elections (Navarria, 2016). This, he remarks, denotes a wish by Italians to witness change (Navarria, 2016). In fact, all geographical barriers that have so far been hindering a pan-Italian anti-establishment response seem to be breaking down in favour of M5S, evidence of which is Lega Nord's slight loss of consensus. As a result, Navarria argues, what Grillo envisaged as an anti-political movement is clearly moving in the opposite direction as it "reminds citizens that politics is about solving problems" rather than talking (Navarria, 2016, para.24).

The way in which Beppe Grillo has managed to construct such consensus around his ideas is also the result of the creation of some symbols, the first of which is M5S's non-statute that Casaleggio himself regards as the "cornerstone" of the party (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.439). Mosca et al. also

remark that the movement has an anthem, though not official, that always accompanies M5S in its public events. The anthem, they highlight, was born in 2013 and is evocative of the movement's message as it clearly states that its followers are neither a political party, nor part of a "casta" (tr. Caste, to refer to political elites). They proudly say: "we are only citizens, everybody counts as one!", thus reinforcing Grillo's dichotomic order (Mosca et al., 2016).

Beppe Grillo is also the owner of the party's logo which is granted as a franchise to his followers. The logo, as Bordignon and Ceccarini remark, is composed by five stars, each of which stands for one of the movement's "mission(s)". These are respectively: protection of "public water", respect for the environment, development, and increased public transportation (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.430). In order to defend such tasks, Grillo involves his followers in a "word-of-mouth" mechanism. However, he also takes action himself by personally attacking banks and industries as if in the name of his logo (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.432). Indeed, the logo also displays a capital V that evokes a checklist style to imply that the movement indeed takes action.

Grillo also organises events to promote himself and spread his word. An example are his Vdays in which he insults the ruling class as well as the media which, Bordignon and Ceccarini highlight, are both seen as a "single corrupt entity" (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.433). One of such public events was held on 25 April 2008, a significant date for Italy as the country celebrated its freedom. On such day, Grillo went on stage criticising the media and stating that just like Italians freed themselves once, they could do it again, thus establishing a relationship between a glorious past and the disappointing present (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013).

Some critics have compared Grillo's attitude to the one displayed by Lega Nord at its beginnings and the leader, in turn, never rejected such allegations (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). However, there is still debate around whether M5S can be considered a properly populist party. Some state that Grillo's iteration of the theme of exclusion in his discourse is indicative of a certain populism (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013; Floridia & Vignati, 2014). Indeed, Floridia and Vignati point out, M5S promotes an idea of citizens as 'oppressed' by elites of all natures which, in turn, generates a dichotomic order of 'rulers' against 'citizens'. Such order furthers a vision of the world based on the oversimplification of the diversified political landscape and society (Floridia & Vignati, 2014 & Tronconi, 2013).

Biorcio argues that because of its objective, M5S cannot be seen as a populist movement as much as it can be ascribed to a sort of social movement that aims to improve the relationship between citizens and institutions without much political involvement (Biorcio, 2015). However, Corbetta and Vignati remark in Eugenio Scalfari's words, the moment the movement decides not to belong anywhere within the left-right spectrum of politics, it also shows "the worst element of the right, the populist" (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013, p.53). This way, the authors continue, the party relies on its leader to find the movement's legitimacy and accountability (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013).

One more element that brings M5S nearer to populism is its constant reference to political conspiracies which, in reality, Bidussa argues, hinders the party from practicing self-reflection and does not allow it to understand its own mistakes (Bidussa, 2014). Indeed, Davidesera highlights, the movement is characterised by a simplistic view on themes such as the economic crisis and the issues concerning EU institutions. For instance, the author continues, Grillo has supported a view according to which Italy should leave the Eurozone and, de facto, enter isolationism and autarchy in a Fichtian view of the state (Davidesera, 2012).

## 5.2.3 The Web as an identity marker

As Bobba and Legnate highlight, the movement's aspiration to establish direct democracy for the sake of "the common and public good" parts from typical populist discourse (Bobba & Legnate, 2017). As a result, the author suggests, in M5S's case, it is correct to talk about "web populism" (Bobba & Legnate, 2017). Indeed, the internet is used by Grillo as an instrument to favour direct democracy and bring a new value to citizens' vote without the involvement of political parties (Floridia & Vignati, 2014; Mosca et al., 2016).

What is certain, as Mosca et al. remark, is that the web is depicted by the movement as the "carrier of a quasi-pastoral message", almost as a redemption tool that is capable of purifying the current corrupt political landscape. This, according to the movement, can be done by enhancing the internet's potential to foster "multidirectional open conversations" (Mosca et al., 2016). However, while preaching transparency, Mosca et al. denote that the party itself is characterised by a hierarchical structure in which Beppe Grillo manages comments under his blog posts and expels members that disobey his instructions (Mosca et al., 2016). Nevertheless, he managed to make the internet a crucial identity-building tool as will be seen below.

Beppe Grillo, as remarked by Bordignon and Ceccarini, has turned his blog into the focal point of the movement where "active citizenship" takes place. In this regard, the authors continue, M5S can be seen as a "meta-organisation" in which subgroups are formed that are granted a certain freedom to act (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.438). This was done through the introduction of the so-called "meetups" (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.437). Meetups are platforms of online aggregation that allow local communities to form online and subsequently meet in the 'real world' to discuss and tackle local issues. The success of such format is proved by the existence of over 1100 regularly active meetups all around the country ("Il Movimento 5 Stelle", n.d.).

The strength of meetups, Fornaro argues, lays in the fact that they are very similar to party sections in what he calls a "telematic agora" (Fornaro, 2012, p.2). Moreover, Bartlett et al. add, they represent a valuable synthesis between online support and real life engagement which involves people in a way that is unusual in the contemporary political landscape (Bartlett et al., 2013). One more element that ensures great participation to M5S's operations is its massive social media presence. Bartlett et al. report that M5S's Facebook followers are almost 1 million while other Italian political parties have not yet fully figured out how to use the internet strategically (Bartlett et al., 2013).

In the end, as Fornaro points out, M5S has managed to create congruency between the web and the party itself, thus sending a clear message: political parties as they are do not have the right tools to tackle issues efficiently. What is needed is what Fornaro calls "viral marketing" that can trigger new and efficient forms of communication. Grillo's propaganda is strongly based on web presence and consequent word-of-mouth: this allows him to formulate cost- and time-effective campaigns that bind the electorate together in an ever growing support network (Fornaro, 2012, p.4).

# 5.2.4 Electorate, values and innovations

## 5.2.4.1 Target electorate

Biorcio acknowledges that the reason why M5S enjoys the consensus of an ever wide public is strictly connected to an identity crisis, experienced by citizens, in which they try to conciliate their belonging to multiple categories in society (Biorcio, 2015). The movement has in fact taken up such challenge and, thanks to its broad set of values and its strong opposition to political elites, it has managed to gather the consent of a wide demographic category (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013). Though mainly male, the electorate of M5S is constituted by students, unemployed and factory workers whose age ranges

from 18 to 45 years old (Maggini, 2012; Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). Moreover, the electorate is neither concentrated in any particular geographical region, nor divided between rural and urban areas: it is homogeneous throughout the country (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013; Corbetta & Vignati, 2013).

Bordignon and Ceccarini point out that a wide electorate denotes citizens' intention to express a protest vote (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). Such statement is supported by Tronconi who remarks that M5S voters are mainly individuals who migrated from other protest parties, such as Lega Nord, in the wake of Grillo's charismatic success (Tronconi, 2013). Moreover, the author adds, the rise of M5S also brought noticeably lower electoral consensus to the Italian Democratic Party, seen by grillini (Grillo's followers) as part of the 'caste' (Tronconi, 2013). However, seeing a vote for M5S merely as a protest vote would be a mistake according to Fornaro. This is so, he argues, because grillini are also heavily fascinated by Beppe Grillo's charisma which is not to be overlooked (Fornaro, 2012).

Among M5S voters there is a great feeling of mistrust towards institutions with a tendency to find the internet and small and medium enterprises much more trustworthy (Bartlett et al., 2013). Indeed M5S activists are usually citizens who, according to Biorcio, feel abandoned by traditional political parties and are still influenced by previous political disappointments. What is interesting, Biorcio argues, is that M5S members assert that membership actively changed their lifestyle by giving them a sense of involvement in decision making processes (Biorcio, 2015).

Though successful at binding individuals with different ideological backgrounds, Corbetta and Vignati argue that what awaits is not a "rosy future" (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013, p.58). In fact, the party's ability to bring so many followers together might turn into a liability as it might not allow the movement to make any meaningful coalition at any level of governance. Indeed, the authors state, "the movement lacks unifying ideological principles" (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013, p.58). Moreover, the party's negative stance on many themes might prevent it from overcoming its protest dimension and reveal its vulnerability (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013).

# 6.2.4.2 The values of M5S

Despite all, M5S states that its main focus is "direct democracy" (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.14). This, Floridia and Vignati highlight, concretises in a strong refusal of any kind of political mediation as representative democracy is not able to address citizens' issues and ideas. One alternative, the movement proposes, is the principle of "rotation in office" and "citizens as employers" which would

allow every citizen to enter politics in an easier way and work to serve the common good (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.29 & para.9). Indeed, in Grillo's discourse, there is always a contraposition of representative democracy as an "incentive for apathy and passivity" and direct democracy as "active citizenship" (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.4).

What Grillo proposes is, Floridia and Vignati remark, an anti-government by recalling cases such as the Belgian one where national GDP increased despite the country's political instability (Floridia & Vignati, 2014). Within such scenario, Bordignon and Ceccarini point out, a peculiar vision of political parties and journalists rises. The first are characterised as "self-referential elite" to the extent that Grillo stated the parliament itself was an "illegitimate" institution (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.433). The latter are depicted as part of a "conspiracy" to cover up the truth and retain vital information from citizens (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013; MoVimento 5 Stelle, n.d).

Undoubtedly, according to Grillo, effective politics is a "lack of professionalism", the only condition that allows individuals not to be blinded by power (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.435). As Grillo himself stated, "we will go to parliament to expose them, denounce their misdeeds, not to govern" (Mosca et al., 2016). Such attitude is strongly backed up by facts as Grillo himself is a man originating from the show business while, for instance, the newly elected mayors of Rome and Turin are respectively a lawyer and an economist (Di Marco, 2016). However, Mosca et al. argue, the movement stays a rather contradictory phenomenon as Grillo represents the leader and owner of a movement that preaches the horizontalization of politics (Mosca et al., 2016).

Further themes that the movement pioneers are, as highlighted by Bartlett et al., the current economic crisis, the Italian massive unemployment rate and the mismanagement of taxation with a rather negative and destructive take (Bartlett et al., 2013). Grillo widely caters his followers' opinions and draws his arguments from the comments that they leave under his blog posts and social media pages. The result of this has been a book in which he tells some of his followers' unemployment stories, eloquently named "Modern Slaves" (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). This all contributes to shape the identity of the average grillino, a strong supporter and a passionate member of a group of fighters against the 'caste'.

Grillo's dichotomic order undoubtedly has a vital importance in keeping grillini's motivation high. As Bordignon and Ceccarini reports, Grillo tends to oppose the "morality of ordinary people" to the corrupted political elite with a strong contraposition between the death of political parties and the livelihood of direct political participation (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.435). He also highlights the theme of social exclusion by characterising the movement as David fighting against Goliath for the introduction of "young blood" in a political system that has fundamentally failed (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.435).

# 6.2.4.3 The party's innovation

With its success, M5S has undoubtedly brought about innovations in Italian politics. One of its most significant achievements has been to bring citizens back to the polls after long periods of abstention, as Biorcio and Tronconi remark (Biorcio, 2015; Tronconi, 2013). Indeed, Biorcio remarks, the movement, against the general trend, has overcome the typical dynamics of Italian political parties by forging relationships among citizens and encouraging 'old-fashioned' mobilisation and activism (Biorcio, 2015). Indeed, as Fornaro points out, by strategically combining online presence and offline activism, Grillo has managed to build a "gaseous non-party" that has silently grown online to constitute a real threat to all other Italian parties (Fornaro, 2012).

While Bordignon and Ceccarini argue that the party's success is closely linked to Grillo's charisma and ability to fill the "void left by traditional parties", Salvati, Biorcio and Natale point out that the consensus generated by M5S is due to the themes it highlights (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.428; Salvati, 2016; Biorcio & Natale, 2013). In fact, Salvati remarks, the party is focused on themes he defines as "post materialistic" such as ecology (Salvati, 2016). However, Bartlett et al. present a more concrete and plausible argumentation by pointing out that factors such as citizens' mistrust of politics and the consequent loss of motivation to vote have determined an opportunity for Grillo to tap into their everyday problems and bring them back in action (Bartlett et al., 2013).

Indeed, as Biorcio points out, Grillo managed to create a common identity among his followers after understanding the motivations of their disengagement with politics (Biorcio, 2015). As a result, he tailored a political programme, though disguising it as a non-statute, that would allow his followers to see a collective incentive in political participation. Consequently, a sense of community rose which, Biorcio argues, eventually reinforced the group's identity and self-esteem (Biorcio, 2015). The way in which such feelings were aroused are linked to Grillo's strategic use of the internet.

One more of Grillo's innovation was to create a strongly web-based movement in a country that, as Mosca et al. point out, "relies heavily on television and newspapers to get political news" (Mosca et al., 2016). However, beside focusing on Grillo's blog and Meetups, the movement has also paid attention to "campaigning on the ground", the most famous achievement of which was Grillo's Tsunami tour (Mosca et al., 2016). In fact, in 2013, Grillo toured Italy by holding rallies and public speeches in front of wide audiences in the biggest city squares. Just like the tour's name, he violently addressed crowds by highlighting the movement's indestructibility.

Grillo's use of media also goes against the typical way in which Italian media cover politics: in fact, as Bobba and Legnate remark, Italian media are heavily focused on "scandals and gossip" (Bobba & Legnate, 2017, p.368). This gave Grillo the chance to promote a kind of information that was deemed as transparent, informative and trustworthy. Moreover, Grillo often interacts with his followers by reposting what they write or answering their comments (Mosca et al., 2016).

Finally, as Bidussa reports, the movement's strength has been to give a voice to all those members of the Italian middle class who had felt ignored and betrayed by the ruling class within and outside the country (Bidussa, 2014). In fact, it is not uncommon to find Eurosceptic arguments in the movement's discourse where the EU is seen as a bureaucratic apparatus that is not capable of addressing the weakest in society (Bidussa, 2014). Indeed, as one user of Grillo's blog put it, the EU is seen as something that undermines popular sovereignty by siding with bankers and imposing itself as an "undiscussable dogma" that does not execute what it promised to all the "European brothers and sisters" (La Terra, 2012).

Such arguments resonate in the Movement's campaign for the 2014 European elections, a point that will be discussed in the following section.

## 5.2.5 M5S's political programme: the 2014 European Elections

After gaining consensus on national level, in 2014, M5S presented a political programme for the May European elections. The programme was called "Seven Points for Europe" and was presented by Grillo himself before a crowded square on his third Vday (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016). The presentation itself, according to Biancalana and Tronconi, is evocative of Grillo's contradictory style of politics because, as the movement emphasises citizens' involvement, it should refrain from granting Grillo such uncontested leadership (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014).

The points that were presented were also characterised by what Salvati calls an "ideological confusion" (Salvati, 2016). In fact, if, on the one hand, Grillo expressed his willingness to adopt Eurobonds, and therefore proceed with further European integration, he also mentioned a wish for a significant retreat to the national level (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016). For instance, the movement supported the creation of an alliance among Mediterranean member states to oppose austerity measures as foreseen by the EU (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2014). Moreover, Grillo wished for the development of agricultural enterprises acting on local level, an idea that clearly counters the purpose of the European single market (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2014 & García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016). Finally, he proposed a referendum for Italy to decide whether to exit the Eurozone in favour of a return to national currencies (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2014).

Especially the last point elicited responses from citizens as well as the media. In fact, as highlighted by García Lupato and Tronconi, Grillo stated: "Italians need to be able to decide whether they want to die with the Euro or live and take back their sovereignty" (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016, p.7). Indeed, he turned economic policy into a matter of life, death and public sovereignty in a way that caused acclamation among an ever wider electorate (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016). The potential of such consensus should not be overlooked as it should, according to Sylvers, serve as a wakeup call for the Italian government to forge an adequate response to the general disillusionment (Sylvers, 2016).

All in all, it can be said that M5S's stance during the 2014 European elections was strongly critical of the EU as an "anti-democratic", pro-bankers body (Salvati, 2016, para.1). Such stance, as well as a strong viewpoint on immigration and EU enlargement as deleterious to Italy and to Europe, placed the movement in close relations to radical parties such as UKIP (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). At the same time, as Salvati remarks, because of its views related to sustainability and ecology, M5S has also been drawn near "leftist groups" (Salvati, 2016, para.2). It is therefore hard to tell whether the movement, within the European Parliament, stands out as part of the Eurosceptic threat.

García Lupato and Tronconi argue that, despite M5S's anti-establishment stance, the party has not expressed Euroscepticism as it only criticises European integration for the ways in which it has been carried out. This, the authors continue, is substantiated by Grillo's words according to which "Europe has turned into a modern dictatorship that uses democratic ceremonials to legitimise itself" (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016, p.8). However, Biancalana and Tronconi point out, it should not be

overlooked that Grillo has also been criticising the EU as an institution that supports bankers without any popular accountability. As a result, he has been defending the national dimension against a supranational one that threatens to "pollute" citizens (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014). The latest expression of such stance has been the movement's strong support of Brexit as a symbol of the failure the EU stands for (Navarria, 2016).

Nevertheless, what makes Grillo's campaign confusing are certain references that he made to typically pro-European discourse. As mentioned above, Grillo wishes for further integration through the adoption of Eurobonds (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016). Moreover, as Biancalana and Tronconi highlight, he has repeatedly praised the work of the Founding Fathers of the EU, albeit contraposing it to the current unsatisfactory situation, by constructing them as the representatives of a "distant utopia of direct democracy" (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014, p.133). Finally, as mentioned in the non-statute itself, many are the references to European standards as the examples Italy should follow when it comes to energetic certification, internet fares and health systems (MoVimento 5 Stelle, n.d.).

#### 5.2.6 Strategies for success

Despite incongruences, Grillo and his M5S managed to gather a wide public. This is undoubtedly so because of the leader's strategic effort. Indeed, as Floridia and Vignati highlight, Grillo has "atomised" his followers by constructing a reality in which the party allows them to express their free opinion in a leaderless environment (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.10). However, the movement's strong centralisation is also not hard to note as Grillo "throws his diktat" on crowds and deliberately decides whose opinion is worth publishing on his blog and social media pages (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.23).

Moreover, the movement's strength is paradoxically deriving from outside factors as none of the actors of the Italian Political landscape have given enough attention to Grillo's rise who, in turn was merely seen as a "showman" with bizarre ideals (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.435). However, as remarked by Mosca et al., within the movement, Grillo presented himself as "a responsible father" who would protect every citizen who feels mistreated by the political establishment or by "trolls", the party's dissenters (Mosca et al., 2016). Indeed, all of Grillo's rhetoric is characterised by simplification and contrapositions as he makes his arguments tangible to his audiences (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013).

As a showman, Beppe Grillo possesses notions of rhetoric and uses them in his favour during his seemingly disconnected speeches. The sole fact that his speeches sound like angry and random exposition of facts in extremely concrete terms proves this point, as he manages to catch and retain attention fairly easily (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). As Biorcio and Natale remark, such strategy allows him to "overcome the barriers of social norms" and engage in recurrent insults and satire (Biorcio & Natale, 2013). It is thanks to this that he managed to attribute names such as "valium" or "psychodwarf" to members of the political elites without any consequence (Sala, 2007).

One more figure that has contributed to the success of M5S has been that of Gianroberto Casaleggio, co-founder and online marketing expert (Biorcio & Natale, 2013). Mosca et al. argue that the movement has always used the internet in a very strategic way as a free tool to achieve "mass media attention" (Mosca et al., 2016). In such a way, despite his refusal to be shown on television, Grillo achieved broad media coverage, a strategy that, however, he dropped during the 2014 European Elections. In fact, Biancalana and Tronconi speculate, Grillo might have perceived the need to show a more balanced side of himself, away from angry crowds, to ensure support for his political programme (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014). Nevertheless, his signature events, Vdays, stay a "fundamental ritual for the identity of the movement" as they allow followers to come in contact with their leader (García Lupato & Tronconi, 2016, p.6).

One more of Grillo's strategies has been to focus on the local, as Biorcio remarks. Thanks to Meetups, Grillo has managed to spread his word and create activist groups who carry out events and distribute information, thus generating further support (Biorcio, 2015). However, as Floridia and Vignati point out, such local practices would not be as efficient if there was no central control by Grillo himself who, by establishing the movement as a brand, retains the right to dictate rules and modalities for action (Floridia & Vignati, 2014). According to Biorcio, the movement has in fact constructed a mechanism according to which activists gain motivation by believing that they have a moralising and sensitising mission for the sake of a better future (Biorcio, 2015).

## 5.3 Lega Nord and M5S: old forms of territoriality in a globalized world

Just like European discourse, Italian populism is permeated by a strive to establish territoriality. This is done by both Lega Nord and M5S through the promotion of values capable of binding citizens together in active communities. This, precisely as found in the European case, is mainly achieved through

othering practices. However, while Lega Nord presents a strong tradition of othering hierarchies, M5S puts forward "ideological confusion" (Salvati, 2016). This reflects in the parties' strategies: by switching from a pro-European, anti-Meridional to an anti-Muslim nationalistic stance, Lega Nord managed to extend its territoriality beyond the Po river. This was also done by promoting traditional old values of localism, hard work and honesty.

On the contrary, M5S seems to oppose all labels and forms of coalition with other political actors by creating an online extra-territorial space that, volatile as it might seem, still manages to retain support. Though the party leaves wondering about its present Self by focusing on the achievement of a utopian future, its success lays in the revival of long lost local communities and party sections which had strongly characterised Italians' identity during the 20<sup>th</sup> century ("Il Novecento", n.d.).

The next chapter will provide a deeper analysis and a comparison of European and populist discourse in order to demonstrate how Europe and populism are at two sides of a dichotomic order which, however, are closer than expected.

# **Chapter 6 - Territoriality and identity markers: the battlefield of contemporary Europe**

As reported in the previous chapters, various factors are hindering the EU from establishing a compelling narrative to legitimise its identity. These range from economic issues and migrant flows to citizens' disengagement and unbridgeable cultural differences (Ntampoudi, 2014; Held & McNally, 2015). All these issues undoubtedly generated a climate of instability that populist parties were ready to tap into to strengthen their positions and open up to a wider electorate. However, what is striking is the amount of similarities that pervade EU identity building practices and their populist counterparts'. Though positioned at two opposite sides of a dichotomic order that characterises the EU as a benign identity against the populist villains, the underlying theme of territoriality pervades the discursive practices of both entities. This reinforces post-structuralist accounts that foresee a relationship of interdependence between the Self and the Other, as shall be seen in this chapter.

As Paasi, in Sack's words, remarks, territoriality is a "spacial strategy" the aim of which is to establish boundaries and zones of influence, geographically and culturally (Paasi, 1998, p.6). Such strategy, Paasi continues, is particularly relevant as globalisation has created what he calls a "world of flows" (Paasi, 1998, p.1). Such boundaries, Newman specifies, are continuously brought down and reconstructed to perpetuate the Self-Other dichotomy that confers meaning to every identity (Newman, 2005). The way in which such mechanism has been complicated for states by globalisation has been explained earlier in this paper: national identity has been complemented by other factors, such as economic crises and migrant flows. These generate a kind of Other that transcends geographical boundaries and represents both an intra- and a cross-border threat (Bteddini, 2008).

## **6.1 The North-South divide**

The above mentioned system proves particularly true if taken on the level of EU identity. The European multi-layer governance is generating exactly the same effect with striking similarities with some mechanisms enacted by the populist parties analysed in the previous chapter. In fact, if on European level the refugee crisis, the democratic deficit and the sovereign debt crisis have been generating a North-South divide, such pattern can easily be retrieved in early Lega Nord's discursive practices. In fact, during the 1990s, Lega Nord's discursive efforts all aimed to build a cultural and physical boundary. Such boundary would divide virtuous Northerners and passive Southerners thanks to the banks of the sacred Po river (Giordano, 2000).

Just like in the EU nowadays, the Lega's discourse was generated by massive flows of Others, in this case represented by Southern Italians moving to the North of the country (Dematteo, 2011). Likewise, the economic component played a relevant role in both cases: scandals and corruption in the Italian political landscape were damaging Italian economy and creating yet another intra-border Other for the Lega to oppose, namely the Italian government. Similarly, within the EU, the financial crisis furthered "narratives of blaming" within the allegedly unified territory of the European Union (Ntampoudi, 2014, p.6).

In both cases, as Paasi highlights, boundaries represent the "expression of social, economic, cultural and political life" that stress the North-South dichotomy, the North being attributed a higher value as virtuous and productive against a "profligate" South (Paasi, 1996; Galpin, 2014, p.118). This generates what Albahari describes as "moral geography" (Albahari, 2009, p.142). To substantiate this statement it is enough to look at both Lega Nord's and the EU's attitude towards their respective peripheries, a concept that will be discussed more extensively further in this chapter. In the European case, Northern European states have been presenting themselves as virtuous and as the strong promoters of austerity measures against a reprobate European South which, in need social policies, proves to be at the "outskirts" of the European polity (Talia, n.d., p.147). Such blaming mechanism is recurrent in Lega Nord's discourse as well.

In the Italian case, Lega Nord constructed a Padanian Northern identity as the "bulwark of fairness and respect", as strong as a "fist", thus denoting rationality, vigour, power and a general condition of supremacy and dominance over Southerners' government (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014; Dematteo, 2011, p.25). The latter, characterised by a fraudulent attitude, is identified as a "paunch", a large belly (Dematteo, 2011, p.25). Such identification underlines two characteristics: firstly it hints at Southerners' corruption as the Italian language uses the metaphor 'to eat money' in order to refer to one's readiness to accept bribes. Secondly, it may represent a reference to the way in which popular culture has been characterising Southern Italians. These, as Albahari and Talia remark, have often been associated with strong emotions (the site of which is mythologically a person's abdomen), irrationality, violence, patriarchy and "dense backwardness" (Albahari, 2009; Talia, n.d., p.1).

A compelling development to testify the changing meaning of boundaries that was highlighted at the beginning of this chapter is Southern Italy's changing self-perception. While currently being included in Italian populist discourse as an integral part of the Italian nation, Southern Italy seems to be

undergoing a switch in discursive practices. These have started to position the area as "the centre of the Mediterranean" and part of Western Europe (Albahari, 2009, p.141). This is so, Albahari continues, because migrant flows have been a source of Others that has boosted Southern Italy's self-perception as a territory of "wealthy and hardworking Westerners" living on an "open frontier" that allows "lazy" migrants in (Albahari, 2009, p.142, p.151, p.141).

## **6.2 Cross-border cooperation and influence**

Despite the fundamental existence of a North-South divide, as stated in Chapter 4, European discourse emphasises the EU's capacity to stimulate cross-border forms of cooperation and influence in a non-dominant way. Though not overtly stated, such position denotes a form of territoriality already. Such premise is once again similar to the self-perception of Lega Nord and M5S, though it is expressed in different, sometimes opposite, ways. In fact, at the dawn of Lega Nord, the party stood for a form of cooperation among various independence movements in Northern Italy (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). Territoriality was therefore seen as the basis for political action. It was clearly stated through the creation of Padania both as a territory and as a fluid identity capable of creating an imagined community against the threat of globalisation (Bteddini, 2008; Cento Bull & Gilbert, 2001).

An innovation in the ways in which territoriality is exerted is represented by M5S. In fact, the movement can be considered as 'cross-border' in the sense that it completely transcends geographical and, most importantly, political borders. In fact, the movement united an electorate from different socio-political backgrounds in a situation of a-territoriality which is both geographical and moral. However, such positioning has contributed to develop a boundary that separates citizens from political elites through an anti-establishment attitude as well as through the creation of an extra-territorial space constituted by the internet (Floridia & Vignati, 2014; Tronconi, 2013; Fornaro, 2012). This last point will be highlighted further in this chapter.

The way in which the EU has been making efforts to exert influence, and hence territoriality, are multiple, two of which are similar to, yet diverging from, the analysed populist movements. Firstly, the creation of the Eurozone constitutes an attempt by the EU to create an area of influence in which peoples, bound by the same currency, would further integrate their economy to European standards, in a community mainly characterised by economic benefits and a free market (European Commission,

2014). On the contrary, Lega Nord and M5S advocate a return to national currencies, thus mainly fostering isolationism and a form of territoriality that clearly opposes the European project.

Secondly, language policies represent an effort to exert territoriality. In fact, as highlighted previously in this paper, during the 1990s, the EC took important steps to promote linguistic differences among the various peoples of Europe, also considering the upcoming enlargement (Kovacev, 2006). Lega Nord, in parallel, engaged in defending the Lombard language as a way to fight for the sovereignty of Padania and to defend its culture and history (Segreteria Organizzativa Federale, n.d.). Though the EU denoted an attitude of openness and diversification while Lega Nord focused on closure, both efforts aimed to unite a territory through language. Such aspect is not to be overlooked as language is instrumental for the establishment of common perceptions of reality (Danaher et al., 2000).

The greatest territoriality project by the EU, however, remains its enlargement. The following section will elaborate on it and on how Lega Nord and, partly, M5S have countered that.

## 6.3 Territoriality: enlargement and localism as moral duties

As previously highlighted, the master narrative promoted by European elites is that of enlargement as the final move towards lifting the barriers created by the Cold War (Ganeshalingam, n.d.). Such action of lifting barriers was presented, as Vobruba points out, as a "moral necessity" (Vobruba, 2003, p.43). However, on the contrary, it can be argued that lifting barriers is nothing but the creation of new boundaries. In fact, the word 'barriers' seems to already presuppose a historical difference between Eastern and Western Europe, with the West presenting a condescending attitude towards the East.

The ways in which such East/West divide has been perpetrated are multiple. Firstly, as stated by Smith, the 1993 Copenhagen Criteria contributed to create what Maier and Rittberger name "symbolic boundaries" (Smith, 2002; Maier & Rittberger, 2008, p.249). This fostered a dichotomic order based on economic criteria for accession that stressed the difference between the Western market model and Eastern backwardness. Moreover, because of the convergence criteria being applied selectively in favour of Western European countries, the EU fostered a model of core and periphery that has not only generated economic gaps but also social divides (Vobruba, 2003).

Finally, by presenting enlargement as a way to rescue Europe from conflict and poverty, the EU has tapped into Eastern European fresh history of conflict. This fostered the fragmentation/integration dichotomy discussed in chapter 3 (Kølvraa, 2010). The result of this, Murphy points out, was Eastern

European elites' full support of enlargement, despite the exclusionary practices that were implied with it (Murphy, 1999). However, what has destabilised the EU is, as previously highlighted, a crisis of the values that the polity has promoted to justify enlargement, namely "pacification and prosperity" (Vobruba, 2003, p.44). Indeed, what is needed is a renewal of values to make enlargement as compelling as it was before.

On the contrary, Lega Nord has been able to reinvent its values over time and therefore it has also been able re-territorialise (Paasi, 1998). For instance, the party had no problem switching from a pro-European to an anti-European stance in 1996 by characterising Europe as a "Euromenace" and ascribing such feelings to a moral duty (Tarchi, 2016, p.192). Such moral duty, for Lega Nord, was constructed upon the need to defend the culture and work of previous generations as well as to protect the economy as a sign of respect towards people who were defeated by their economic issues and committed suicide ("Carta dei Valori", n.d.; Salvini, 2014a). Consequently, Lega Nord managed to broaden its set of values and took a chance to open up to a nationalist dimension which tapped into Italians' concerns caused by austerity measures against the rise of the EU's "imperial power" (Celiksu, 2014, p.234).

Just like in the case of the EU, Lega Nord's moral duty was to expand its set of beliefs to a wider territory. However, at the same time, a national retreat was advocated for, in clear contrast with the European enlargement project. Such struggle for ethical re-territorialisation was exacerbated by M5S which, despite its short history, successfully engaged in the creation of an extra-territorial space. Such space coincides with the web and, with its peculiarities, it has been at the centre of discursive practices which identify it as a tool to rescue democracy and achieve a utopian, transparent reality of direct participation (Mosca et al., 2016).

## **6.4 Racism and othering practices**

As seen in chapter 4, the biggest wave of European enlargement in 2002, accompanied by its master narrative outlined above, brought about a changing hierarchy of Others within the EU (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003). Such change took place within Lega Nord's discursive practices as well. While on EU level Eastern Europeans started to be considered as less of a threat compared to Africans, Latin Americans and Asians, Lega Nord witnessed a shift to secessionism, radicalisation and racism (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003; Biorcio & Vitale, 2010; Betz, 2016). Such shift favoured a change in

othering practices as Southern Italians were declassed in the hierarchy of Others in favour of a 'Christian West - Muslim Middle East' dichotomy that is still being perpetrated. This process, in fact, paved the way for the party's turn to Italian nationalism.

As the European and populist dynamics present similarities, one could argue that the European "project of non-domination" failed (Pellerin-Carlin, 2014, p.80). In fact, there are compelling arguments to put forward the idea that the EU has been increasingly engaging in discourse that is heavily pervaded by territorialism. Indeed, from a post-structuralist standpoint, it is only natural to construct an Other and transform it into a threat to create what Bteddini calls "rhetoric of insecurity" (Bteddini, 2008, p.114). More specifically, with the enlargement process, the EU has been furthering the creation of new boundaries through exclusionary practices that prove Campbell's vision of power as "disciplinary" extremely applicable (Campbell, 2013, p. 234).

As proof of the ongoing process of hierarchisation by the EU, one could argue that migrant and refugees, the so called "new Islamic reality", are currently being placed at the top of the hierarchical pyramid (Andre, 2015, p.188). It can be argued that this is so because of the policies that the EU has been developing to face the current refugee crisis. Indeed, as Karolewski highlights, border control policies such as Frontex, or more generally the common asylum policy, clearly ascribe the refugee matter as "the cornerstone of defensive collective identity" (Karolewski, 2010, p.148). Karolewski remarks that, indeed, some might argue that European policies concerning migration are rich with "Euro-racism" because of the iterated use of "biometrics" and "somatic" criteria (Karolewski, 2010, p.148).

Such distinction between Europeans and extra-communitarians is also retrievable in what Geddes calls an "integration problem" (Geddes, 2003, p.83). As discussed in chapter 4, through the introduction of European citizenship, the EU has been fostering a division between internal and external migrants (McLaren, 1999). Such division, specifically in the Italian case, represents a sensitive issue as Southern Italy, also due to the provisions laid out in the Dublin regulations, deals with the responsibility of welcoming extra-communitarians on the periphery of the EU (Albahari, 2009). This can be seen as reinforcing the core-periphery argument which both Lega Nord and M5S have tapped into to gather consensus in Southern Italy. In the case of M5S, such argument was further exploited to support the creation of an alliance of Mediterranean Member States to oppose austerity and, in a more concealed way, immigration (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2014).

One could argue that the idea of openness and "borderless world" promoted by the EU is fundamentally vain (Nougayrède, 2016, para.3). In fact, as argued by Albassam, recent policy developments within the EU have proved to be untrue to its core value of solidarity (Albassam, 2015). They have also remarked the elitist character of the EU as a polity and justified the rise of antiestablishment arguments characterising the EU as an "anti-democratic cage" (Geddes, 2003; Salvini, 2014b). However, there is a substantial difference between the EU and the populist parties considered in this dissertation. While the EU uses othering practices to prioritise widening driven by a "historic pledge", populism has been othering in favour of deepening with Lega Nord pushing for federalist reforms and M5S advocating for direct democracy (Archick, 2016, p.4; Marraccini, n.d; Floridia & Vignati, 2014).

Nevertheless, othering practices across the EU, Lega Nord and M5S present striking similarities, Lega Nord generally presenting a more overtly racist stance and the EU focusing on constructive discourse. As proof of this, it is enough to focus on the 1990s, when both the EU and Lega Nord were carrying out territorialising othering. As stated above, through the introduction of the Copenhagen Criteria, the EU was in fact constructing a boundary separating an economically virtuous West from a backwards East. In the same way, Lega Nord was opposing the wealth and productivity of Padania against the Southern inertia. Both practices were dictated by the same motivations: economic backwardness and a fundamental fear of mass migration.

As Turkey's accession to the EU became a more concrete option, both the EU and Lega Nord engaged in geopolitical othering. The Italian party, in fact, dropped its North-South dichotomy to embrace a categorisation of society based on a 'valiant Christianity/uncivilized Islam' dichotomic order (Betz, 2016). Once again, both othering practices were driven by the same motivations: cultural differences and geographical positions (Diez, 2006). However, Lega Nord added a more radical component by using discourse to create an anti-European, nationalist reality capable of linking migration to health issues and unemployment, as specified earlier in this paper. Such vision of reality has been naturalised among the party's supporters and has been taken up by rising M5S as a way to gather increasing consensus across all strata of society. Indeed, it is possible to state that, despite the different discursive practices adopted, nowadays, both the EU and populist parties are fundamentally sharing the same Other at the basis of their identity, territorial strategies and systems of values.

#### 6.5 Territoriality through values

As Castells remarks in Foucault's words, unless a concept is "internalised by the subject, its demise is only a matter of time" (Castells, 2010). As a result, in order for territorialising strategies to be effective, they need to be supported by a compelling set of values. As shall be seen below, the prevailing value that pervades the EU's, Lega Nord's and the M5S's discursive practices is that of active citizenship, though not always candidly stated.

#### 6.5.1 Mobility in the EU

Core values that have been characterising the EU are undoubtedly solidarity, respect for diversities, equal opportunities and, certainly, a free market (Ntampoudi, 2014; *Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union*, 2000). Through the value of solidarity the EU has furthered the idea of enlargement as an ethical commitment. Moreover, as Murphy remarks, association agreements stand for the utmost expression of the EU's territorialism as the polity seeks to extend its economic benefits to weaker countries and, consequently, establish new borders (Murphy, 1999). Such borders are reinforced by the Union's respect for diversities which fosters a system in which the Union presents itself as a benevolent, Other-oriented entity.

The values of equal opportunities and free market might appear as contradictory. However, the first justifies many of the policies regarding the welfare state that the EU has been pursuing such as the integration, albeit only to a certain degree, of pension and healthcare policies. In fact, these allow European citizens not to be hindered from moving and residing freely within the Union at any stage of their lives (European Commission, 2015). Without the initiatives taken for the sake of equal opportunities, the free market would probably not constitute much of a compelling ideal within the EU, thus making the polity unable to justify the deepening of European policy-making and the introduction of the four freedoms of movement.

All of the above mentioned values seem to converge towards one defining aspect: mobility. As remarked in chapter 4, freedom of movement has contributed to create a social divide in which only some strata of European society have been able to travel, work abroad or speak multiple languages (Fligstein, 2014). Such aspect recalls the core-periphery argument laid out in previous sections of this chapter by adding a social dimension to it which shapes yet another border that separates active

citizens from static ones. This, once again, hints at the elitist character of the EU and the policies furthered by it by creating a dichotomic order in which mobility is regarded as valuable and desirable.

## 6.5.2 Christian conservativism as active citizenship for Lega Nord

As stated in chapter 5 of this dissertation, the system of values promulgated by Lega Nord is strikingly close to traditional Southern Italian attachment to church, family and land (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Indeed, the value of Christianity itself has been repeatedly wielded by the party throughout the years to justify its anti-Islamic position. For instance, celebrating episodes such as the victory of Christians against the Muslims in Lepanto or advocating against the secularisation of educational institutions have been some of Lega Nord's effective discursive practices. Indeed, despite clearly countering Christian ethics, they helped naturalise the idea that all that is migrant is Muslim, and that all that is Muslim is to be attacked and destroyed.

Deriving from the Christian tradition are also the party's values of fairness and respect towards previous generations. Tapping into their death and the hard work that they carried out, Lega Nord normalised a national retreat and fiscal federalism as the only feasible and ethical option to counter European institutions. The latter are characterised as entities that "think and reflect" in a state of inertia against Lega Nord that, on the contrary, furthers action and defence of citizens (Salvini, 2015). The party's self-perception as laborious and upright is mirrored in the iteration of the values of hard work and economic entrepreneurship. These are mentioned in order to justify arguments against fiscal policies and the Euro, as well as against migrants' permanence on Italian soil. Once again, the 'activity-inertia' dichotomy is stressed to territorialise the Lega's discourse. At the same time, the healthy, honest and Christian Italian worker is opposed to the Muslim criminal carrier of diseases ("Centomila in piazza", 2014).

#### 6.5.3 Web communities as active citizenship for M5S

As previously mentioned, M5S's territorialising goal is, paradoxically, to establish the internet as an extra-territorial space in which citizens can interact freely, guided by the value of direct democracy in what Fornaro calls a "telematic agora" (Fornaro, 2012, p.2). Within such space, according to the party, citizens can form a compelling anti-government, outside of the traditional political realm, to achieve active citizenship against an ill government characterised by "apathy and passivity" (Floridia & Vignati, 2014, para.4; Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013). By escaping a physical territory, M5S undoubtedly brought

about an innovation on the Italian political landscape. However, this gave the movement more freedom to refuse all labels, be them geographical, cultural or political and develop silently to constitute a threat to the Italian political system.

M5S indeed developed an uncertain set of categories which will be discussed later. However, by radically opposing the media and political elites, it managed to give legitimacy to a new web-based information apparatus to which people feel bound and from which citizens gather motivation to go to the polls, express their vote and organise their local political life. Such participation has been ennobled through reversed discursive practices that characterised it as a fight for freedom and citizens' participation against the media and the caste's wish to enslave them (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013; Tronconi, 2013).

## 6.6 The "emotional power of territory" (Penrose, 2002, p.288)

Penrose highlights that establishing borders through discourse is a "very powerful form of territoriality" as it is a both uniting and strongly divisive practice (Penrose, 2002, p.285). Indeed, territorialisation is a glaring example of post-structural accounts concerning the presence of the Other within the Self, hence their interdependence and ethical relationship. Such relationship is the one that discourse aims to construct. In the case of territorialisation, this is done, as Penrose remarks, through emotionality, a skill both Lega Nord and M5S have proved to master (Penrose, 2002).

Beyond mere words, both movements have strived, through their leaders, to establish a very close relationship with their followers, based on or aided by face-to-face contact, even in the smallest centres. Such contact is characterised by a down-to-earth attitude, simple and concrete language and a range of epithets capable of arousing emotions and turning them into legitimacy (Celiksu, 2014, p.247). It is enough to think of M5S's and Lega Nord's iterated attacks on political elites drawing from imagery related to sexuality, mental health and physical disabilities (Sala, 2007; Pucciarelli, 2016). The involvement of citizens into "direct and personal experience", as Penrose reports, is one powerful way in which territoriality can be exercised, an attitude that the EU is yet to acquire given its elitist nature and the social divide deriving from it (Penrose, 2002, p.281).

Another way to reinforce territoriality, according to Penrose, is to establish "territories (...) as natural divisions (...) through naming" and highlighting their long history (Penrose, 2002, p.287). Lega Nord provides an excellent example of how such attachment can be generated as it created Padania's own

history and set of symbols. On the contrary, as will be seen below, it can be argued that the EU did not manage to construct a compelling history. Moreover, because of its exclusionary practices, as previously discussed, it can be argued that the EU might not be conceived of as a real union as its name states.

Finally, Penrose argues, it is important that the "relationship between people" and the places that sustain them is established in a clear way (Penrose, 2002). Once again, early Lega Nord provides a good example as it managed to create a strong attachment between people inhabiting Padania and their land as a source of labour and dignity ("Carta dei Valori", n.d,). On the contrary, the EU, possibly because of the multiple changes in outlook that it witnessed, did not manage to create such a bond, though the premises in the creation of the ECSC might have been valuable.

## **6.7 The relevance of identity markers**

As highlighted in chapter 1 of this dissertation and as remarked in the previous sections, it is possible to construct and naturalise categories through discourse. Such categories allow the creation of cultures and norms for subjects to identify with (Caterino, 2008; Borg & Diez, 2016; Carta & Morin, 2013). In this regard, populism can be seen as reversed discourse stemming from general confusion and need for belonging which promotes what Nevola calls "glocalism" (Nevola, 2011, p.35). As seen in chapter 1, reversed discourse is vital to oppose mainstream discourse and produce new compelling fields of knowledge and perceptions of reality (Weedon, 2004; Finkelde, 2013). This section will analyse the reasons why one could argue that the EU is not managing to build a compelling narrative against the rise of populist movements.

#### 6.7.1 Politics

Politically speaking, as previously stated, the EU is neither a state, nor an international organisation which has serious repercussions on its policy-making process. Such process per se represents a potential tool for powerful discursive practices and therefore for strong identity building. As a result, it is difficult for the EU to shape identity markers. In such situation, one could retrieve patterns typical of M5S as the movement presents itself as a non-party, with no position in the political left-right or the geographical North-South. However, on the contrary, by strongly denying all labels, M5S has built strong attachment using negation as an identity marker. At the other side of the spectrum is Lega Nord which has built a compelling Padanian identity, which even came to signify Italian national identity.

Unlike M5S, Lega Nord uses strong affirmations to create identity markers. What is common to both movements is a strong, quasi-despotic leadership which might be seen as a powerful identity marker itself.

#### 6.7.2 Culture and mutual trust

Culturally speaking, as previously highlighted, the EU competes with national identity over the same symbols (Cinpoes, 2008). In order to differentiate itself, Kovacev believes, the EU needs to construct a set of "postnational" identity markers, such as values (Kovacev, 2006, p.3). Lega Nord seems to have taken account of it in its switch from regionalism to nationalism. Through the party's set of values, Lega Nord has managed to identify compelling outsiders and to promote a set of rights and values which have granted a greater pool in its electorate (Biorcio & Vitale, 2010). Such switch to nationalism has also helped the movement unsettle the typical East-West divide in Europe by creating affiliations with Putin, as well as Le Pen and Wilders, against Islam (Riva, 2015).

In this regard, if one is to stick to the premise that the construction of the subject happens outside of the subject itself, it is possible to notice how difficult it must be for the EU to envisage a clear set of values and generate a clear set of 'enemies'. In fact, because of its frequent changes in outlook, both when it comes to enlargement and to institutional changes deriving from the treaties, the EU has not been able to state its values overtly. What seems to have remained common to European rhetoric is a certain elitism and an economy-centred discourse. Indeed, the Euro can be seen as the EU's strongest identity marker. However, Weedon argues, in the wake of migration issues and financial crunches, it does not seem to be enough as identity issues are being brought back on the table by populist parties (Weedon, 2004).

Indeed, as laid out previously in this dissertation, the Euro is identified as a cultural identity marker. European elites consider it as the synthesis of "United in Diversity" and scholars see it as the entitativity of European identity to build relationships of mutual trust (European Commission, 2013; Risse, 2002; Kaelber, 2004). What this symbol currently faces, though, is an existential crisis due to the lack of unitary economic and political strategies across Member States, the same reason why the North-South divide seems to have generated (Lichfield, 2012). The EU's response to this have been austerity measures which are seen by many as "punitive solutions" (Held and McNally, 2015, para.7).

On the contrary, populist parties have focused on firstly building trust among their followers in order to legitimise their advice to return to the Lira as a national currency (MoVimento 5 Stelle, 2014; "Basta Euro Tour", n.d.). As a result, such discourse is highly supported and isolationism is ultimately seen as beneficial (Davidesera, 2012). Indeed, populist parties have seen a window of opportunity for unification and nationalism in the EU's struggle to fortify the Euro as an identity marker. Consequently, discourse based on themes related to social protection developed. Accordingly, Lega Nord characterised the Euro as a "criminal currency" and "poverty tool" and M5S united its followers as brothers fighting for the greater good of society (Salvini, 2014a; La Terra, 2012).

## 6.7.3 Common history

Historically speaking, it has been argued that the EU "lacks a pre-modern past" (Smith, 1992, p.62). Rather, it is the result of a variety of influences such as the Christian one, Illuminist thinking and a long tradition of trade. However, ascribing the cause of the EU's identity crisis to lack of historicity might be reductive. In fact, the polity has developed a set of symbols and rituals such as an anthem, logo, slogan and day which were shaped on previously institutionalised values. On the contrary, populists built themselves a compelling history and set of values through rituals: it is enough to think about Lega Nord's celebration of the oath of Pontida. Such rituals were discursively used to determine identity markers that would be modified over time to shape a connection among followers.

By building a strong history of ethnic exclusion, heroism and hard work, Lega Nord managed to turn ethnicity into its primary identity marker. However, M5S stands for the proof that a common past is not enough to bind citizens together. In fact, rather than focusing on the grandeur of past times, the movement managed to bind its followers by envisioning a utopian future based on ancient Greek traditions of direct democracy (Biancalana & Tronconi, 2014; Biorcio, 2015). Just like in politics and party structure, by looking up to a future based on a distant past, M5S seems to be promoting identity markers that are 'either and both'. This is a strategy that is similar to the EU's as the polity supports seemingly incompatible national and European identities (Clark & Jones, 2008).

#### 6.8 New media to renew identity markers

As highlighted previously in this dissertation, there is a set of "disembodied communication technologies" that constitute a valid opportunity to create new identity markers to contrast what Prentoulis calls "European dystopia" (*Identity Politics*, 2016; Prentoulis, 2016, para.10). Indeed,

Castells remarks, politics is nowadays carried out in a "network society" and increasingly turning into "media politics" (Castells, 2010). Upon such concept, both Lega Nord and M5S have elaborated, though each in different ways. In fact, Lega Nord has strengthened its social media presence to reach for a wider audience and reinforce the newly created identity of the "Young Padanian" ("Carta dei Valori", n.d, para.1). However, M5S has built its entire success on its innovative use of media (Mosca et al., 2016).

Through the web, M5S has built its utopia of web populism, it has turned the internet into a powerful identity marker capable of creating an extra-territorial space in which renewed political engagement takes place thanks to techniques of "viral marketing" (Fornaro, 2012, p.4). Indeed, the internet was constructed by M5S as a redemption tool of purification to achieve freedom and transparency in a 'real world' made of corruption and gossip (Bobba & Legnate, 2017). Thanks to the web communities that the movement has managed to unite, followers pursue real-world engagement, exchange of ideas and, ultimately, "active citizenship" (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013, p.438).

In contrast, Jensen and Richardson report, what the EU proposes is what they call a "monotopia" in which, as highlighted previously in this paper, mobility represents the ultimate goal in Europe, in a space that is "organised, ordered and totalised" (Jensen & Richardson, 2004, p.3). That is why, this paper argues, the EU is going through a very distinctive phase of territorialism through which it is attempting to build new, more powerful identity markers in the light of the populist rise. Indeed, such rise stands for an Other that, for better or for worse, lives in the European Self and contributes to shape its identity.

## **Conclusions**

The central research question which this paper has attempted to answer is "How can the post-structuralist theory of the Self/Other dichotomy explain the European Union's current identity crisis?". In order to achieve meaningful results and a comprehensive vision, research was broken down into a series of sub-questions. Firstly, research focused on laying out post-structuralist theory and closely relating it with the field of IR. This was done in order to explain the relevance of the Self/Other dichotomy to states' identity. Secondly, views on the meaning and causes of the European identity crisis were examined in order to provide a more concrete context for a topic as nebulous as European identity. This was also achieved by performing an analysis of European discourse concerning European identity and its symbols. Thirdly, the phenomena that the crisis generated on national level were reviewed with the help of a case study on Italian populist discourse.

The poststructuralist approach was chosen as it represents a critical tool to look at reality, question its meaning and understand dynamics of power through discourse (Campbell, 2013). In fact, poststructuralism poses the question of what it means to identify oneself and what ethical relations this entails towards an Other that exists both outside and within the Self (Fagan, 2013). Indeed, poststructuralism sees an inescapable relationship between the Self and the Other which coexist and constitute each other in a dichotomic order based on discursive practices (Diez, 2004). Such model, as Campbell points out, is extremely reliable when applied to IR dynamics as it is through discourse that political decisions are justified and social relations are shaped (Campbell, 2013). The task of exploring how such practices came to be established by the powerful is delegated to deconstruction, archaeology and genealogy. These provided a valid path for this dissertation to expose the ways in which the EU came to acquire legitimacy through othering practices.

After performing the genealogy of European identity, research pointed out that there are three main recurring tropes in European elites' discourse: the Christian tradition, the rational force of the Enlightenment and the economic rationale of the European free market (Cinpoes, 2008; Smith, 1992; Winn, 2000; Kølvraa, 2010; Sidaway & Pryke, 2001). Such themes are referred to as a way to build cohesiveness among European citizens in the wake of globalisation. However, they are also at the basis of much of the EU's policy making and system of values. It is enough to think of the values of solidarity and equal opportunities which present clear connections with Christianity (Ntampoudi, 2014). One more example is the establishment of the four freedoms of movement as pure expression of the EU's

economic character. Beside such values, research showed that throughout its existence, the EU has been systematically carrying out othering practices, firstly towards the Balkans and its own past and currently towards Turkey and the waves of Muslim migrants and refugees (Checkel & Katzenstein, 2009; Biegon, 2013; Diez, 2006; Öner, n.d.; Petersson & Hellström, 2003).

However, as assumed in the central research question, what the EU is currently facing is an identity crisis which this dissertation has identified as a crisis of narratives, values and territoriality. Six factors have been determined as the possible causes for such situation:

- 1. the lack of a compelling narrative capable of really uniting all cultures in the diversity of the European Union (Fukuyama, 2012; Cinpoes, 2008).
- 2. The hybrid nature of the EU which does not allow the polity to shape and execute policies effectively (Manners, 2001; Schmidt, 1999).
- The EU's waves of enlargement which have been presented to citizens as a "moral necessity" and a peaceful project of non-domination (Vobruba, 2003, p.43).
- 4. The current refugee crisis which has shown the frailty of the values of solidarity and equal opportunities in favour of instances of racism and national retreat (Triandafyllidou & Spohn, 2003).
- 5. The sovereign debt crisis which has uncovered the weaknesses of the Euro, previously presented as a common currency capable of binding Europeans in relations of mutual trust (Kaelber, 2004; Lichfield, 2012).
- 6. Citizens' detachment from the European democratic process in favour of nationalism, populism and Euroscepticism which are currently constituting a considerable, yet overlooked, threat to the European project (Weedon, 2004; Hooghe, 2004; Trenz, 2012).

The case study on Italian populist parties Lega Nord and M5S proved the validity of the sixth factor and the ways in which nationalism is tapping exactly into the issues that are causing the EU's standstill. Though characterised by different dynamics, both Lega Nord and M5S present a very strong component of territoriality which, this paper argues, has given both movements strength. Lega Nord engaged in promoting traditional values of honesty and hard work to legitimise the existence of Padania, a fictitious "Republic of the North" pressing for Northern Italy's secession from the South (Balocco & Maggiora, 2014). With the passing of time, Padanian identity opened up to an Italian nationalist stance and nowadays it has come to naturalise an anti-Muslim, anti-European stance to which even a considerable

number of Southern citizens relate (Porcellato & Rombi, 2014; Bussoletti, 2009; Celiksu, 2014; Emanuele & Maggini, 2014).

Similarly, M5S has been constructing an ideological apparatus which has broken all geographical and political barriers to bring together Italian citizens from all strata of society (Corbetta & Vignati, 2013). Research has shown that M5S's strength is protest which is expressed by a disdain for political labels and elites (Tronconi, 2013). Indeed, the movement asserts its identity by expressing what it is not and gathering supporters in an extra-territorial space which coincides with the web. Through the web, communities are built which share a sense of belonging, take action on local level and participate in political processes for the sake of a utopian future of direct democracy (Bordignon & Ceccarini, 2013; Fornaro, 2012; Biorcio, 2015).

In the light of the results obtained, it was possible to compare European and populist discourse to conclude that they can be located at two sides of a dichotomic order in which populists are promoting an anti-European national retreat while the EU works to establish common identity markers to bind Europeans in a community of cultures. However, there are underlying themes of territoriality and active citizenship which denote both the EU's and populists' strategic efforts to exert power on a given geographical area. While Lega Nord has always overtly stated this through the iteration Padanian identity, M5S has sought such territoriality in an unexplored land: the web. On the contrary, the EU has been adopting more concealed ways to exert its territoriality and carry out its othering practices through the creation of the Eurozone, the enlargement process and what some would define as racist policy-making.

As a matter of fact, the EU has been promoting the idea of a "borderless world" and putting its enlargement project forward as a "moral necessity" to rescue Eastern Europe from economic backwardness and conflict (Nougayrède, 2016, para.3; Vobruba, 2003, p.43). This clearly denotes an effort to establish new boundaries, which, together with the introduction of European citizenship, have contributed to establish a hierarchy of Others which lives on nowadays. Such hierarchy is reflected on the way the EU has been handling the migrant and refugee crisis: though expressing Europe's welcome through the Common Asylum Policy and the Dublin regulations, the EU has furtherly contributed to draw a boundary between extra-communitarian and intra-communitarian migrants while highlighting Southern European countries' condition as European periphery (Karolewski, 2010; Vobruba, 2003).

Indeed, binary oppositions pervade the discourse of populist parties but they do not spare the 'virtuous' EU in the attempt to exert territoriality and establish a compelling narrative for citizens to internalise. As a result, it can be concluded that indeed the EU and Italian populist parties are at two different sides of a dichotomic order. However, they constitute each other, shape each other's discourse and compete over narratives. What this paper has carried out is an example of deconstruction to highlight how in the 'EU/populist parties' dichotomic order, neither the EU nor populist parties can be rightfully attributed greater value without compelling discursive efforts to substantiate such choice.

## References

- Albahari, M. (2009). Between Mediterranean Centrality and European Periphery: Migration and Heritage in Southern Italy. *International Journal of Euro-Mediterranean Studies, 1(2),* 141-162. Retrieved 16 December 2016 from http://www.emuni.si/press/ISSN/1855-3362/1\_141-162.pdf
- Albassam, A. (15 December 2015). Europe 's Refugee Crisis: Assessing the Factors Preventing a

  Coordinated EU Response. Retrieved 2 November 2016 from http://repository.usfca.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1194&context=thes
- Alessi, C., & McBride, J. (11 February 2015). *The Eurozone Crisis*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.cfr.org/eu/eurozone-crisis/p22055
- Andre, V. (2015). Merah and Breivik: A Reflection of the European Identity Crisis. *Islam and Christian—Muslim Relations*, 26(2), 183-204. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09596410.2015.1015246
- Andreatta, F. (2011). The European Union's International Relations: A Theoretical View. In Hill, C., & Smith, M. (Eds.), *International Relations and the European Union* (pp. 21-43). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Archick, K. (21 June 2016). *The European Union: Current Challenges and Future Prospects*. Retrieved 29 October 2016 from https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R44249.pdf
- Aydın-Düzgit, S. (2014). Critical discourse analysis in analysing European Union foreign policy:

  Prospects and challenges. *Cooperation and Conflict, 49(3),* 354-367. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://cac.sagepub.com/content/49/3/354.full.pdf+html
- Balocco, S. & Maggiora, P. (27 December 2014). *La Lega Nord. Dalla Nascita ai Giorni Nostri.*Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://www.tuttostoria.net/storia-contemporanea.aspx?code=685
- Bartlett, J., Froio, C., Littler, M., McDonnel, D. (2013). "Social media is changing politics across

  Europe..." New Political Actors in Europe: Beppe Grillo and the M5S. London: Demos. Retrieved

  28 November 2016 from
  - http://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/26217/Beppe\_Grillo\_and\_the\_M5S\_-\_Demos\_web\_2013.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Basta Euro. (n.d.). Retrieved 26 November 2016 from http://www.bastaeuro.org/
- Basta Euro Tour. (n.d.). Retrieved 26 November 2016 from http://www.leganord.org/index.php/basta-

#### euro-tourm

- Belsey, C. (2002). Postructuralism. A Very Short Introduction. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bernasconi, R. (2005). Who is my neighbor? Who is the Other? Questioning "the generosity of Western thought". In Katz, C.E., Trout, L. (Eds.), *Emmanuel Levinas. Critical Assessments of Leading Philosophers. Vol. IV, Beyond Levinas* (pp. 5-30). Abington, Oxon: Routledge
- Betz, H. (2016). Against the 'Green Totalitarianism': Anti-Islamic Nativism in Contemporary Radical Right-Wing Populism in Western Europe. In Schori Liang, C. (Ed.), Europe for the Europeans: the Foreign and Security Policy of the Populist Radical Right (pp.33-54). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Bialasiewicz, L., Campbell, D., Elden, S., Graham, S., Jeffrey, A., Williams, A.J. (2007). Performing security: The imaginative geographies of current US strategy. *Political Geography, 26*, 405-422.

  Retrieved 1 October 2016 from https://www.david-campbell.org/wp-content/documents/Performing\_Security.pdf
- Biancalana, C. & Tronconi, F. (2014). Il Movimento 5 Stelle: te la do io l'Europa!. In Valbruzzi, M., & Vignati, R. (Eds.), *L'Italia e l'Europa al Bivio delle Riforme: Le elezioni europee e amministrative del 25 Maggio 2014* (pp.127-139). Bologna: Istituto Cattaneo. http://www.academia.edu/7653705/C.\_Biancalana\_e\_F.\_Tronconi\_Il\_Movimento\_5\_stelle\_te\_la\_do\_io\_l\_Europa\_
- Bidussa, D., (30 May 2014), *L'antieuropeismo di Beppe Grillo e Marine Le Pen*. Doppiozero. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.doppiozero.com/materiali/commenti/lantieuropeismo-dibeppe-grillo-e-marine-le-pen
- Biegon, D. (March 2013). Specifying the Arena of Possibilities: Post-Structuralist Narrative Analysis and the European Commission's Legitimation Strategies. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies,* 51(2), 194-211. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1468-5965.2012.02310.x/full
- Biorcio, R. (2015). Introduzione: partecipazione, attivismo e democrazia. In Biorcio, R. (Ed.), *Gli attivisti del Movimento 5 Stelle: Dal web al territorio* (pp. 1-28). Milano: Franco Angeli s.r.l.
- Biorcio, R. & Natale, P. (February 2013). Introduzione: Un Movimento di Tipo Nuovo. In Biorcio, R., & Natale, P. (Eds.), *Politica a 5 Stelle: Idee, Storia e Strategie del Movimento di Grillo* (pp.9-21). Milan: Giangiacomo Feltrinelli Editore.
- Biorcio, R. & Vitale, T. (2010). Culture, Value and Social Basis of Northern Italian Centrifugal

- Regionalism. Retrieved 19 November 2016 from https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/file/index/docid/1044408/filename/vitale-biorcio-proceedings.pdf
- Blanco Sío-López, C. (6 July 2016). *Dynamics of Inclusion and Exclusion in the European integration process*. Retrieved 2 November 2016 from http://www.cvce.eu/content/publication/2013/11/29/7eb8c728-6b0a-4754-a341-187be5dd173b/publishable en.pdf
- Bobba, G. & Legnate, G. (2017). Italy: a Breeding Ground for Populist Political Communication. In Aalberg, T., Esser, F., Reinemann, C., Strömbäck, J., & de Vreese, C. H. (Eds.), *Populist Political Communication in Europe*, Abingdon: Routledge.
- Bordignon, F. & Ceccarini, L. (21 February 2013). Five Stars and a Cricket. Beppe Grillo Shakes Italian Politics. *South European Society and Politics*, *18*(4), 427-449. Retrieved 28 November 2016 from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13608746.2013.775720
- Borg, S. & Diez, T. (2016). Postmodern EU? Integration between Alternative Horizons and Territorial Angst\*. *Journal of Common Market Studies, 54(1),* 136-151. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jcms.12327/epdf
- Breakwell, G. M. (2004). Identity Change in the Context of the Growing Influence of European Union Institutions. In Herrman, R. K., Risse, T., & Brewer, M. B. (Eds.), *Transnational Identities:*Becoming European in the EU (pp.25-49). Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Bteddini, L. (2008). Writing Security: United States Foreign Policy and the Politics of Identity. [Review of the book Writing Security: United States Foreign Policy and the Politics of Identity]. *Human Security Journal, 8,* 113-118. Retrieved 1 October 2016 from https://s3.amazonaws.com/s3.libraryofsocialscience.com/pdf/Bteddini+-+Writing+Security.pdf
- Bührmann, A. (2014). Euroscepticism shaping Migration Discourses? An Analysis of political Debates

  on Immigration from Bulgaria and Romania. Retrieved 1 September 2016 from

  http://essay.utwente.nl/65982/1/Buehrmann\_BA\_MB.pdf
- Buonanno, L. & Nugent, N. (2013). *Policies and Policy Processes of the European Union*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan
- Bussoletti, A. (2009). Carroccio e Transizione: la Proposta Politica, le Alleanze e l'Evoluzione della Lega

- Nord 1994-2001. Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/1761154/Carroccio\_e\_transizione.\_La\_proposta\_politica\_le\_allean ze\_e\_levoluzione\_della\_Lega\_Nord\_1994-2001
- Buttonwood. (15 July 2015). Even more on debt and democracy. *The Economist*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.economist.com/blogs/buttonwood/2015/07/euro-crisis
- Campbell, D. (2013). Poststructuralism. In Dunne, T., Kurki, M. & Smith, S. (Eds.), *International Relations Theories*. *Discipline and Diversities* (pp.223-246). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Canale Italia. (9 June 2016). *Matteo Salvini, due minuti per dire alla Commissione europea:*\*VERGOGNATEVI!!!. [Video File]. Retrieved 4 December 2016 from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JtRoqcxVwUo
- Carta, C. & Morin, J. (2013). Struggling over meanings: Discourses on the EU's international presence.

  \*Cooperation and Conflict, 0(0), 1-20. Retrieved 30 December 2016 from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259204397\_Struggling\_over\_meanings\_Discourses \_\_on\_the\_EU's\_international\_presence
- Carta dei Valori. (n.d.). Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://www.giovanipadani.leganord.org/carta-dei-valori/
- Castells, M. (2010). *The Information Age: Economy, Society, and Culture, Volume II. Power of Identity*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Caterino, B.J. (2008). *Poststructuralism*. International Encyclopedia of Social Sciences.

  Retrieved 30 September 2016 from

http://www.encyclopedia.com/topic/Poststructuralism.aspx

- Celiksu, S. (2014). *The making of the Padanian Nation: Corruption, Hegemony, Globalisation and Legitimacy.*Retrieved 20 November 2016 from https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/catalog/ac%3A194454
- Cento Bull, A. & Gilbert, M. (2001). Conclusions. In *The Lega Nord and the Northern Question in Italian Politics* (pp.173-183). Basingstoke: PALGRAVE.
- Cento Bull, A. & Gilbert, M. (2001). Introduction. In *The Lega Nord and the Northern Question in Italian Politics* (pp.1-8). Basingstoke: PALGRAVE.
- Centomila in piazza: Il Nord espelle Alfano. (19 October 2014). Il Giornale. Retrieved 4 December 2016

- from http://www.ilgiornale.it/news/politica/centomila-piazza-nord-espelle-alfano-1060810.html
- Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union. (18 December 2000). Retrieved 30 December 2016 from http://www.europarl.europa.eu/charter/pdf/text\_en.pdf
- Checkel, J.T. & Katzenstein, J. (2009). The Politicization of European Identities. In Checkel, J.T., & Katzenstein, J. (Eds.), *European Identity* (pp. 1-28). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Chueh, H. (2000). *Identity, Difference and Politics: a Poststructuralist Investigation*. Retrieved 2

  October 2016 from https://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/handle/2292/2019
- Cinpoes, R. (2008). From National Identity to European Identity. *Journal of Identity and Migration*Studies, 2(1), 3-14. Retrieved 7 October 2016 from http://www.e-migration.ro/jims/Vol2\_no1\_2008/JIMS\_vol2\_no1\_2008\_CINPOES.pdf
- Clark, J. & Jones, A. (July 2008). The spatialities of Europeanisation: Territory, government and power in 'EUrope'. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers, 33(3),* 300-318. Retrieved 16 December 2016 from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/227907270\_The\_spatialities\_of\_Europeanisation\_T erritory government and power in 'EUrope'
- Corbetta, P. & Vignati, V. (2013). Left or Right? The Complex Nature and Uncertain Future of the 5

  Stars Movement. *Italian Politics & Society, 72-73,* 53-62. Retrieved 27 November 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/7492312/Left\_or\_right\_The\_complex\_nature\_and\_uncertain\_future\_of\_the\_5\_Stars\_Movement\_by\_P.\_Corbetta\_and\_R.\_Vignati
- Crisp, J. (24 June 2014). Brexit threatens the UK, the EU and the economy. *Euractiv*. Retrieved 29

  December 2016 from https://www.euractiv.com/section/uk-europe/news/brexit-threatens-the-uk-the-eu-and-the-economy/
- Danaher, G., Schirato, T., & Webb, J. (2000). *Understanding Foucault*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Davidesera. (30 April 2012). *Antieuropeismo elevato a 5 Stelle*. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from https://yespolitical.com/2012/04/30/antieuropeismo-elevato-a-5-stelle/
- Dematteo, L. (2011). L'Idiota in Politica. Milano: Giangiacomo Feltrinelli Editore
- Di Canzio, V. (2016). European cultural identity: a phoenix or a chimera?
- Di Marco, A. (20 June 2016). Chi è Chiara Appendino, il nuovo sindaco di Torino. *Il Post*. Retrieved 4

  December 2016 from http://www.ilpost.it/2016/06/20/chiara-appendino-torino/
- Di Marzio, L. (6 December 2014). Bergamo, lite sul presepe vietato in una scuola. Salvini: "Lo porto io".

- *Il Giornale*. Retrieved 4 December 2016 from http://www.ilgiornale.it/news/cronache/bergamo-polemica-presepe-vietato-scuola-salvini-dono-io-1073331.html
- Diez, T. (2004). Europe's others and the return of geopolitics. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs, 17(2),* 319-335. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0955757042000245924
- Diez, T. (2006). Constructing the Self and Changing Others: Reconsidering 'Normative Power Europe'.

  Retrieved 12 October 2016 from

  http://www.academia.edu/476210/Constructing\_the\_Self\_and\_Changing\_Others\_Reconsideri
  ngNormative Power Europe
- Dolan, J. (1989). In Defense of the Discourse: Materialist Feminism, Postmodernism,

  Poststructuralism... And Theory. *TDR*, *33*(*3*), 58-71. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from

  http://www.jstor.org/stable/1145987
- Edkins, J. (1999). Politics, Subjectivity and Depoliticization. In Poststructuralism & International Relations: Bringing the Political Back in (pp.1-20). Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, Inc.
- Emanuele, V., & Maggini, N. (9 December 2014). *Il Bacino Elettorale della Lega: geografia,*caratteristiche socio-politiche e atteggiamenti. Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://cise.luiss.it/cise/2014/12/09/il-bacino-elettorale-della-lega-geografia-caratteristiche-socio-politiche-e-atteggiamenti/
- Europe Cultural Identity Cultural Diversity Speech by Jean-Claude Trichet, President of the ECB.

  (16 March 2009). Retrieved 12 November 2016 from https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/key/date/2009/html/sp090316 1.en.html
- European Commission. (30 July 2015). Ageing and welfare state policies. Retrieved 19 December 2016 from http://ec.europa.eu/economy\_finance/structural\_reforms/ageing/index\_en.htm
- European Commission. (27 March 2014). *Economic stability and growth*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://ec.europa.eu/economy\_finance/euro/why/stability\_growth/index\_en.htm
- European Commission. (4 September 2013). *A symbol of European identity*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://ec.europa.eu/economy\_finance/euro/why/identity/index\_en.htm
- Fagan, M. (2013). Ethics, Politics, Limits. In *Ethics and Politics After Poststructuralism: Levinas, Derrida and Nancy* (pp. 15-43), Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press Ltd.
- Fernandes, V.S.C. (2009). The Political uses of identity and ethnography of the northern league.

- Retrieved 20 November 2016 from http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/2080/1/2080\_88.PDF?UkUDh:CyT
- Fiammeri, B. (29 January 2016). Salvini e Le Pen, "Schengen è finito". *Il Sole 24 Ore*. Retrieved 26

  November 2016 from http://www.ilsole24ore.com/art/notizie/2016-01-29/salvini-e-pen-schengen-e-finito-063825.shtml?uuid=ACG5ejJC&refresh ce=1
- Fini: «Suicidio negare diritti ai migranti», Bossi: «Devono averli, ma a casa loro», (13 September 2009),

  \*\*Il Corriere della Sera.\*\* Retrieved 4 December 2016 from http://www.corriere.it/politica/09\_settembre\_12/fini\_risposta\_bossi\_dbb71fc2-9f97-11de-962b-00144f02aabc.shtml
- Finkelde, D. (2013). Poststructuralism. *New Catholic Encyclopedia Supplement 2012-2013: Ethics and Philosophy, vol.3.*
- Finlayson, A. & Valentine, J. (2005). Introduction. In *Politics and Poststructuralism. An Introduction* (pp.1-22). Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press Ltd.
- Fligstein, N. (3 February 2014). Ugly politics of the crisis. *The European*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://en.theeuropean.eu/neil-fligstein/7903-the-future-of-europe-and-the-european-identity
- Floridia, A. & Vignati, R. (2014). Deliberativa, diretta o partecipativa? Le sfide del Movimento 5 stelle alla democrazia rappresentativa. *Quaderni di sociologia*, 65, 51-74. Retrieved 27 November 2016 from\_https://qds.revues.org/369?lang=en
- Fornaro, F. (2012). Un Non-partito: il Movimento 5 Stelle. *Il Mulino*, 460(2). Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.pdpiemonte.it/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/12MOVIMENTO-5-STELLEilmulino212.pdf
- Foucault, M. (1974). The Archaeology of Knowledge. London: Tavistock Publications Ltd.
- Fukuyama, F. (11 January 2012). The Challenges for European Identity. *The Global Journal*.

  Retrieved 27 October 2016 from http://theglobaljournal.net/article/view/469/
- Galpin, C. A. (October 2014). Euro Crisis...Identity Crisis? The Single Currency and European

  Identities in Germany, Ireland and Poland. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from 
  http://etheses.bham.ac.uk/5634/2/Galpin15PhD.pdf
- Ganeshalingam, J. (n.d.). *Identity Crises*. Retrieved 29 October 2016 from http://testpolitics.pbworks.com/w/page/20734289/Identity%20Crises
- García Lupato, F. & Tronconi, F. (2016). Il Movimento 5 Stelle e Podemos: Eurofobici o Eurocritici?,

- II Mulino, 169-193. Retrieved 28 November 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/27898414/II\_Movimento\_5\_Stelle\_e\_Podemos\_Eurofobici\_o\_Euro critici
- Geddes, A. (2003). Integrating immigrants and minorities in a wider and deeper Europe. In,

  Triandafyllidou, A. & Spohn, W (Eds.)., Europeanisation, National Identites and Migration:

  Changes in boundary construction between Western and Eastern Europe (pp.83-98). London:

  Routledge.
- Giordano, B. (2000). Italian regionalism or 'Padanian' nationalism the political project of the Lega

  Nord in Italian politics. *Political Geography*, *19*, 445-471. Retrieved 19 November 2016 from

  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/223954582\_Italian\_Regionalism\_or\_'Padanian'\_Na

  tionalism\_-\_the\_Political\_Project\_of\_the\_Lega\_Nord\_in\_Italian\_Politics
- Green Cowles, M. (2011). Intergovernmental Organisations Politics Beyond Sovereignty. In Cusimano Love, M. (Ed.), *Beyond Sovereignty: Issues for a Global Agenda* (pp.43-71). Boston: Wadsworth.
- Guetterman, T.C. (May 2015). Descriptions of Sampling Practices Within Five Approaches to Qualitative Research in Education and the Health Sciences. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 16(2), Art. 25. Retrieved 21 December 2016 from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/2290/3825
- Hall, P.A. (16 November 2012). The Economics and Politics of the Euro Crisis. *German Politics, 21(4),*355-371. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/hall/files/hall2012 gp.pdf?m=1462048605
- Hansen, L. (2002). Introduction. In Hansen, L. & Wæver, O. (Eds.), *European Integration and National Identity: The challenge of the Nordic states*. London: Routledge.
- Harcourt, B.E. (2007). *An Answer to the Question: 'What Is Poststructuralism?'*. Retrieved 30

  September 2016 from http://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1029&context=public\_law\_a nd legal theory
- Held, D. & McNally, K., (16 December 2015). *To be, or not to be: Europe under siege*. Retrieved 3

  October 2016 from https://www.opendemocracy.net/can-europe-make-it/david-held-kyle-mcnally/to-be-or-not-to-be-europe-under-siege
- Hooghe, L. (June, 2004). *Calculation, Community, and Cues: Public Opinion on European Integration*.

  Retrieved 7 October 2016 from http://www.eliamep.gr/old/eliamep/files/04.2.2.pdf

- *Identity Politics.* (2016). Retrieved 1 October 2016 from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/identity-politics/
- Il Movimento 5 Stelle, (n.d.). Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.sociologia.unimib.it/DATA/Insegnamenti/15\_4071/materiale/10%20il%20movime nto%205%20stelle(1).pdf
- Il Novecento come Secolo delle Masse, (n.d.). Retrieved 28 December 2016 from http://www.italia-liberazione.it/novecento/grazioli2.htm
- Janse, K.A. (19 April 2016). How the financial crisis made Europe stronger. *CNBC*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.cnbc.com/2016/04/19/how-the-financial-crisis-made-europe-stronger.html
- Jensen, O.B. & Richardson, T. (2004). *Making European Space: Mobility, power and territorial identity*. London: Routledge.
- Kaelber, M. (2004). The euro and European identity: symbols, power and the politics of European monetary union. *Review of International Studies*, *30*, 161-178. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/6422910/The\_Euro\_and\_European\_Identity\_Symbols\_Power\_and\_the\_Politics\_of\_European\_Monetary\_Union
- Karolewski, I.P. (2010). Citizenship and Collective Identity in Europe. London: Routledge
- Kohli, M. (January 2000). The battlegrounds of European Identity. *European Societies, 2(2),* 113-137. Retrieved 2 November 2016 from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/146166900412037
- Kølvraa, C. (2010). Political Paternity and the Construction of Europe. The Founding Fathers and their function in the rhetoric about European Community. *Kontur, 19*. Retrieved 3 October 2016 from http://kontur.au.dk/fileadmin/www.kontur.au.dk/kontur 19/02 Koelvraa.pdf
- Kouhpaeenejad, M. H. & Gholaminejad, R. (2014). Identity and Language Learning from

  Poststructuralist Perspective. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research, 5(1),* 199-204.

  Retrieved 30 September 2016 from
  - http://www.academypublication.com/issues/past/jltr/vol05/01/24.pdf
- Kovacev, M. (May 2006). The European Union's Language and Immigration Policies and a European identity. Retrieved 7 October 2016 from http://www.ecsa-c.ca/biennial2006/pdf/Mirko-Kovacev.pdf
- Kratochvíl, P. (2009). Discursive Constructions of the EU's Identity in the Neighbourhood: An Equal

- Among Equals or the Power Centre? *European Political Economy, 9 (Autumn 2009),* 5-23. Retrieved 9 October 2016 from http://eper.htw-berlin.de/no9/kratochvil.pdf
- Krause Dornelles, F. (2002). Postmodernism and IR: From Disparate Critiques to a Coherent Theory of

  Global Politics. Retrieved 1 October 2016 from

  http://www.globalpolitics.net/essays/Krause\_Dornelles.pdf
- La Terra, P. (30 December 2012). *Sono antieuropeista*. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.movimento5stelle.it/listeciviche/forum/2012/12/sono-antieuropeista.html
- [Lega Nord logo]. Retrieved 28 December 2016 from http://vignette4.wikia.nocookie.net/althistory/images/5/5e/Flag\_of\_Padania.svg/revision/late st/scale-to-width-down/300?cb=20140417170950Lerner, G. (2011). Prefazione. In Dematteo, L., L'Idiota in Politica: antropologia della Lega Nord (pp.9-
  - 11). Milano: Giangiacomo Feltrinelli Editore
- Lichfield, J. (22 December 2012). Review of the eurozone in 2012: A crisis of debt and identity.

  \*\*Independent.\*\* Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/review-of-the-eurozone-in-2012-a-crisis-of-debt-and-identity-8424654.html
- Luborsky, M.R. & Rubinstein, R.L. (March, 1995). Sampling in Qualitative Research: Rationale, Issues and Methods, *Res Aging*, *17(1)*, 89-113. Retrieved 21 December 2016 from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3207270/
- Macdonald, K. (2001). Using Documents. In Gilbert, N. (Ed.), *Researching Social Life*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Maggini, N. (30 June 2012). *Il bacino del Movimento 5 Stelle: molti giovani adultiche lavorano, e*soprattutto diplomati. Retrieved 27 November 2016 from http://cise2015.luiss.it/cise/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/DCISE2 63-66.pdf
- Maier, J. & Rittberger B. (2008). Shifting Europe's Boundaries: mass media, public opinion and the enlargement of the EU, *European Union Politics*, *9*(2), 243-267. Retrieved 29 October 2016 from http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1465116508089087
- Mann, J. (1994). A Gentle Introduction to Structuralism, Postmodernism And All That. *Philosophy*Now, 1994(10). Retrieved 30 September 2016 from https://philosophynow.org/issues/10/A\_Gentle\_Introduction\_to\_Structuralism\_Postmodernis m\_And\_All\_That

- Manners, I. (2006). Another Europe is Possible: Critical Perspectives on European Union Politics. In Jørgensen, K.E., Pollack, M.A. & Rosamond, B. (Eds.), *Handbook of European Union Politics* (pp.77-96). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Manners, I. (2006a). The European Union as a Normative Power: A Response to Thomas Diez.

  Millennium: Journal of International Studies, 35(1), 167-180.
- Manners, I. J. (2001). *The 'Difference Engine': Constructing and Representing the International Identity of the European Union*. Copenhagen: Copenhagen Peace Research Institute.
- Marraccini, R. (n.d.). Un'idea per cambiare il Paese: Il federalismo della Lega Nord. Le caratteristiche dello Stato federale che vogliamo costruire.
- Martiniello, M. (1995). European citizenship, European identity and migrants: towards the post-national state? In Miles, R. & Thränhardt, D. (Eds.), *Migration and European integration:*The Dynamics of Inclusion and Exclusion (pp.37-52). London: Pinter Publishers.
- McLaren, L.M. (March 1999). Immigration and the New Politics of Inclusion and Exclusion in the

  European Union: The Effect of Elites and the EU on Individual-Level Opinions Regarding European

  and non-European Immigrants. Retrieved 2 November 2016 from

  https://ecpr.eu/Filestore/PaperProposal/dc14d197-2d27-4733-af4c-61741a067a85.pdf
- Mihas, E. (n.d.). *Non-Literal Language in Political Discourse*. University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee.

  Retrieved 28 October 2015 from:

  http://vanhise.lss.wisc.edu/ling/files/ling\_old\_web/lso/wpl/5.1/LSOWP5.1-10-Mihas.pdf
- Mogalakwe, M. (2006). The Use of Documentary Research Methods in Social Research. *African Sociological Review*, 10(1), 221-230. Retrieved 24 September 2016 from https://www.codesria.org/IMG/pdf/Research\_Report\_-\_Monageng\_Mogalakwe.pdf.
- Mosca, L., Vaccari, C. & Valeriani, A. (2016). An Internet-Fuelled Party? The Movimento 5 Stelle and the Web. In Tronconi, F. (Ed.), *Beppe Grillo's Five Star Movement: Organisation, Communication and Ideology* (pp.127-152). Abingdon: Routledge.
- MoVimento 5 Stelle. (15 February 2016). *Non statuto*. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.beppegrillo.it/iniziative/movimentocinquestelle/Regolamento-Movimento-5-Stelle.pdf
- MoVimento 5 Stelle. (May 2014). *Il Programmema*. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.beppegrillo.it/europee/programmema/
- MoVimento 5 Stelle. (n.d.). Programmema: Stato e cittadini, Energia, Informazione, Economia,

- *Trasporti, Salute, Istruzione.* Retrieved 29 November 2016 from https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/materiali-bg/Programmema-Movimento-5-Stelle.pdf
- [MoVimento 5 Stelle logo]. Retrieved 28 December 2016 from https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/5/5b/Logo\_M5S\_2015-11-18.png
- Murphy, A.B. (1999). Rethinking the Concept of European Identity. In Herb, G.H. & Kaplan, D.H.

  (Eds.), Nested Identities: Nationalism, Territory and Scale (pp.51-74), Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Navarria, G. (25 June 2016). *After Brexit, keep a close watch on Italy and its Five Star Movement.* The Conversation. Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://theconversation.com/after-brexit-keep-a-close-watch-on-italy-and-its-five-star-movement-61589
- Nazer, H. M. (n.d.). *Key Concepts of Post-structuralism and Deconstruction*. Retrieved 1 October 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/7743060/Key\_Concepts\_of\_Post-structuralism\_and\_Deconstruction
- Nevola, G. (October 2011). *Politics, Identity, Territory. The "Strength" and "Value" of Nation-State,*the Weakness of Regional Challenge. Retrieved 16 December 2016 from web.unitn.it/files/download/8701/quaderno58.pdf
- Newman, D. (2005). World Society, Globalisation and a Borderless World: The Contemporary

  Significance of Borders and Territory. Retrieved 15 December 2016 from www.uzh.ch/wsf/WSFocus\_Newman.pdf
- Noi con Salvini Comitato Donne. (n.d.). Retrieved 3 December 2016 from https://www.facebook.com/Noi-con-Salvini-Comitato-Donne-1046625572032960/
- Nougayrède, N. (31 October 2016). Refugees aren't the problem. Europe's identity crisis is.

  The Guardian. Retrieved 2 November 2016 from https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/oct/31/refugees-problem-europe-identity-crisis-migration
- Ntampoudi, I. (2014). *The Eurozone Crisis and the European Union's Identity Crises.* Retrieved 12 October 2016 from http://www.uaces.org/archive/papers/abstract.php?paper\_id=792
- Öner, S. (n.d.). An Analysis of European Identity within the Framework of the EU: The Case of Turkey's

  Membership. Retrieved 9 October 2016 from

  http://oldweb.ikv.org.tr/images/upload/file/selcen-teblig.pdf
- Paasi, A. (June 1998). Boundaries as Social Processes: Territoriality in the World of Flows, Geopolitics,

- 3(1), 69-88 Retrieved 15 December 2016 from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232860815\_Boundaries\_as\_Social\_Processes\_Territoriality\_in\_the\_World\_of\_Flows
- Paasi, A. (1996). Inclusion, Exclusion and Territorial Identities: the Meanings of Boundaries in the Globalizing Geopolitical Landscape. *Nordisk Samhällsgeografisk Tidskrift*, 23, 6-23. Retrieved 15 December from http://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/36088331/Paasi\_Inclusion\_\_exclusion\_1 996.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAJ56TQJRTWSMTNPEA&Expires=1481788465&Signature=12vNU Emz4o4jJ5bl%2FehiOi6mkM4%3D&response-content-disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DPaasi Anssi Inclusion exclusion and the.pdf
- Palmieri, L.A. (11 February 2015). *Lega Nord e Forza Italia: storia di un matrimonio lungo 21 anni.*Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://www.europinione.it/lega-nord-forza-italia-storia-di-un-matrimonio-lungo-21-anni/
- Pellerin-Carlin, T. (2014). EU 10 years after its biggest enlargement: Europe's identity crisis Looking in the black box of European cultural and political identities, *POZNAŃ UNIVERSITY OF ECONOMICS REVIEW*, 14(3), 73-84. Retrieved 29 October 2016 from http://www.ebr.edu.pl/pub/2014\_3\_73.pdf
- Penrose, J. (2002). Nations, states and homelands: territory and territoriality in nationalist thought.

  Nations and Nationalism, 8(3), 277-297. Retrieved 15 December 2015 from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1469-8219.00051/abstract
- Peters, M.A. (2001). Lyotard, Performativity, and the Problem of Capitalism. In *Poststructuralism, Marxism, and Neoliberalism: Between Theory and Politics* (pp.41-54). Boston: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Petersson, B. & Hellström, A. (2003). The return of the kings Temporality in the construction of EU identity, *European Societies*, *5*(3), 235-252. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1461669032000111298
- Pettinger, T. (10 July 2014). Euro Debt Crisis Explained. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://www.economicshelp.org/blog/3806/economics/euro-debt-crisis-explained/
- Pinto, M. (2006). *Pupils' identities in some European contexts: An exploratory study in a UK and Belgian school.* Retrieved 3 October 2016 from http://archive.londonmet.ac.uk/cicedocs/docs/2006-721.pdf

- Polyakova, A. & Fligstein, N. (July, 2013). *Is European Integration Causing Europe to Become More Nationalist?* : Evidence from the Recent Financial Crisis. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://sociology.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/faculty/fligstein/European%20Id%203.1.pdf
- Porcellato, N., & Rombi, S. (September 2014). *Uno sguardo dentro la Lega Nord: caratteristiche e*preferenze degli iscritti al più longevo partito italiano. Retrieved 20 November 2016 from http://www.sisp.it/files/papers/2014/natascia-porcellato-stefano-rombi-1834.pdf
- Prentoulis, M. (9 February 2016). *Has the EU failed us, or have we failed to forge a European identity?*Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/eurocrisispress/2016/02/09/has-the-eu-failed-us-or-have-we-failed-to-forge-a-european-identity/
- Pucciarelli, M. (26 July 2016). "Boldrini ipocrita bambola gonfiabile" è bufera su Salvini. *La Repubblica*.

  Retrieved 4 December 2016 from

  http://ricerca.repubblica.it/repubblica/archivio/repubblica/2016/07/26/boldrini-ipocrita-bambola-gonfiabile-e-bufera-su-salvini12.html
- Reed, I.A. (2013). Power: Relational, Discursive, and Performative Dimensions, *Sociological Theory,* 31(3), 193-218. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://stx.sagepub.com/content/31/3/193.full.pdf
- Risse, T. (2 December 2002). *The Euro and Identity Politics in Europe*. Retrieved 4 November 2016 from http://userpage.fu-berlin.de/~atasp/texte/021202\_risse\_euroidentity.pdf
- Riva, A. (28 February 2015). La galassia neo leghista dalla Le Pen a Casa Pound. *Il Giornale*. Retrieved

  19 November 2016 from http://www.ilgiornale.it/news/politica/lega-piazza-destra-guarda-almirante-e-pen-1100104.html
- Rowley, J. (2002). Using Case Studies in Research. *Management Research News, 25(1),* 16-27.

  Retrieved 21 December 2016 from

  https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/aab8/c9514b473c4ec9c47d780b7c79112add9008.pdf
- Sala, A. (20 September 2007). Nuovo affondo di Beppe Grillo: «Il web è democrazia. Infatti i politici non ci sono». *Il Corriere della Sera*. Retrieved 4 December 2016 from http://www.corriere.it/Primo\_Piano/Politica/2007/09\_Settembre/20/beppe\_grillo\_intervista\_euronews.shtml
- Salvati, E. (September 2016). *The Five Star Movement in the European Parliament. A real Eurosceptic* party? Retrieved 29 November 2016 from https://ecpr.eu/Filestore/PaperProposal/12d4a5f0-8a2a-4d24-afbf-3a5c4b5154a1.pdf

- Salvini: "Sono cattolico, anche se un gran peccatore. Mons. Galantino, un vescovo comunista", (13

  August 2015). Rai News. Retrieved 26 November 2016 from http://www.rainews.it/dl/rainews/articoli/Immigrati-Salvini-Mons-Galantino-un-vescovo-comunista-372c2ad0-051c-4d75-9315-4437ac5bf4db.html?refresh\_ce
- Salvini, M. (8 July 2015). IN 2 MINUTI SALVINI SBUGIARDA L'EUROPA DI MERKEL E RENZI, [Video File]. Retrieved 4 December 2016 from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qojtVrlspmM
- Salvini, M. (19 May 2014a). Uscire dall'Euro? Si può. Anzi, SI DEVE! Scopri perché, [Video File]. Retrieved

  4 December 2016 from

  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FmIS03s8BWw&feature=youtu.be
- Salvini, M. (2 July 2014b). *Salvini in tre minuti smonta le euroballe di Renzi,* [Video File]. Retrieved 4

  December 2016 from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qWChh103CBQ
- Salvini, M. (5 December 2014c). *Pazzesco*. Retrieved 4 December 2016 from https://www.facebook.com/salviniofficial/posts/10152569588748155
- Schmidt, V. A. (September 2010). *The European Union in search of political identity and legitimacy: Is*more Politics the Answer?. Retrieved 12 October 2016 from https://eif.univie.ac.at/downloads/workingpapers/wp2010-05.pdf
- Schmidt, V. (1999). National patterns of governance under siege: the impact of European Integration.

  In Kohler-Koch, B, & Eising, R. (Eds.), *The Transformation of Governance in the European Union* (pp.155-172). London: Routledge.
- Segreteria Organizzativa Federale. (n.d.). *Capitolo 12: 2010.* Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://leganord.org/phocadownload/ilmovimento/storia\_ln/13\_lega\_nord\_storia2010.pdf
- Segreteria Organizzativa Federale. (n.d.a). *Cronostoria della Lega Nord, dalle Origini a Oggi: Prima*\*Parte 1979-1987. Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://leganord.org/phocadownload/ilmovimento/storia\_ln/01\_lega\_nord\_storia79\_87.pdf
- Sidaway, J. & Pryke, M. (2001). The free and the unfree: 'emerging markets', the Heritage Foundation and the 'Index of Economic Freedom'. In J. Bryson, P. Daniels, N. Henry & J. Pollard (Eds.), *Knowledge, space, economy* (pp. 176–190). New York: Routledge
- Smith, A. (2002). Imagining geographies of the 'new Europe': geo-economic power and the new European architecture of integration. *Political Geography, 21*. 647-670. Retrieved 1 October 2016 from

- http://archives.cerium.ca/IMG/pdf/Smith\_Imagining\_Geographies\_of\_the\_New\_Europe.pdf
- Smith, A. (January 1992). National Identity and the Idea of European Unity. *International Affairs (Royal Institute of International Affairs 1944-), (68)1,* 55-76. Retrieved 7 October 2016 from http://users.clas.ufl.edu/ckostopo/GreekIdentity/2620461.pdf
- Spohn, W. (2003). European East–West integration, nation building and national identities. The reconstruction of German–Polish relations. In Triandafyllidou, A. & Spohn, W (Eds.), Europeanisation, National Identities and Migration: Changes in boundary construction between Western and Eastern Europe (pp.99-120). London: Routledge.
- Statuto della Lega Nord per l'Indipendenza della Padania. (n.d.). Retrieved 19 November 2016 from http://www.leganord.org/phocadownload/ilmovimento/statuto/Statuto.pdf
- Svitych, A. (24 April 2013). Why European Identity Will Never Work: Case Study 'EU Vs. USSR', *The Global Journal*. Retrieved 27 October 2016 from http://www.theglobaljournal.net/article/view/1075/
- Sylvers, E. (22 June 2016). Italy's 5 Star Movement Calls for Euro Referendum. *The Wall Street Journal*.

  Retrieved 29 November 2016 from http://www.wsj.com/articles/italys-5-star-movement-calls-for-euro-referendum-1466596802
- Talia, I. (n.d.). Geographical and Anthropological Aspects of the Identity of Southern Italy. Retrieved

  16 December 2016 from

  https://www.openstarts.units.it/dspace/bitstream/10077/845/1/b7talia.pdf
- Tarchi, M. (2016). Recalcitrant Allies: The Conflicting Foreign Policy Agenda of the Alleanza Nazionale and the Lega Nord. In Schori Liang, C. (Ed.), Europe for the Europeans: the Foreign and Security Policy of the Populist Radical Right (pp.187-207). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Thomassen, L. (2010). Deconstruction as Method in Political Theory. Österreichische Zeitschrift für Politikwissenschaft (ÖZP), 39, 41–53
- Trenz, H. (2012). Denouncing European integration: Euroscepticism as polity contestation. *European Journal of Social Theory*, 1-18. Retrieved 5 October 2016 from http://est.sagepub.com/content/early/2012/03/13/1368431011432968.full.pdf+html
- Triandafyllidou, A. & Spohn, W. (2003). Introduction. In Triandafyllidou, A. & Spohn, W. (Eds.),

  Europeanisation, National Identities and Migration: Changes in boundary construction between

  Western and Eastern Europe (pp.1-18). London: Routledge.
- Tronconi, F. (2013). Da dove arrivano i voti del Movimento 5 Stelle?, Il Mulino, 2, 356-363.

- Retrieved 28 November 2016 from http://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/34329942/tronconi\_2013\_Il\_Mulino.pdf ?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAJ56TQJRTWSMTNPEA&Expires=1480192952&Signature=%2FZcV7KZrlP tGNOlyd0a9DdC%2B37M%3D&response-content-
- Vobruba, G. (2003). Debate on the enlargement of the European Union: The enlargement crisis of the European Union: limits of the dialectics of integration and expansion, *Journal of European Social Policy*, 13(35), 35-62. Retrieved 29 October 2016 from http://www.academia.edu/26358202/Debate\_on\_the\_enlargement\_of\_the\_European\_Union\_The\_enlargement\_crisis\_of\_the\_European\_Union\_limits\_of\_the\_dialectics\_of\_integration\_and\_expansion

disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DDa\_dove\_arrivano\_i\_voti\_del\_Movimento\_5.pdf

- Watt, A. (2009). *The economic crisis in Europe causes, effects, policies, alternatives*. Retrieved 1

  November 2016 from http://www.coe.int/t/dgap/efc/Source/sem4/prs\_AndrewWatt.pdf
- Weedon, C. (2004). *Identity and Culture. Narratives of Difference and Belonging.* Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Winn, N. (2000). In search of Europe's internal and external borders: Politics, security, identity and the European Union, *Perspectives on European Politics and Society*, 1(1), 19-48.
- Wodak, R., de Cillia, R., Reisigl, M. & Liebhart K. (2009). Conclusion: Imagined and Real Identities the Multiple Faces of the homo nationalis. In *The Discursive Construction of National Identity* (pp.186-202). Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press Ltd.
- Wodak, R. & Meyer, M. (2001). Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis. London: SAGE Publications.
- Yin, R.K. (n.d.). Collecting Case Study Evidence. In *Case Study Research Design and Methods*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Zainal, Z. (June 2007). Case study as a research method, *Jurnal Kemanusiaan*, 9. Retrieved 21

  December 2016 from http://psyking.net/htmlobj-3837/case\_study\_as\_a\_research\_method.pdf
- Zapperi, C. (20 April 2016). Salvini, nuovo attacco al Papa:«Incentiva i clandestini». *Il Corriere della Sera*.

  Retrieved 26 November 2016 from http://www.corriere.it/politica/16\_aprile\_19/salvini-all-attacco-papa-incentiva-clandestini-94270a9a-0643-11e6-98ad-d281ab178a74.shtml
- Zaslove, A. (2011). Introduction: The Lega Nord and Radical Right Populism. In *The Re-invention of the European Radical Right: Populism, Regionalism and the Italian Lega Nord* (pp.3-18). McGill-Queen's University Press: Canada.